

A Best Worst Method approach

by



to obtain the degree of Master of Science at the Delft University of Technology, to be defended publicly on Thursday July 13, 2023 at 10:30 AM.

Master:	Mechanical Engineering
Track:	Multi-Machine Engineering

Report number: Student number: Project duration:	2023.MME.8820 4466799 Oktober 04, 2022 – jur	ne 08, 2023
Thesis committee:	prof. dr. ir. D. Schott, ir. B. van Veldhuizen, ir. M. Duinkerken,	TU Delft, chair TU Delft, supervisor TU Delft

An electronic version of this thesis is available at http://repository.tudelft.nl/.



Acknowledgements

I would like to take this moment to thank my supervisors Dingena Schott and Mark Duinkerken for their feedback during our meetings. I would especially like to express my gratitude towards my daily supervisor, Berend van Veldhuizen, for his guidance and help for the duration of my research.

Secondly, I would like to thank my friends, with whom I could discuss the topic to gain new insights and who were a great support and motivation during my research.

P.C. Hofste Delft, June 2023

Summary

Climate change remains a driving force for industries to adopt measures to reduce emissions. The shipping sector, which contributes about 3% to the CO_2 emissions of the world, is no exception. The use of petroleum products currently makes up 95% of the fuel mixture, which generates large amounts of harmful sulphur oxides, nitrogen oxides, carbon dioxide as well as particulate matter, and their use needs to be reduced drastically. It is projected that the use of ammonia as a shipping fuel can facilitate a path toward a zero-emission future, constituting 50% of the fuel mixture by 2050. However, there exist several challenges that prohibit the implementation of ammonia today. Bunkering is one of these challenges, and little research is done in this area. Challenges around the characteristics of ammonia make implementation in ports not straightforward. Insight into possible port facilities can shed light on the other challenges that remain around ammonia implementation

This thesis proposes a design for a bunker installation for ammonia. Starting with a bottom-up approach to determine system requirements for a bunker system that is suitable to handle the characteristics of ammonia.

When this group of requirements is found, research is done to translate these requirements into functions. Then, suitable solutions for these functions that ultimately adhere to the requirements are found. Industry, literature, and experts are consulted to create a complete picture of available technologies presented in an overview.

The Best Worst Method (BWM), a Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) method, is chosen above others to create system configurations. For this analysis design criteria are introduced and an ordinal analysis is performed. This provides an objective analysis, which allows room for subjective decision-making based on stakeholders. This method eliminates researcher bias, as well as provides a complete evaluation where all solutions are considered.

Stakeholder input from three terminals situated in The Port of Rotterdam provides the subjective decisionmaking for the analysis. The resulting configurations show many similarities due to the overall prioritisation of safety, and a sensitivity analysis indicated that the results are robust, although three out of twelve possible areas of sensitivity in the solutions were identified. Finally, after testing if all requirements are respected as well as making sure there are no infeasible combinations of components, viability is confirmed. The results are discussed and the preferred configurations of the stakeholders are unified in a final configuration.

It is concluded that the resulting configuration is applicable to more ports that The Port of Rotterdam due to the expertise of the stakeholders in areas of bunkering and handling ammonia, and the generally observed prioritisation of safety. Due to the fact that stakeholders in the same field in other ports will most likely not differ much in opinion from the surveyed stakeholders. The diversity in the survey input, and the robust results further support this conclusion. Furthermore, a flow rate lower than the current industry standard is found to bunker large ships in an exclusive action. This combined with expected reduced risk contours further support broader applicability.

Several possibilities for future research are proposed. First, it is recommended that further research is done into making the ordinal analysis quantitative to increase the quality of the BWM. Second, an increased amount of stakeholder surveys from The Port of Rotterdam and other ports can provide more insight into what a general configuration looks like, or if it exists. Third, a quantitative risk assessment or other risk analysis of the final configuration can provide more insight into the possible placement possibilities of the system. Fourth, when new technologies emerge or are missed, it can be interesting to see what their performance is in the BWM. Finally, the system can be extended into a more detailed design.

Contents

Su	imary	V
1	ntroduction .1 Background .2 Research Gap .3 Problem Definition .4 Scope .5 Research Approach	1 2 3 4
2	Defining Requirements 1 Operational Requirements 2 Characteristics of Ammonia 2.2.1 Exposure Limits 2.2.2 LSIR Contour and Focus Area 2.3 Requirements to Handle Ammonia 2.3.1 Toxicity 2.3.2 Corrosiveness 1 2.3.3 Explosiveness 1 2.3.4 Energy Density 1 1	7 7 8 8 9 9 1 1 4
3	Junctions and Alternatives11.1 State of the Art Analysis12.2 Operational Functions23.2.1 Storing23.2.2 Conducting23.2.3 Actuating23.2.4 Connecting23.3.1 Bunker Location23.3.2 Substance Slip Prevention23.3.3 Toxic Cloud Mitigation23.3.4 Additional Spill containment23.3.5 BOG vapour Pressure Equalisation33.3.7 Purging of Fuel Lines33.4 Conclusions33.4 Conclusions3	7700335667790001
4	Section Method 3 .1 Decision Making Methods 3 .2 The Best Worst Method 3 .3 Conclusions 3	3 3 5
5	Symbolic valuation of Alternatives 3 1 Design Criteria 3 5.2 Ordinal Analysis 3 5.2.1 Storing 3 5.2.2 Conducting 3 5.2.3 Actuating 4 5.2.4 Connecting (Hose) 4 5.2.5 Connecting (coupling) 4	7 7 8 9 0 2 3

	5.2.6 Bunker Location	44
	5.2.7 Substance Slip Prevention	45
	5.2.8 Toxic Cloud Mitigation	46
	5.2.9 Additional Spill Containment	48
	5.2.10 BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	49
	5.2.11 Insulation	51
	5.2.12 Purging of Fuel Lines	52
	5.3 Conclusions	53
6	Case Study Results	55
	6.1 Stakeholder Survey	55
	6.2 Results	56
	6.3 Sensitivity Analysis	57
	6.4 Testing	58
	6.4.1 Requirements	58
	6.4.2 Infeasible Combinations	60
	6.5 Discussion	61
	6.5.1 Desired Flow Rate Estimation	62
	6.5.2 Port Applicability	64
	6.6 Conclusions	65
7	Conclusion and Recommendations	67
	7.1 Conclusion	67
	7.2 Recommendations	68
Α	Paper	71
B	Survov	85
D	Sulvey	05
С	Results Survey & Sensitivity Analysis	89
D	Results BW Analysis	93

Introduction

Climate change is still a pressing issue in the world. Shipping contributes about 11% to the total CO_2 emissions of the transport sector, which totals around 2 - 3% of global CO_2 emissions [1]. This contribution can mostly be attributed to the use of polluting fuels currently in use by this sector. Petroleum products such as Heavy Fuel Oil (HFO), Marine Gas Oil (MGO), and Marine Diesel Oil (MDO), currently makeup 95% of the fuel mixture [2] These fuels produce massive amounts of sulphur oxides (SO_x), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), as well as carbon dioxide (CO_2) and particulate matter. According to the climate goals for 2050, these emissions are dangerous and need to be reduced drastically [3].

1.1. Background

To accomplish this, much research is conducted to determine possible alternative fuels for the shipping industry [4][5][2]. Selecting the best future fuel is difficult, due to the complexity of the complete well-towake emission considerations, not fully mature technologies and undefined regulations [2]. DNV-GL (2019) compared eight alternative fuels on factors such as environmental considerations as well as applicability, economics and scalability in order to make this determination more clear [5]. From this study, it becomes apparent that short-term improvements in terms of sustainability are possible, but there currently is no readily implementable solution for a zero-emission shipping fuel, because of the aforementioned factors. Such a short-term improvement is already being implemented, namely the adoption of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG). LNG as a shipping fuel already has the potential to cut on board SO_x , NO_x and particulate matter emissions by 90%, 80% and 100%, respectively, as well as reducing CO₂ emissions by around 20% [6]. Natural gas, being a fossil fuel, is not going to be a permanent solution. Furthermore, the methane slip associated with burning LNG in combustion engines is larger than expected [7]. Looking forward, there are two main candidates for a future renewable fuel for this industry: hydrogen and ammonia. Both being hydrogen-based energy carriers and thus having the potential of eliminating on board SO_x , CO_2 and particulate matter emissions completely [8][9][10]. In the case of ammonia, NO_x emissions are very manageable through either air-to-fuel mixture regulation or through the use of fuel cells [11][12]. Furthermore, because ammonia and hydrogen can both be produced through electrolysis of water, they offer the only current option for producing fuel solely through renewables such as wind, wave or solar power [2][5].

For the case of deep-sea shipping, ammonia is being put forward as a main candidate for a renewable and sustainable fuel. Hydrogen is considered infeasible for deep sea shipping due to the amount of storage space it needs, and its associated complexity [13]. Ammonia is expected to make up 50% of the fuel mixture for the shipping industry by 2050 [14], thereby contributing to the realization of the climate goals set by the International Maritime Organisation (IMO). Because several challenges remain that prevent this desired implementation of ammonia, more research into using ammonia as a shipping fuel is required.

1.2. Research Gap

Ammonia is not readily implementable as a fuel as of now. There exist significant challenges that prevent its implementation. These challenges are centred around four topics [14]:

- 1. Fuel storage, logistics and bunkering
- 2. Onboard fuel conversion
- 3. Onboard safety and fuel management
- 4. Regulation

					Mature and proven	Solutions identified	Major challenges remain
	Energy Carrier	Feedstock availability	Fuel production	Fuel storage, logistics, bunkering	Onboard fuel conversion ¹	Onboard safety and fuel management ²	Regulation ³
	Fossil fuels						
	e-hydrogen						
cation	Blue hydrogen						
boni	e-ammonia						
decai	Blue ammonia						
's for	e-methanol						
e fuei	Bio-methanol						
rnativ	e-methane						
Altei	Bio-methane						
	Bio-oils						
	Sourc Note: 1 Con 2 Con 3 Inclu	e: MMM Center for Zero Carbo Emissions reduction impact fro siders onboard fuel supply and siders fuel toxicity, flammability ides regulatory framework sup	n Shipping m direct electrification of sh I storage, fuel conversion an and explosiveness porting onboard regulatory a	lips and nuclear-powered ve d emissions control systems aspects, and market mechar	essels is not modeled in Navi 5 hisms supporting adoption	gaTE 1.0	

Figure 1.1: Readiness of different aspects for the implementation as a new potential shipping fuel, as of April 2022 [14]

Figure 1.1 gives a complete picture of the readiness of implementation of ammonia, as well as other sustainable fuels. The four challenges listed before need to be addressed in order for ammonia to become a viable fuel for the shipping industry. Research into several of these topics is being done. For instance, Percic et al. (2022) performed a Life-Cycle Analysis (LCA) and Life-Cycle Cost (LCCA) Analysis for ships with several conversion technologies and fuels. The implementation of blue ammonia in a Solid Oxide Fuel Cell (SOFC) leads to significant reductions in greenhouse gasses (65% - 72%) at an acceptable cost, which is 37% - 43% higher than that of a diesel power system. [15]. Cheliotis et al. (2021), reviewed the safe use of ammonia in fuel cells in the marine industry. They conclude that it is imperative to develop large-scale production infrastructures for green or blue ammonia. Furthermore, there is a clear need for the identification of the hazards and consequences of ammonia release [16]. Yadav et al. (2022) used Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) to look at ammonia dispersion onboard ship engine rooms to evaluate the safety of using ammonia as a marine fuel [17]. Aside from a few parties such as Duong et al. (2023) [18] who performed a safety review regarding ammonia bunkering, there is little research being done into ammonia bunkering. Research into ammonia bunker installations can also provide insight into the other remaining challenges. For instance, to provide a system which can undergo a risk analysis, on which regulatory matters can be based.

It is not straightforward to assume that every seaport can implement an ammonia bunker installation. This is due to the fact that ammonia is a substance that is associated with multiple hazards that make

2

it more challenging to handle than, for instance, HFO. Severe acute over-exposure due to inhaling can lead to death within minutes, when exposed to skin ammonia will react with available water, for instance, sweat, and produce ammonium hydroxide which burns the skin [19]. What further complicates the use of liquid ammonia, are its corrosive nature and its storage conditions. Corrosion can lead to an increased risk of leaks, which will in turn increase the risk of exposure to nearby people and nature. Unlike HFO, ammonia needs to be stored at $-33^{\circ}C$ or under pressure at 7.5 *bar* [20]. This liquefaction is necessary to increase its volumetric energy density [21]. Liquefaction through increasing pressure creates an outward pressure gradient. This further increases exposure risk due to pressure equalisation in case of an unexpected release.

1.3. Problem Definition

Thus, it is important to find out what design for a bunker installation for ammonia is viable to be placed in a seaport. To serve as a basis to gauge port readiness, and for risk analysis that can provide input into deciding regulatory matters. This statement is formalised in the following research question and sub-questions:

Research Question:

What design for an ammonia bunker installation is most viable for ports that handle sea-going vessels?

Sub-Questions:

- 1. What requirements are associated with a bunker installation that is suitable for ammonia?
- 2. Which system functions and corresponding components can be used for an ammonia bunker installation that complies with the defined requirements?
- 3. Which model can be used for decision-making with respect to discovered bunker station components?
- 4. What design criteria can be used to evaluate bunker station components and how do the selected system components perform on the defined design criteria?
- 5. What design do stakeholders from a suitable port for sea-going vessels such as The Port of Rotterdam prefer, and is this configuration viable?

1.4. Scope

The scope of this research will encompass part of the ammonia bunker supply chain for ammoniafueled vessels. More precisely: a storage volume which supplies a secondary storage volume with ammonia. This refers to the terminal storage, the pipeline under bunker options, and bunker station in Figure 1.2. This scoping is specifically chosen because it is a prerequisite for providing all four other options with their fuel. However, the intended system edges for this research that is outside of the scope are: the supply options on the left side and the ammonia-fueled ship on the right side of the system represented in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2: An overview of the ammonia supply chain for ammonia fueled vessels [22]

1.5. Research Approach

In order to find the answers to the research question and sub-questions, a classic system engineering process is proposed, specified for a bunker installation for ammonia. Research into other industries that handle ammonia, as well as other bunker installations that handle liquefied gases, will be done. Additionally, experts will be contacted to fill in the gaps. With this information, system requirements, system functions, and solutions adhering to those requirements are proposed. Decision-making to create configurations will be done by use of a Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) method. For this method, the solutions will be evaluated based on design criteria by means of ordinal analysis. This objective analysis will be combined with subjective expert stakeholder input from the Port of Rotterdam to solve the MCDM problem. Stakeholders are asked to evaluate the relative importance of the design criteria with the goal of allocating weights to the design criteria. The Port of Rotterdam is also where the result will be tested to see if the result adheres to all requirements.

The second chapter is concerned with defining requirements for the system. This is done by analysis of a basic bunker system, in order to find operational requirements. Subsequently, the characteristics of ammonia will be researched, and from these characteristics, ammonia safety requirements will be inferred. Thus, arriving at the total system requirements.

The third chapter will focus on translating the requirements into system functions and finding solutions that fulfil these functions while adhering to the requirements imposed by a bunker system that is suitable for ammonia. This is done through analysis of comparable systems to look for common practice solutions to the base system. Furthermore, literature research and consulting experts will constitute the rest of the information on solutions. Finally, an overview of the discovered solutions for each function is given.

In the fourth chapter, several MCDM methods are introduced and compared. Furthermore, a choice in MCDM method is made. Then, the chosen MCDM will be introduced.

In the fifth chapter, the design criteria that will be used to evaluate the discovered solutions will be introduced. Furthermore, the ordinal analysis that will serve as the objective part of the MCDM method will be performed.

In the sixth chapter, the stakeholders that are providing input for the MCDM method are introduced, followed by the execution of the MCDM method and displaying its results. Subsequently, a sensitivity analysis is performed to gain insight into the results. Lastly, the results are tested on viability, feasibility, and the results are discussed.

Finally, in the seventh chapter, the conclusion of the thesis is presented in the form of an answer to the research question, and recommendations for future research are proposed.

 \sum

Defining Requirements

The goal of this chapter is to answer the first sub-question:

What requirements are associated with a bunker installation that is suitable for ammonia?

In order to find the answer to this sub-question, operational requirements are inferred from a basic bunker system in Section 2.1. Then, several characteristics of ammonia are explored in Section 2.2, and these characteristics are translated into concrete requirements in Section 2.3. Finally, the findings of this chapter and the answer to the sub-question can be found in Section 2.4.

2.1. Operational Requirements

The goal of a bunker installation is to supply a water-going vessel with a substance that can be used as fuel [23]. It can simply be defined as a non-permanent connection between two storage vessels, that allows controlled flow between those vessels. Usually, the flow is only in a single direction. This simplification is graphically represented in Figure 2.1. Additional requirements on, for instance, materials used, safety installations, bunker temperature, viable bunker methods other possible factors depend on what substance is being bunkered. The only bunker method excluded from this representation is Portable Tank Transfer (PTT). This method is considered to be inviable for the volumes of fuel needed for deep sea shipping and is therefore not further considered in this research [21].



Figure 2.1: Schematic of a simplified, basic bunker installation consisting of a storage vessel on the terminal side, a pump, a non-permanent connection and another storage vessel aboard a ship

This base system gives rise to the following operational requirements:

- 1. The bunker system is required to be able to store a liquid medium at the terminal side
- 2. The bunker system is required to have piping in place to form a connection from the terminal to the ship side through which the medium can flow
- 3. The bunker system is required to have a pump to actuate the medium in a controlled manner from the terminal side storage to the ship side storage
- 4. The bunker system is required to have a detachable coupling between the terminal and ship side of the installation.

2.2. Characteristics of Ammonia

This section will give an overview of the most important characteristics of liquid ammonia. Information about health hazards, exposure limits and chemical properties will be shown.

Anhydrous ammonia, for use as a fuel, is pure NH_3 . It is a colourless gas (or liquid) with a sharp, intensely irritating odour and is lighter than air. The substance has an auto-ignition temperature of $651^{\circ}C$ [24] and can form explosive mixtures with air between 15 - 28% [25]. The energy density of ammonia is about 50% of LNG, which in turn has about 65% of the energy density of traditional HFO [5][26]. To increase its energy density per storage volume for fuel applications, it is typically stored as a liquid at $-33^{\circ}C$, though it can also be liquefied at 10bar at room temperature [21]. Gaseous ammonia can expand to 850 times its liquid volume [27]. Furthermore, ammonia will corrode galvanized surfaces and copper and will attack some forms of plastics, rubbers and coatings [25].

Ammonia is classified through the Globally Harmonized System (GHS) for Hazard Communication under the European Union (EU) REGULATION (EC) No 1272/2008 as being [28]:

- H221: Flammable gas [Danger Flammable gases]
- H314: Causes severe skin burns and eye damage [Danger Skin corrosion/irritation]
- H331: Toxic if inhaled [Danger Acute toxicity, inhalation]
- H400: Very toxic to aquatic life [Warning Hazardous to the aquatic environment, acute hazard]

2.2.1. Exposure Limits

Exposure to ammonia, as seen above, is toxic when inhaled and can react with available water on the skin and eyes, causing burns. Table 2.1 classifies the danger associated with ammonia concentrations in the air with corresponding exposure times.

Table 2.1:	Acute Exposure	Guideline Lev	vels (AEGL)	with their	corresponding	effect	descriptions	for certain	concentrations	of
ammonia ir	n air along with th	neir correspon	ding exposu	ire times [2	25]					

		Ехро	sure Time [r	nin]
AEGL	Effect	10	30	60
1	Discomfort, non-disabling Irreversible or other serious,	30 ppm	30 ppm	30 ppm
2	long-lasting effects or impaired ability to escape	220 ppm	220 ppm	160 ppm
3	Life-threatening effects or death	2700 ppm	1600 ppm	1100 ppm

2.2.2. LSIR Contour and Focus Area

Other metrics that can classify the safety critical zones around ammonia during an operation such as bunkering are the Location Specific Individual Risk (LSIR) contour and the focus area. The LSIR contour defines the risk of a single fatality occurring around a hazardous activity, such as bunkering, involving an unprotected individual. Granted that this individual is somewhere outside and around this activity for 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The fatality occurs because of the harmful effects of an

accident scenario within the establishment under consideration [29]. For the LSIR contour, an occurrence of $10^{-6}/year$ is defined. This corresponds to a population density-independent contour where the number represents the likelihood of the aforementioned fatality. The occurrence value is chosen because, per the BEVI standard, within this contour no vulnerable objects (such as dwellings in residential areas, hospitals, schools, large offices etc.) are allowed [30].

The focus area provides insight into the potential hazards in an area and where extra protection might be necessary. The focus area itself defines the radius of an area around activities such as bunkering where, indoors, people are insufficiently protected against the consequences of accidents involving hazardous substances. The competent authority further defines where and what kind of measures are necessary to sufficiently protect people in focus areas [29].

For ammonia, the $10^{-6}/year$ LSIR contour and the focus area for a toxic cloud are defined in Table 2.2:

	Focus Area toxic cloud [m]	LSIR Contour 10 ⁻⁶ year [m]
Ammonia Bunker Operation	2624	427

Table 2.2: Focus area and 10⁻⁶/year LSIR contour radii around an ammonia bunker operation [29]

2.3. Requirements to Handle Ammonia

In this section, the characteristics of ammonia determined in the previous section will be associated with concrete requirements. Therefore a short overview of the characteristics that need to be addressed will be given:

- 1. Toxicity
- 2. Corrosiveness
- 3. Explosiveness
- 4. Relatively lower energy density

These characteristics are determined to be the defining traits of ammonia for bunkering applications. These characteristics will impose extra functions and requirements to the basic system as described in Section 2.1.

2.3.1. Toxicity

As could be seen in Table 2.1, exposure to high enough concentrations of ammonia, can lead to death within minutes. Therefore, it is required to make sure that the risk of exposure to people and the environment is mitigated in the design of the bunker installation.

There are multiple concerns when dealing with a toxic substance. There is the risk of uncontrolled release of ammonia into the atmosphere during bunkering or passive storage that could endanger workers, bystanders and nature around the bunker installation. Therefore, the subsequent toxic cloud, as well as the liquid ammonia spill need to be contained. Furthermore, there is the risk of leakages from left-over ammonia in fuel lines that could pose an exposure risk. Therefore it is required to purge the fuel lines before they are disconnected.

The risk associated with an uncontrolled release could potentially affect the viability of bunker locations. Furthermore, the risk of an uncontrolled release while sailing could prove to be decisive in determining what ships will be ammonia powered and where they will sail. This will also impact the design of the bunker installation because ships for inland shipping and ships for deep-sea shipping often favour different aspects in a bunker installation. For instance, preferred access locations for inland and seagoing

ships are different and since the tank sizes of inland ships are generally smaller, different bunker methods might be more efficient. Therefore, the first design requirements will be the determination of the upper size limit of ships that can use the bunker installation as well as requirements on the construction location of the bunker installation.

Target Ships

The toxicity of ammonia will play a role in determining the viability of the ships it can be used for. This is due to the possibility of an uncontrolled release. Whether this is due to accidents, ammonia slip in the combustion system or other challenges surrounding toxicity and the related risk, ammonia release in residential or populated areas is undesirable. This is also concluded by the European Maritime Safety Agency (EMSA) (2022) who, in their 2022 study on the potential of ammonia as a fuel, came to the same conclusion [31]. Furthermore, a fuel such as hydrogen finds its niche application as a zero-emission fuel in inland shipping and short ferry rides due to the trade-offs between its storage volume and cost being more favourable for this application [32]. This shows that the characteristics of a fuel influence the application in which it is used. In this case, it is clear that fuels such as hydrogen might be better suitable for inland and shorter-range shipping applications and ammonia is more suitable for deep-sea applications.

With the application of ammonia clear, the next step will be defining the ship class(es) that will most likely use ammonia as a fuel in the future.

Ships are mainly classified in the following categories [33]:

- 1. Container Ships
- 2. Bulk Carriers
- 3. Tanker Ships
- 4. Roll-on Roll-off (Ro-Ro) Ships
- 5. Passenger Ships
- 6. Naval Ships
- 7. Offshore Ships
- 8. Special Purpose Ships

Looking at the list of ships presented above, the ships that either operate around populated areas, contain people as part of their cargo or operate at short-sea distances would be removed from the list of target ships. This is because of the aforementioned risks of using ammonia, and it is therefore assumed that these classes are the first to adopt ammonia as a fuel. This would mean that the list reduces to the first four ship types; Container, Bulk, Tanker and Ro-Ro, in other words, cargo vessels. Between these ship classes, container ships contain the largest ships currently in service [34]. Therefore, this ship class will be used to put an approximate upper limit on the tank size that is required to be serviced.

The largest container ship currently in service is the MSC Irina, with a capacity of 24,346TEU and Dead Weight Tonnage (DWT) of around 240,739 [35]. This ship will be used as a reference to derive upper limit figures for the design of the bunker installation. In other words, it is required for the bunker installation to be able to bunker ships of this size.

Location

The second design requirement that the toxicity of ammonia will impose is the location where bunker operations can take place. This topic is difficult to precisely determine due to the existing regulatory gaps [14][31], but some base assumptions can be made.

Firstly, due to the 99% lethality footprint of $2,543m^2$ of a simulated unintended ammonia release as described by Ming et. al [36], it can be assumed that simultaneous operations (SimOps) cannot take

place. SimOps refers to the simultaneous unloading of cargo and bunkering. This method of Ship to Ship (STS) bunkering is preferred for the more mature procedure of bunkering LNG in the Port of Rotterdam, as an interview with M. Neef, the account manager LNG at the Port of Rotterdam, pointed out [37]. This is because of the possibility to fill the bunker barges at locations close to the source of the LNG storage in the Gate Terminal, and the flexibility of said barges to sail to where the target ship is offloading its cargo. The lethality footprint along with the toxic cloud focus area and LSIR contour of ammonia as described in 2.2, prohibits this solution and further significantly constrains where a bunker operation can be performed.

The location of a bunker installation is also influenced by the ships it will bunker. The size of the aforementioned ship, the MSC Irina, also defines requirements on the depth and size of the access canals to the bunker installation. For instance, it can be impossible, or highly impractical, for large ships to enter narrow canals to reach a bunker installation. In such a case, bunker barges, or a different location would be necessary.

2.3.2. Corrosiveness

Ammonia is a corrosive substance. This means that not all materials are viable to be in contact with ammonia. This will impose further design requirements by excluding certain materials from being used. Galvanised metals and copper are unable to be used, as described in Section 2.2. Furthermore, since ammonia will attack and dissolve some plastics, rubbers and coating, it is required to make sure that parts such as couplings and pumps, for example, do not contain these materials.

Since actuated flow by use of a pump will be utilized to move the ammonia through the system, there will be increased pressure throughout the system. The storage tank will also be subjected to outward pressure due to the presence of liquid ammonia. In an ammonia environment, materials under residual or applied stress are susceptible to ammonia Stress Corrosion Cracking (SCC) and characterized by sub-critical crack propagation due to the combined simultaneous interaction of mechanical stress and environmental exposure [38] [39].

The corrosion behaviour of materials differs due to the presence of water or other contaminants around anhydrous ammonia. For example, in the case of liquid ammonia stored in ASTM A517 Grade F Steel, which is steel that is designed for pressure vessel applications [40], the presence of air or water can cause ammonia SSC to occur or be inhibited, respectively [41]. Though the goal should be to only have anhydrous ammonia in the system, due to the possibility of the presence of impurities or air/water contamination, it is required to take this behaviour into account when selecting material for the system.

2.3.3. Explosiveness

It was introduced in Section 2.2 that ammonia can form explosive mixtures between 15-28%. Leaks in enclosed spaces or remnants of ammonia in fuel lines can therefore be at risk of forming this explosive mixture. Therefore it is required to make sure this mixture never forms. Moments when this could occur are when the coupling between the supply tank and the tank of the target vessel is disconnected. As mentioned in Section 2.3.1, leftover ammonia in the fuel lines will not only pose a toxic risk, but this will also allow ammonia to mix with air and possibly form an explosive mixture. Therefore, this also supports the requirement to purge the fuel lines before they are disconnected.

Ammonia itself is lighter than air and will rise when it is released into the air, as became clear from Section 2.2. However, it can form vapours that are heavier than air when the air is moist. Furthermore, vapours from a leak will initially hug the ground [42][43]. In these situations, it is possible for the conditions to become favourable for an explosive mixture to form. Therefore, it is required to be able to detect or mitigate released ammonia with a safety system that will ensure no explosive mixture can form in the surrounding atmosphere.

2.3.4. Energy Density

Liquid ammonia has about half of the energy density of typical hydrocarbon fuels but higher than most metal hydrides [44]. Previous research showed that the energy density of HFO is almost 3.5 times higher than that of ammonia [21]. This means that almost 3.5 times more volume of ammonia needs to

be bunkered to match the amount of available onboard energy when bunkering HFO. As Subsection 2.3.1 explained, it is most likely impossible for SimOps to take place during bunkering, due to the toxicity of ammonia. Atop the required liquefaction, it will probably be required to raise flow rates for the bunker installation in order to not disturb the supply chain as it is now.

Liquefaction

As mentioned in Section 2.2, ammonia needs to be liquefied for fuel applications to increase its energy density. However, there exist three methods to accomplish this. One of the options is liquefaction by increasing pressure to about 10 bar, the second option is lowering the temperature below the freezing point of ammonia, at $-33^{\circ}C$. The third option would be a combination of these two methods. This trade-off can be visualised by looking at the phase diagram of ammonia, which can be found in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: The phase diagram of ammonia, the dashed lines are extrapolated [45]

A study done by Ekinci et al. (2022) found that at higher storage temperatures, the size of the threat zone in case of an unintended release of ammonia will increase [46]. Moreover, ammonia stored under higher pressure inadvertently will lead to a high flow rate at the point of failure, because of the larger pressure difference. Because of the toxic nature of ammonia, it is in the interest of safety to make sure the amount of released gas is minimized in case of a release. Furthermore, the energy density of ammonia, liquefied through cooling, is slightly more energy dense than ammonia which has been lique-fied through pressure. At 15.37 *MJ/L* and 13.77 *MJ/L*, respectively [47]. These three arguments point to storing ammonia in its liquid form through lowering the temperature, under atmospheric pressure. This means that ammonia is required to be stored and handled in its liquid form at $-33^{\circ}C$ for this design.

Boil-off Gas

Keeping ammonia in its liquid state by cooling brings forth other complications. The liquid ammonia in the system will start to behave as a boiling liquid due to the influx of heat into the system. This heat influx will cause the ammonia to boil and create Boil-off Gas (BOG). Heat will flow into a system from all places that have more energy, but six main points for heat influx can be identified [48]:

- 1. Depressurization of the boiling liquid (flashing)
- 2. Heat added by equipment like pumps
- 3. Tank breathing or vapor displacement
- 4. Environmental heat leaks through containers and pipelines

- 5. Carrying vessels being relatively hot while loading
- 6. uninsulated pipes

Heat influx into the system, and subsequent BOG generation, can significantly influence the loading rate of a jetty or bunker installation. As demonstrated by a study done on BOG by Kurle et. al, in the case of LNG bunkering [48]. The study showed that on average loading times of LNG range from 17 to 30 hours, depending on the individual case. If the receiving ship is hotter than $30^{\circ}C$, loading rates can increase by 8 hours due to BOG generation and the increase in required pressure management. This effect will be of a lesser degree when considering ammonia, due to the significantly lesser storage temperature compared to LNG ($-162^{\circ}C$ v.s. $-33^{\circ}C$), but it is not negligible.

Ammonia will increase in volume by a factor of 850 when it transitions from liquid to gas, as could be seen in Section 2.2. Because of this, the pressure in the system will increase when BOG is generated [48][49]. This increase in pressure can result in leaks and failures at several points in the system. It is therefore required to manage the pressure-increasing effect of BOG during a bunker operation. Additionally, temperature management needs to be done when the system is not performing a bunker operation because heat influx can still pose a problem here. The storage tanks of a bunker installation are at risk of a Boiling Liquid Expanding Vapour Explosion (BLEVE) [50]. This occurs when the temperature inside a storage vessel exceeds the boiling point of the substance stored inside. Especially with a substance like ammonia, which is corrosive, the storage vessels might be more prone to generating weak points. Therefore, insulating the system is required.

Flow Rate

Because of the lower energy density of ammonia, and the fact that SimOps will most likely be impossible, it can be assumed that flow rate requirements will be higher than those of comparable bunker installations if the goal is to not disturb the current supply chain.

Increasing flow rates cannot be done indefinitely. There exists an upper limit, above which, the risk of fracturing piping or blowing off caps can occur [51]. This upper limit is defined as critical or chocked flow [52]. This is best explained by observing Figure 2.3



Figure 2.3: Flow between two arbitrarily large reservoirs A and B (left) and the Flow velocity as a function of pressure (right). Where P_c is the critical pressure, FV_c is the critical flow velocity and T is temperature

When P_1 is reduced relative to P_0 , the flow will be promoted through the connection of arbitrary geometry between the two reservoirs. This pressure drop and subsequent flow can increase up until the point that the flow velocity at some point achieves the local sonic velocity. For liquid ammonia, this is at 1,729m/s at $-33 \deg C$ [53]. At this location, a choked plane forms and this plane inhibits the influence of further pressure reductions downstream from having an effect. This is due to the rarefaction waves that travel at the local speed of sound that are stalled at this choke plane.

To maximize the flow rate, either the diameter of the piping can be enlarged, or the flow velocity can be increased. However, it is required that the flow velocity of the liquid ammonia in the piping of the system never exceeds 1,729m/s.

2.4. Conclusions

The goal of this chapter was to perform a functional decomposition of a bunker system and create a set of requirements that the intended use of liquid ammonia would impose on this system. This section will give an overview of said functions and requirements.

Operational Requirements

- 1. The bunker system is required to be able to store a liquid medium at the terminal side.
- 2. The bunker system is required to have piping in place to form a connection from the terminal to the ship side through which the medium can flow.
- 3. The bunker system is required to have a pump to actuate the medium in a controlled manner from the terminal side storage to the ship side storage.
- 4. The bunker system is required to have a detachable coupling between the terminal and the ship side of the installation.

Ammonia Safety Requirements

An overview of the reasoning behind the determined requirements can be found in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Derivation of design requirements for the intended use of ammonia in the bunker installation

Finally, a descriptive overview of the design requirements that are imposed on the base system is given below:

- 1. It is required to have exposure prevention and mitigation systems in place with the goal of mitigating the toxic hazard associated with ammonia, in case of an unintended release.
- 2. It is required to have a location that is suitable such that, in case of an unintended release, there are acceptable risks of exposure to surrounding structures, people and other vulnerable objects.
- 3. It is required that the design be able to bunker the largest vessels in service. The largest vessel currently in service, the MSC Irina, has a Dead Weight Tonnage (DWT) of around 240,739.
- 4. It is required that the materials used in the design are able to withstand the corrosivity of ammonia.
- 5. It is required that there be systems and protocols in place that have the absolute goal of preventing an explosive mixture from forming.
- 6. It is required to have systems and protocols in place that have the absolute goal of preventing ammonia leakage into the atmosphere.

- 7. It is required that the design be able to minimize the heat influx at all storage and transfer media in order to keep ammonia in its liquid form.
- 8. It is required that BOG and its consequent pressure-increasing effect is handled in the design.
- 9. It is required that the flow velocity in the piping never exceeds the sonic velocity in liquid ammonia at 1,729m/s.

3

Functions and Alternatives

The goal of this chapter will be to translate the requirements as they are stated in Chapter 2 to functions, and to find solutions for those functions. This is done to answer the second sub-question:

Which system functions and corresponding components can be used for an ammonia bunker installation that complies with the defined requirements?

To achieve this, the following steps are executed. First, a state-of-the-art analysis is performed in Section 3.1. Then, all operational and ammonia safety requirements are translated into functions, followed by research to find solutions that adhere to the imposed requirements in Sections 3.2 and 3.3. The solutions for each function are presented in an overview in Section 3.4.

3.1. State of the Art Analysis

Analysing the current state of the art for a comparable, mature technology can give insight into common practice solutions and procedures. The DNV made a step-by-step bunker plan for a base LNG system [54]. This plan contains details about the operational procedure and placement of certain important components for a bunker system that has a boiling liquid as a medium. This system can be found in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: An extended functional system based on an LNG bunker system [54]. Including indicators of new components.

The base LNG system is a good candidate for adaption towards a system that is suitable for ammonia. This is because the methane that makes up LNG is preferably not released into the atmosphere due to its explosivity and being a potent greenhouse gas, even though it is still common practice to vent trace amounts of LNG to the atmosphere after the inerting sequence [55][5]. Furthermore, its cryogenic nature shares similarities in procedure with ammonia because LNG is also bunkered as a boiling liquid at

subzero temperatures. This introduces the need for certain required components and protocols. Such as a purging sequence to prevent substance slip into the atmosphere and pre-cooling of both the fuel lines and pump to minimize BOG. In addition, a vapour return line to mitigate the pressure-increasing effect of BOG is commonly implemented for LNG. Even though the difference in density between the liquid state and ambient temperature state of ammonia is larger than for LNG, the temperature difference is much greater for LNG, as can be seen in Equations (3.1) and (3.2) [20]. This means that the boil-off rate of ammonia is less than LNG, due to a lesser temperature difference [56], but the potential pressure increment is higher in the case of ammonia. Therefore, BOG mitigation protocols and equipment are useful when bunkering ammonia as well.

$$\rho_{-33^{\circ}C}^{Ammonia} - \rho_{20^{\circ}C}^{Ammonia} = 696 kg/m^3 - 0.796 kg/m^3 = 695,204 kg/m^3$$
(3.1)

$$\rho_{-162^{\circ}C}^{LNG} - \rho_{20^{\circ}C}^{Ammonia} = 422.6 kg/m^3 - 0.717 kg/m^3 = 421,883 kg/m^3$$
(3.2)

At location *A* in figure 3.1 the vapour return line can be found. The vapour return line has been found to be very important in regulating pressure in the system when bunkering LNG [57]. Due to ammonia also being treated as a boiling liquid, a vapour return line is going to be important as well, in order to control the pressure-increasing effect of BOG during bunkering.

At location *B* in figure 3.1 the ship-side spray nozzles can be found. Spray nozzles make counteracting stratification possible. Thermal stratification is the separation of the bunker fuel layers as a result of different densities due to a non-uniform temperature profile in the receiving tank [58]. Ammonia is also susceptible to this effect due to the non-ambient temperature at which it is bunkered. When the separated layers rollover due to ship motion, the lower density that was on the bottom of the tank, rises to the top and starts to boil off quickly, leading to a sudden increase of pressure. This can have adverse effects. This stratification can be counteracted by mixing the bunker fuel in the receiving tank during bunkering by alternating top and bottom filling. This alternating filling sequence can be viewed in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Filling Sequence. With the top filling flow consisting of the red and green lines, the bottom filling flow is represented by the red and yellow lines. Finally, the vapour return flow is represented with the purple line.

At location *C* in figure 3.1 the purging system can be found. Purging the fuel lines is imperative to prevent explosive mixtures from forming and from leaking residual ammonia into the atmosphere when disconnecting the fuel and vapour return lines after bunkering. Purging is commonly done with nitrogen gas due to its availability and inert nature [54]. In LNG systems, purging is completed by venting the residual methane and nitrogen mixture through the vent at location C_1 . This is not possible for ammonia purposes because this would violate the exposure prevention requirement. The purging sequence can be seen in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Inerting sequence

In order to minimize BOG when bunkering starts, the pump and fuel lines are pre-cooled. The loop at location D in figure 3.1 shows the pre-cooling loop for cooling the pump. This is done by circulating the cold fuel from the terminal tank through the pump and back into the terminal side tank as shown in Figure 3.4. This sequence is similar in function to the fuel line pre-cooling loop that can be found at location E in Figure 3.1. The flow of fuel through this loop can be seen in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.4: Pump cooling sequence



Figure 3.5: Fuel line cooling sequence

3.2. Operational Functions

The operational requirements for the system as stated in Section 2.4 make the system technically operational. These requirements are translated into the following operational functions:

- 1. Storing
- 2. Conducting
- 3. Actuating
- 4. Connecting

There exist multiple possible solutions to adhere to these functions, these possibilities will be explored in this section.

3.2.1. Storing

The first operational function of the ammonia bunker system is the ability to store liquid ammonia. This concerns the storage on the terminal side of the installation. Since the liquid ammonia is kept under atmospheric conditions (< 0.5 barg), it falls in the operating pressure of insulated flat bottom tanks [59]. Bullet or spherical thanks can also be used to store liquid ammonia. These storage tanks are rated for higher pressures but generally for smaller storage volumes than the flat bottom tanks can accommodate. Because of the atmospheric pressure of liquid ammonia and the higher manufacturing cost of spherical tanks [60], bullet tanks are the preferred non-flat bottom storage tanks for storing liquid ammonia.

There are three categories relevant for ammonia storage tanks: single containment, double containment and full containment [61]. The difference between these storage tanks is the ability to handle failures of the tank. Bullet and spherical tanks do not have the same definition by codes and the containment philosophies cannot be directly copied from atmospheric storage [59]. Therefore, basic containment safety requirements will be copied to the spherical and bullet tanks for comparison purposes.

For ammonia applications, the inner and outer steel tanks should be all-welded construction and fabricated from normalized carbon-manganese steel as per standard [62]. All of the flat-bottom tanks should be constructed on concrete pillars or a heating system in the foundation to prevent frost lens and possible ground heaving [61].

Single containment

Single containment offers no further containment after the primary and in this case, only, tank fails. This category of storage tank is the easiest to produce and the least costly, but there is a requirement to add some form of bund (earth dyke or concrete walls) around the perimeter of the tank to contain liquid leakages. This increases the footprint of the storage tank depending on the height of the bund. An example of a flat bottom single containment tank can be found in Figure 3.7. A single containment spherical tank, for instance, follows the same conceptual design. Where there is no secondary containment of liquid or gas in place after the primary containment fails. An example of a single containment spherical tank can be found in figure 3.6.



Figure 3.6: A schematic of a single containment ammonia storage spherical tank design [59]



Figure 3.7: A schematic of a single containment ammonia storage flat bottom design

Double containment

Double containment offers a secondary outer containment layer that is capable of independently containing the refrigerated liquid. The secondary container is intended to contain any leakage of the refrigerated liquid from the primary tank, but not the vapour resulting from this leak. In principle, this is a concrete bund directly outside the storage tank that is high enough to contain the entirety of the liquid volume of the primary tank. This category increases cost but because the bund is incorporated in the design and directly outside the tank, the footprint is reduced compared to the single containment tank with a bund dyke. An example of a double containment flat bottom tank can be found in Figure 3.9. The equivalent bullet tank design can be seen in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8: A schematic of a double containment ammonia storage bullet tank design [59]



Figure 3.9: A schematic of a double containment ammonia storage flat bottom design

Full containment

Full containment is designed similarly to the double containment vessel, with the exception being that it can also vent the vapour that results from a liquid leakage after a credible event in a controlled manner. In other words, the entire second containment layer is enclosed and insulated such that operations can continue if the primary tank fails [61]. Cost with these tanks are higher but failure rates are about one-hundredth of the rate of single containment tanks [61]. An example of a full containment flat bottom tank can be found in Figure 3.11. The bullet tank design equivalent can be found in Figure 3.10.



Figure 3.10: A schematic of a full containment ammonia storage bullet tank design [59]



Figure 3.11: A schematic of a full containment ammonia storage flat bottom design

Considerations

There are many different sizes of storage tanks available. The biggest ones currently in service offer are LNG flat bottom tanks and offer available full containment storage of $200,000m^3$, with a base diameter of 91m. This tank is situated in Korea [63]. Another example is the $270,000m^3$ flat bottom tank with an estimated 98m diameter footprint (based on available dimensions from the Korean storage tank). Repurposing these tanks would allow for larger ammonia storage to be possible than what is currently available since the largest ammonia storage tanks hold about 50,000tonnes or about $73,250m^3$ with a tank base diameter of about 40m [61][64]. The largest bullet tanks offer storage volumes of $14,000m^3$ and have a length of about 74m [65]. Spherical designs are difficult and more costly to manufacture but can handle more pressure, therefore bullet tanks are preferred if the operational pressure allows for their use [61].

3.2.2. Conducting

The second operational function of the ammonia bunker system is conducting the medium from the terminal storage tank to the bunker connection hose. It is important that there is as little heat loss as possible here and that the flow produced by the actuator in the system can be handled.

Possible solutions for pipes are centred around flexible or rigid piping or a floating flexible pipe. Rigid piping is preferred for on-land applications due to the restricted movement of the pipes, but a flexible floating pipe could make a floating terminal much more practical.

3.2.3. Actuating

The third operational function of the ammonia bunker system is the ability to actuate the liquid ammonia through the system. This is done by the use of a pump. There are several pumps commercially available that can handle the characteristics of ammonia, though few can provide the kind of flow rate that is desirable. Currently, the Gate terminal has a jetty that they use to provide LNG bunker barges with fuel. These barges are in turn used to bunker the largest container vessels such as the MSC Irina [37]. The jetty is able to bunker LNG at a flow rate of $1000m^3/h$ [66].

The classes of pumps that are suitable for pumping liquid ammonia at a flow rate close to current, comparable, LNG systems are mag-drive pumps, canned motor pumps, and double mechanically sealed pumps because of their hermetically sealed nature. These pumps can be submersible or non-submersible. Submersible pumps offer the advantage of not having to be primed because they remain submerged in the medium that is to be pumped. This comes at the cost of being more difficult to service the pump because of the required scaffolding, disconnecting, removing insulation etc. when having to get into the storage vessel [67].

The configuration of the three types of pumps can be seen in Figure 3.12. These pumps also come in their non-submerged configuration. To illustrate a dry installed configuration, Figure 3.13 can be observed showing a dry installed canned motor pump.



Figure 3.12: Pumps in their vertical submersible configuration. From left to right: Canned motor pump, Mag-drive pump, double mechanically sealed pump (left) [68]. Dry canned motor pump schematic (right) [69]



Figure 3.13: Canned motor pump schematic, non-submerged version [69]

Considerations

Between the two classes, submersible pumps are generally more expensive due to the necessity to make the full system watertight and the larger constructions required for lowering them into storage tanks. Canned motor pumps offer double containment, as opposed to mag-drive pumps which only have a single containment layer [70]. An advantage of the double mechanically sealed and mag-drive pumps is that their duty point can be altered by modifying the motor specifications, this is not possible for canned motor pumps [70][68]. When selecting pumps for this application, service life and cost of repairs are arguably more important than the initial cost. Double mechanically sealed pumps are initially less expensive than the mag drive and canned counterparts [71], but from canned motor designs to mag-drive, to mechanically sealed, the service life goes down respectively [67]. This can be seen in Figure

3.14. Although repairing a canned motor pump requires specialty care and the part often needs to be sent back to the manufacturer, mag-drive pumps can usually be repaired on-site [72]. Furthermore, because of the inaccessibility of the canned motor pump, additional downtime is possible.



Figure 3.14: Service life of the three considered pump types. CMP: Canned Motor Pump, MDP: Magnetic Drive Pump, GLRD: Double Mechanical Seal Pump [68]

3.2.4. Connecting

The fourth operational function of the ammonia bunker system is establishing a connection between the terminal side to the ship side of the system. This part of the installation is a critical safety system because of the impermanent connection is prone to human error and wear. Furthermore, the possible relative motion between the terminal and the ship can create extra complications during a bunker operation.

The connection between the terminal and the ship consists of two components: the bunker hose and the coupling. These two parts will be discussed separately.

Bunker Hose

The bunker hose to connect the terminal to the ship side of the system plays a significant role in the determination of the bunker procedure. It is common practice to have a flexible bunker hose as a connection between the terminal and the ship side of the system. This is because the flexible hose can absorb some of the relative motion between the ship and the terminal. Furthermore, it is important that the hose is insulated to minimize heat influx. There are two options for such a flexible bunker hose, floating or suspended. Between the floating and the suspended design options, it is important to note that air is a much better insulator than water. This is an important consideration when deciding if a floating or hanging design is preferable.

Coupling

Coupling refers to connecting the bunker hose to the bunker manifold of the receiving ship. When releasing the coupling, it is imperative that there is no residual fuel in the coupling, because workers can be present close to the coupling. In the case of ammonia, that spillage could pose a serious risk. The three main systems that are employed in industry that offer a coupling that prevents residual fuel leak are: the dry disconnect coupling, the break-away coupling and the powered emergency release coupling [73].

The dry disconnect coupling features an internal system that blocks the flow of gas when a worker

disconnects the coupling manually. This means that there is no open connection when the bunker hose is disconnected from the manifold, thus minimizing the possibility of releasing residual fuel into the atmosphere.

The breakaway coupling features a coupling that, aside from incorporating the same features as the dry release coupling, releases the connection in case of excess tension on the bunker hose. For instance, in the case of relative motion between bunker installation and bunker receiving ship. When the tension becomes too high, the coupling passively shuts down the flow and the coupling fails, severing the connection. This system prevents tension from building up somewhere else and possibly rupturing a bunker hose or some other part of the installation. This will lead to an uncontrolled release of the bunker medium.

The powered emergency release coupling is able to be hooked up to an Emergency Shutdown (ESD) system. It is then activated hydraulically or pneumatically. Activating the ESD system will stop the flow of the bunker medium and break the connection automatically. Additionally, the system still functions as a breakaway coupling, also passively disconnection when the tension exceeds a limit.

The difference between the manual dry disconnect coupling and the breakaway coupling can be seen in Figure 3.15.



Figure 3.15: Two kinds of couplings, the dry disconnect coupling (A) and the passive break away coupling (B) [73]

3.3. Ammonia Safety Functions

Because of the hazards associated with ammonia, mitigation systems that can be used in case of an unintended release can contribute to a safer operation of the installation. Furthermore, the sub-zero temperatures of liquid ammonia impose further critical safety functions that need to be added to the system. Aside from standard practice protection such as Personal Protection Equipment (PPE), there also exist larger scale prevention and mitigation systems that require additional consideration. The mentioned safety systems will be discussed in this section. To state the ammonia safety functions in a compact form:

- 1. Bunker Location
- 2. Substance slip prevention
- 3. Toxic cloud mitigation
- 4. Spill containment
- 5. BOG vapour pressure equalisation
- 6. Insulation of the system
- 7. Purging of fuel lines

3.3.1. Bunker Location

Bunkering can be done in more than one standard location. This influences the configuration and viable components of the system, each location has its own distinct set of pros and cons. Therefore, it is important to take this into account. The bunker locations that will be handled in this research will be

dictated by the intended end user: Ships. Specifically, where ships can sail to in order to receive the bunker fuel. Namely, at the quay, near the quay but not fully docked, or not near a quay. These are hereafter referred to as follows, respectively:

- 1. Onshore Bunkering
- 2. Nearshore Bunkering
- 3. Offshore Bunkering

Onshore bunkering refers to bunker configurations where the entirety of the installation resides onshore. A vessel that requires bunkering will dock at a quay and a bunker hose will be connected. An advantage of this configuration is the solid ground to build on providing more available space and stability.

Nearshore bunkering refers to bunker configurations where the storage and pumps of the bunker installation reside onshore, but the jetty with the bunker hose connection is offshore. Usually, the jetty remains close to the quay where the storage tanks are situated. A floating jetty such as IQuay from ECONNECT Energy [74] is an example of such a system. An advantage of this is the lack of relative motion between the bunker vessel and the jetty and little restriction on the orientation of the bunker object. Furthermore, a nearshore system is not bounded by the quay depth. Potentially being able to service ships with a bigger draft more easily, without the need for dredging.

Offshore bunkering refers to bunker configurations where the entire bunker installation resides offshore. Offshore drilling rigs with bunkering capabilities, or fully offshore jetties could be an example of this. An advantage of this configuration is the independence of port-side facilities and being away from port traffic. A downside would be the vulnerability to weather and expensive supply piping or supply ships that need to keep the reserves of the installation full enough for operation.

3.3.2. Substance Slip Prevention

Following the exposure prevention requirement, substance slip needs to be prevented. There are two considered strategies that can fulfil this function. The first is gas detectors that are coupled to an ESD. These gas detectors can prevent large amounts of substance slip by shutting down the installation or closing specific valves when ammonia is detected. The placement of these sensors, however, is a crucial consideration when gauging their effectiveness. Early detection and early measures prevent large amounts of ammonia from being released.

The second strategy considers a water spray system that is positioned over the bunker manifold, and possibly other locations in the system that are prone to leakage. This water spray system continuously sprays water over these leak-prone locations to reduce ammonia vapours in the air. A drainage system could be placed underneath these spray systems in order to dispose of the contaminated water. A system that measures the ammonia content of the wastewater could be implemented to detect leaks outside normal operation.

3.3.3. Toxic Cloud Mitigation

Toxic cloud mitigation systems are systems that can be placed around the installation with the goal of mitigating the hazards of a toxic cloud. Ammonia clouds can drift large distances inland and can subsequently pose health hazards there. Release distances involving ammonia can drift more than three kilometres downwind and still pose a 10% lethality risk in an area of more than 423.000 m^2 in the case of pressurized ammonia bunkering scenario [75].

Overpressurisation

It is possible for vulnerable objects in close proximity to a bunker operation to create an environment where the pressure inside an enclosed space is higher than the ambient pressure outside. This prevents the ammonia from a passing toxic cloud from entering the vulnerable object. Ksenia et al. (2021) showed that through the internal overpressurisation of the insides of a ship, sufficient protection against

potential ammonia hazards could be offered [75]. The effectiveness of this safety strategy does, however, depend strictly on the percentage of persons that are within this protected area at a given time, in addition to the persons that can be moved to a protected area within the time granted by the toxic cloud migration speed.

Water Curtain

A widely studied mitigation solution for an ammonia release scenario is employing a water curtain. The operating principle of this is to generate a curtain of water around, or in the path of, the ammonia cloud in order to make use of its reactivity with water. This leads to the cloud being absorbed by the water and falling to the ground. This mitigation system has been tested in multiple researches and its effectiveness will be summarized.

It has been found that the effectiveness of cloud mitigation increases with reduced distance to the point of release, placement on a dyke around the storage is recommended [76]. Furthermore, the effectiveness enhances when ammonia is absorbed [77]. Finally, the effectiveness in reducing the toxic cloud can be as high as 90% at 10m behind the release location [78].

The application of this mitigation strategy will reduce the LSIR contour of the system and thus make construction closer to vulnerable objects possible. This strategy does produce ammonium hydroxide as a reagent, which poses a health hazard to nature and humans if swallowed or if it comes into contact with the skin [79]. Thus, proper handling of the reagent needs to be taken into account. A practical simulation was done by Cheng et al. (2014) to see the effectiveness of the water curtain with wind speeds up to 4.4m/s, Figure 3.16 can be observed.



Figure 3.16: Effectiveness of a water curtain mitigation system at 6m with 4.4m/s wind [77]

Mesh Barrier

The mesh barrier is comparable to the water curtain in the sense that it also tries to create a barrier that hinders the downstream migration of a toxic ammonia cloud. The working principle is through the reduction of vortices downstream, thus increasing the concentration of ammonia on the ground surface [80].

The mesh barrier works best when placed close to the leak source and works optimally when the
leak mass flow rate is around 0.4kg/s. Because of the dynamics of this system, it is very effective at reducing the dispersion of the toxic cloud downstream, as can be seen in Figure 3.17



Fig. 9. Comparison of atmospheric condition on size of danger zone with/without mesh barrier with MC = 12 (case 5) (m^o = 0.2 Kg/s). All dimension is in meter.



This effectiveness in reducing the spread of the danger zone downstream could prove useful in providing an option for other mitigation systems, like dykes and additional water curtains. These systems could be more effective and compact because of this reduced dispersion. The mesh barrier does need a secondary system to completely mitigate the toxic cloud, but the decreased dispersion does help with containment. Furthermore, if the use case has a lot of natural barriers around the release locations, mesh barriers can prove useful by keeping the cloud close to the ground, thus preventing it from migrating large distances.

3.3.4. Additional Spill containment

Aside from the containment levels that are incorporated in the double and full containment storage vessels, additional spill containment is also possible. These possibilities are discussed in this section.

Bund Dyke

A bund dyke is a passive liquid ammonia spill mitigation system. It works by creating a barrier with an internal volume that is equal to or greater than the storage volume. When ammonia is spilt out of the storage vessel, it is mostly contained in its liquid state within the bund walls. The barrier between liquid and gaseous ammonia acts as an insulator which prevents rapid vaporisation of the liquid ammonia. This liquid ammonia can then be siphoned off or reclaimed before it can freely vaporise and form a large toxic cloud [61]. Though this is an effective partial containment method, there will still be ammonia vapour generation and thus a significant risk for the surrounding area will remain.

Modified Carbon Nano-particles

Modified carbon nano-particles can be used in the basins in which liquid ammonia has been released. Such as around a single containment flat bottom tank as seen in Section 3.2.1. The operating principle is to increase the adsorption of the liquid ammonia such that less of the substance can evaporate and drift downwind [81].

The addition of the modified carbon nano-particles to an ammonia pool in, for instance, the dyke area around a failed storage, can reduce the threat zone by 50% [81]. This mitigation strategy could offer additional containment in combination with other measures.

3.3.5. BOG vapour Pressure Equalisation

The pressure-increasing effect of BOG is required to be handled. This section will discuss the means that can make this possible.

BOG Return Hose

A BOG return hose, as seen in Section 3.1, is common practice for boiling liquid bunker installations, such as for LNG bunker installations. It is preferred because it forms a fully closed system. The generated ammonia gas is sent back to the terminal side storage tank, where it can compensate for the displaced volume of fuel that has been transferred to the ship side. The potential risk with this set-up is equal to the risk of the fuel line connection: because of the impermanent connection that is usually made by humans, there is a tendency for error.

Buffer Tank

A buffer tank can be used to store the generated BOG to keep the pressure in the fuel tank at nominal levels. Since the liquid ammonia has to be evaporated to be used as fuel [82]. This ship-side extra tank could double as the ammonia fuel expansion chamber. A downside to this method could be the limited available space in such a tank. Furthermore, this would require extra space on the ship to be lost to such a tank, space which could be used for cargo and other purposes.

Vent with Scrubber

It is possible to vent excess pressure into the atmosphere when the vent is equipped with a scrubber. This option allows operational pressure to be quickly equalised, without the need for extra tanks or fuel lines. However, this option does use up a scrubber medium, which could be associated with high costs.

3.3.6. Insulation

Thermal insulation is needed to reduce the influx of heat and make sure that BOG is kept at a minimum, especially around the transfer pipes. There exists the option to employ the use of a low thermal conducting material in order to minimize the heat flux (mechanical insulation), or there exists the option to employ vacuum insulation.

There are considerations with both options. Vacuum seal can generally create a better insulating layer for a smaller diameter of piping, even up to 20 times as much as fibre or foam solutions [83]. Though the vacuum insulated pipes generally perform better in their rigid pipe design [84]. Piping that has regular mechanical insulation is more easily patched up, as opposed to a segment of vacuum-sealed piping where the integrity of the entire pipe can be lost in case of a break [85]. Although this is the case, the constant draw-in of moisture and the warm and cold duty cycle of a mechanical insulation layer makes it prone to deterioration [86].

3.3.7. Purging of Fuel Lines

As could be seen in Section 2.2, even though the flammability range of ammonia is higher than that of for example LNG (15 - 28% vs 5.3 - 17%, respectively), ammonia is a lethal toxin at much smaller concentrations than the flammability ranges of either substances. Moreover, this lower flammability range and higher ignition energy (8mJ vs 0.27mJ, respectively) does not mean there is a negligible flammability and explosivity risk when bunkering ammonia. This leads marine fuel safety handbooks to conclude that the purging of fuel lines with inert gas is required in an ammonia bunker installation [87].

However, there exists the problem of where the gas mixture resulting from the purging sequence is supposed to be led to since direct venting into the atmosphere is considered undesirable due to the toxic nature of ammonia. Furthermore, burning the residual ammonia gas releases undesirable NO_x and N_2O , the latter being a potent greenhouse gas [87], making this an unfavorable alternative as well.

Ksenia et al. (2021) solve this problem by introducing citric acid scrubbers at the ventilation mast, in order to reduce the amount of vented ammonia [75]. These scrubbers are only around 90.12% effective [88], and the scrubbing medium is used up in the scrubbing process, about five weight units of citric acid per weight unit of removed NH_3 . However, Ksenia et al. (2021) deem it effective enough to use for use around ammonia-powered passenger ships.

Another option would be to redirect the resulting gas mixture from the purging sequence, first to an external tank, or directly to a gas separation system. Such a system could make use of a fractional distillation technique to separate the nitrogen en ammonia gases from each other. This is a technique which uses the different boiling points of the two gases $(-33.34^{\circ}c$ for ammonia and $-195.8^{\circ}C$ for nitrogen) to separate them. Aside from fractional distillation, there exist multiple other methods to achieve the separation of the two gases. These techniques would allow for the reclamation of both gases and would completely eliminate any venting to the atmosphere. However, this installation could be costly to install and use.

3.4. Conclusions

In this section, an overview is presented. This overview shows all the derived functions for the system under "functions", as well as their discovered solutions under "means". This figure can be found in Figure 3.18.

FUNCTIONS			ME,	ANS		
Storing	Single Containment (Flat bottom Design)	Single Containment (Bullet Design)	Double Containment (Flat bottom Design)	Double Containment (Bullet Design)	Full Containment (Flat bottom Design)	Full Containment (Bullet Design)
Conducting	Dry Rigid Pipe	Dry Flexible Pipe	Floating Flexible Pipe			
Actuating	Dry Mechanically Sealed Pump	Submersed Mechanically Sealed Pump	Dry Mag-drive Pump	Submersed Mag-drive Pump	Dry Canned Motor Pump	Submersed Canned Motor Pump
Connecting (hose)	Suspended Hose	Floating Hose				
Connecting (coupling)	Dry Disconnect Coupling	Break Away Coupling	Powered Emergency Release Coupling			
Bunker Location	Onshore	Nearshore	Offshore			
Substance Slip Prevention	Gas Detectors with ESD	Water Spray System over Leak-prone Areas	Gas Detectors with ESD + Water Spray System over Leak-prone Areas			
Toxic Cloud Mitigation	Mesh Barrier	Water Curtain	Overpressurisation	Mesh Barrier + Overpressurisation	Water Curtain + Overpressurisation	
Additional Spill Containment	None	Bund Dyke	Bund Dyke + Modified Carbon Nanoparticles			
BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	BOG Return Hose	Relieve Gas in Buffer Tank	Vent with Scrubber			
Insulation	Mechanically Insulated	Vacuum Insulated				
Purging of Fuel Lines	Inerting Sequence with Scrubber	Inerting Sequence with Gas Separator				

Figure 3.18: Overview that displays the derived functions under "functions", and discovered solutions under "means" for a bunker installation for refrigerated liquid ammonia.



Evaluation Method

The previous chapter resulted in an overview which contained all derived functions for a bunker installation for ammonia, as well as the proposed solutions. This chapter will evaluate several Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) methods, and decide on a model to use. This model will serve as the main decision-making model to select configurations of solutions from Figure 3.18 and thus answer the third sub-question:

Which model can be used for decision making with respect to discovered bunker station components?

4.1. Decision Making Methods

In a classic system engineering approach, a morphological analysis can be used to generate system configurations [89]. However, this method allows for researcher bias when generating concepts, which is deemed undesirable. A MCDM method can be used to get around this bias and to make sure all solutions from the overview are considered. Because a MCDM method requires an objective analysis of the solutions with respect to design criteria, and shifts the decision-maker bias towards stakeholders, the researcher bias can be circumvented. Several MCDM methods which use subjective weighing of design criteria by experts exist, such as the analytical hierarchical process (AHP), the analytical network process (ANP), and BWM, among others [90].

There exist several factors that determine the usability of a specific use case for these methods. These are for instance: computational time, simplicity, the number of pairwise comparisons required, and the requirement for software among others. On these factors, the BWM provides the lowest amount of computational time, both the ANP and BWM are the most simple to use, the BWM requires the least number of pairwise comparisons, and the AHP and BWM do not require software to be performed. Furthermore, even though the results obtained from AHP and ANP can be said to be reliable, those of the BWN can be said to be more consistent in their comparisons. This would indicate that these results are more reliable than the AHP and ANP [90].

Because it is desired to perform decision-making through stakeholder input, a straightforward and consistent survey is required. The simplicity of the survey for the decision maker is desirable to ensure more reliable results. Because consistency can be quickly evaluated, and the number of comparisons is low with the BWM, it is possible to ensure a survey result of sufficient quality from stakeholders; if the quality is not sufficient, the survey can easily be altered by the decision maker. Additionally, the low computational time required to perform the BWM and the lack of additionally required software led to the BWM being chosen for the purposes of this research.

4.2. The Best Worst Method

The BWM, proposed by J. Rezaei (2015) [91], can solve discrete MCDM problems. A discrete MCDM problem can be generally formulated in a matrix as follows:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 & c_2 & \cdots & c_n \\ p_{11} & p_{12} & \cdots & p_{1n} \\ p_{21} & p_{22} & \cdots & p_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ p_{m1} & p_{m2} & \cdots & p_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.1)

where $\{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_m\}$ is a set of feasible alternatives and $\{c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n\}$ is a set of decision-making criteria. For each function as can be seen in Figure 3.18, the set of design alternatives would correspond to a unique vector \vec{a} . The values for p_{ij} correspond to the relative value for the criterion j with respect to the alternative i. Chapter 2 focused on determining the alternatives \vec{a} , whereas this chapter will focus on determining the criteria \vec{c} and the values for p_{ij} . The values for p_{ij} are not always available. This can be the case when quantitative data is not available. In this case, the procedure of comparing alternatives to criteria can still be carried out by using ordinal values for p_{ij} . With these values, the goal of finding the best alternative, or the alternative i with the highest value V_i , for a specific function of the system can be achieved. This is done with the equation as follows:

$$V_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} p_{ij}$$
(4.2)

Where:

$$w_j \ge 0, \sum w_j = 1 \tag{4.3}$$

In Equations (4.2) and (4.3), the values for $w = \{w_1, w_2, \dots, w_n\}$ correspond to the weights associated with the importance of each criterion. The determination of the optimal values for w, w^* , is done by starting with the following matrix *B*:

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} & \cdots & b_{1n} \\ b_{21} & b_{22} & \cdots & b_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_{n1} & b_{n2} & \cdots & b_{nn} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4)

where b_{ij} is the relative preference of criterion *i* to criterion *j*. Suppose we have *n* criteria and we want to perform a pairwise comparison of these criteria using 1 to 9 scale. Thus, $a_{ij} = 1$ shows that criterion *i* and *j* are of the same importance, $a_{ij} > 1$ shows that *i* is more important than *j*, and $a_{ij} = 9$ shows that criterion *i* is extremely more important than *j*.

Instead of determining the all relative importance b_{ij} , the BWM starts by determining the best (most important) criterion and the worst (least important) criterion. Subsequently, the preference of the best criterion over all the other criteria, and the preference of the other criteria over the worst criterion is determined. These preferences are allocated a number between 1 and 9. Resulting in the Best-to-Others and Others-to-Worst vectors, respectively:

$$B_B = (b_{B1}, b_{B2}, \cdots, b_{Bn}) \tag{4.5}$$

$$B_W = (b_{1W}, b_{2W}, \cdots, b_{Wn})^T$$
(4.6)

where $b_{BB} = 1$, and $b_{WW} = 1$.

Finally, to calculate the optimal weights w_i^* and ξ^* , the following problem can be solved:

min ξ

s.t.

Table 4.1: Consistency index for different values of b_{BW} [91]

b_{BW}	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Consistency Index (max ξ)	0.00	0.44	1.00	1.63	2.30	3.00	3.73	4.47	5.23

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\frac{w_B}{w_j} - b_{Bj}\right| &\leq \xi, \ \forall j \\ \frac{w_j}{w_W} - b_{jW} \leq \xi, \ \forall j \\ \sum_j w_j &= 1 \\ w \geq 0, \ \forall j \end{aligned}$$
(4.7)

Finally, to ensure the quality of the assessment of the weights w_j , a high consistency is desired. To determine the consistency of a BWM analysis, a Consistency Ratio (CR) is proposed [92], as follows:

$$Consistency \ Ratio = \frac{\xi^*}{Consistency \ Index}$$
(4.8)

where *Consistency Ratio* \in [0, 1], values close to 0 are more consistent, while values close to 1 are less consistent. To calculate the consistency index the consistency ratio needs to be determined, this is found through the following equation:

$$\xi^2 - (1 + 2b_{BW})\xi + (b_{BW}^2 - b_{BW}) = 0$$
(4.9)

Solving Equation (4.9) for different values for b_{BW} , the maximum value for ξ can be found. This value is used as the consistency index. Table 4.1 shows the maximum values of ξ (consistency index) for different values of b_{BW} [91].

With the solutions for (4.2) known for each function, and the solution of (4.8) as a measure of the quality of the pairwise comparison, a decision for the best alternative can be made.

4.3. Conclusions

This section will give an overview of the findings of this chapter, as well as the answer to the third sub-question.

Three MCDM methods were evaluated: the AHP, ANP and BWM. All three are suitable for decisionmaking with respect to the discovered bunker station components. However, the straightforward and consistent survey of the BWM that requires a small number of comparisons, combined with the reliable results associated with this method made it a better fit for this research. Furthermore, its low computational time and lack of additional required software also make it desirable above the other two methods. Therefore, the method that is chosen for decision-making is the BWM.

5

Evaluation of Alternatives

To evaluate the solutions, design criteria are introduced in Section 5.1 and an ordinal analysis is performed in Section 5.2. In this analysis, the solutions are ranked with respect to the design criteria. Both are needed to execute the BWM. These two components together will answer the fourth sub-guestion:

What design criteria can be used to evaluate bunker station components and how do the selected system components perform on the defined design criteria?

5.1. Design Criteria

In this section, the design criteria for the BWM will be proposed. Design criteria are used as a metric with respect to whom, alternatives can be evaluated. Correctly defining these parameters will allow the design to be optimized for desired criteria. The design criteria are based on important parameters that are involved in a bunker process that is part of a supply chain [93], and the challenges around different energy densities, safety requirements and costs associated with alternative fuels, as stated by the Port of Rotterdam [94]. This leads to an emphasis on reducing cost, preventing downtime and minimizing bunker time. Additionally, energy efficiency is important from a sustainability point of view. Finally, safety must be guaranteed and therefore must also be taken into consideration. This section will discuss the design criteria selection and show what subcategories they are composed of.

Cost

The cost of the installation is a considered design criterion. This cost does not only describe the initial cost of acquisition but also takes into account the maintenance cost and the operational cost of the installation.

- Capital Expenditure (CapEx)
- Operational Expenditure (OpEx)

Energy Efficiency

The energy efficiency of the system concerns how efficient a design option can potentially be in terms of its energy usage. Design options that use more energy will score lower on this criterion. It is also possible that the environment the design option operates in will require higher energy use. For example, a submersed pump leaking its heat into the liquid ammonia will require compensation from cooling systems, this is less energy efficient. Therefore it is important to be as effective as possible, while also minimizing energy usage from a sustainability point of view. Because of the emphasis on sustainability, this criterion is evaluated separately from the OpEx which it usually is a part of.

- Running cooling systems
- Running pumps
- Other energy usage

Safety

The safety design criterion concerns all safety parameters that a design offers. This involves systems that might be of influence on the LSIR contour, such as possible mitigation systems/strategies. Furthermore, where possible, the inherent safety of a design option and the possible threat it might pose to the environment will be taken into account.

- LSIR contour
- Inherent design safety
- · Environmental Safety

Reliability

The reliability design criterion concerns the degree of resistance to calamities the design has. Offshore bunker installations, for example, are more susceptible to weather influences than onshore installations. Furthermore, some options can be more resistant to downtime, due to less complex repairs. This will also be taken into account.

- Downtime prevention
- · Vulnerability to environmental hazards

Bunker Time

The final design criterion concerns the estimated bunker time of an installation. This design criterion is the cumulative indicator for the amount of time a ship would require to manoeuvre to the installation and into place, the possible complexity of the pre- and post- checks to enable safe operation, and the possible flow rate that would dictate the time of the actual filling of the ship-side storage tank.

- · Pre-check and Post-check
- Manoeuvring
- Flow rate

5.2. Ordinal Analysis

In this section, an ordinal analysis will be performed to find the values for p_{ij} . Because of the unavailability of quantitative data, the value for each alternative with respect to a criterion will be ranked relatively. For example, if there exist a set of three alternatives that go up in total cost in order of appearance, then their respective $p_{i,cost}$ value will be $p_{1,cost} = 3$, $p_{2,cost} = 2$, $p_{3,cost} = 1$. Since the criterion cost is to be minimized, the best value, 3, is allocated to the first alternative and the worst value, 1, is allocated to alternative three. If there is no discernible difference between two alternatives, an equal value can also be allocated. For instance, if alternatives 1 and 2 are of the same cost, but less expensive than alternative 3, then their respective $p_{i,cost}$ value will be $p_{1,cost} = 2$, $p_{2,cost} = 2$, $p_{3,cost} = 1$. Due to the possibility of an equal ranking in the case of no discernible difference, the data needs to be normalised. This normalisation will be done following the paper by Munim et al. (2020), dividing each value under the same criterion by the highest allocated value for each function.

5.2.1. Storing

Cost

The storage cost for liquid ammonia, as per Bartels (2008), for 15 days and 182 days is $0.06 \text{ }/kg H_2$ and $0.54 \text{ }/kg H_2$, respectively [47]. This involves OpEx. There is no mention in literature that increasing the integrity of the containment between single, double, and full containment, leads to a significant change in the storage price. Therefore, this difference in OpEx is assumed to be negligible.

The CapEx cost for storage of ammonia at low temperatures is the least in the flat bottom tanks at atmospheric pressure. The bullet tanks, which are rated for higher pressures than the atmospheric flat bottom tanks, store liquid ammonia nearly 15 times less cost-efficient than atmospheric storage [47].

This is due to the much higher ratio of steel to storage volume required for pressurized storage vessels. Additionally, the cost of production for added layers of complexity with respect to containment leads to a higher CapEx.

Energy Efficiency

The heat influx for large-scale ammonia storage is 0.1% per day [47], but this increases when there is more surface area exposed to the atmosphere. In other words, the large single flat bottom tanks have more energy-efficient storage. Aside from this, there is no difference in energy usage between single or double containment concepts, as mentioned before. Full containment, however, is able to remain operational in case of a primary tank failure, as mentioned in Section 3.2.1, and therefore has less potential for needing extra energy usage associated with reclaiming and possibly reliquefying spilt ammonia.

Safety

Rath et al. (2013), studied the different risk levels between the different storage methods, and containment levels for storing LNG by use of Frequency v.s. Number of Fatality (FN) curves [59]. Spherical, bullet and flat-bottom tanks were evaluated. This risk assessment was done under the assumption of an equal storage volume, where this volume would be stored in a single flat bottom tank ($4000 m^3$), or five bullet tanks (5 times $800 m^3$). This research concluded that, indeed the risk reduces when the containment level is increased for all storage methods. Single containment bears the most risk, and full containment bears the least risk. The research further concluded that in the full containment category, flat-bottom tanks are the safest option, followed by bullet tanks. After this, for double containment, the flat bottom tanks are also safer than bullet tanks. Finally, for single containment tanks, the bullet tanks are safer than the flat bottom tanks in terms of risk.

Reliability

In terms of downtime prevention, it is clear that full containment concepts are best. It is the only option that allows for continued operation in case of a primary tank failure, as mentioned in Section 3.2.1. Downtime is inevitable in case of a loss of containment in a double or single containment scenario. However, in the case of multiple bullet tanks, because the stored volume is divided over multiple tanks, it can be assumed that there still are undamaged tanks that can be used to potentially continue operations.

Bunker Time

The segments that are associated with the bunker time criterion create no distinction in the means of storage. Therefore, the values for this criterion are set to one for all options.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.1.

Table 5.1: p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: Storing. Where SC denotes Single Containment, DC denotes Double Containment, and FC denotes Full Containment

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
SC, Flat Bottom	6	2	1	1	1
SC, Bullet Design	3	1	2	2	1
DC, Flat Bottom	5	2	4	1	1
DC, Bullet Design	2	1	3	2	1
FC, Flat Bottom	4	4	6	3	1
FC, Bullet Design	1	3	5	3	1

5.2.2. Conducting

Cost

The complexity involved with manufacturing piping that can withstand the cold temperatures of liquid

ammonia, while still retaining their flexibility is higher than straight, rigid pipes. This will inadvertently lead to a higher CapEx. Furthermore, the fatigue and wear of flexible piping might undergo will have a negative impact on service life. Therefore, their OpEx will be higher than rigid piping. These same factors apply to flexible, floating pipes. Moreover, these floating pipes will have to be made buoyant, further increasing the cost.

Energy Efficiency

Flexible hoses are more difficult to insulate with, for instance, vacuum insulation. This leads to slightly lower insulation values [84]. This effect is also present in the floating pipes, but these floating pipes are also exposed to seawater, which will increase thermal conductivity and therefore BOG, as stated in Section 5.2.4. This BOG has a negative influence on the energy efficiency of the system.

Safety

Rigid piping can is safer due to it being fixed in place. Sudden changes in pressure will not cause the movement of the pipe. The lower susceptibility of rigid piping to wear will also contribute to conserving structural integrity. This same argumentation is also true for floating piping, but this piping is generally more vulnerable to external hazards due to being more exposed to external influences.

Reliability

Because flexible piping is more susceptible to wear, it is also required to be inspected and replaced more often. This will lead to increased downtime. Floating pipes are more exposed in seawater, where they are also more susceptible to environmental hazards and thus will need to be inspected and replaced even more often. Furthermore, the low visibility of the floating pipes risks them being damaged by passing ships.

Bunker Time

Flexible piping can be assumed to be not perfectly straight everywhere. Increasing bend angle in piping increases friction factor [95]. With an increased friction factor, the flow will decelerate and therefore flow rate will reduce. Furthermore, the relative motion of water in floating pipes will make these bends periodically more extreme and irregular. This can further negatively impact the flow rate.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.2.

Table 5.2: p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: Conducting

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Dry Rigid Pipe	3	3	3	3	3
Dry Flexible Pipe	2	2	2	2	2
Floating Flexible Pipe	1	1	1	1	1

5.2.3. Actuating

Cost

When looking at the CapEx for the pumps that will actuate the liquid ammonia, the cost of a canned motor and a mag-drive pump are higher than that of a double mechanically sealed pump, as could be seen in Section 3.2.3. But the more important factor here is service life, which is part of the OpEx: because of the sealless nature of canned and mag-drive pumps, they require little to no maintenance [96]. Canned motor pumps are designed as a one-piece assembly. This means that, in case of motor failure, the entire assembly has to be replaced. Magnetic drive pumps do not have this issue, as their motor is separate from the rest of the assembly. Moreover, this creates the possibility to repair magnetic drive pumps on-site [72], and as such, they are considered to be the most cost-efficient option.

Finally, as stated in Section 3.2.3, the cost of submersible pumps is inherently higher than dry-installed pumps due to the better maintenance accessibility for the latter, and the cost involved with making a pump suitable for submersion.

Energy Efficiency

Generally, canned motor pumps are considered to be more efficient in terms of power transmission to the impeller than magnetic drive pumps. This is due to magnetic losses present in the magnetic coupling of this pump, caused by the gap between the internal and external magnet [72]. There are newer magnetic drive pumps available, with patents pending, that are able to reduce the aforementioned magnetic losses by 75%. On the other hand, canned motor pumps dissipate more heat into the medium due to their rotor winding being immersed in the medium in case of pump submersion, which has to be compensated for. Heat influx into the system leads to increased BOG which in turn increases bunker time due to the necessity of pressure management. Running systems for longer periods of time, and using external systems to compensate for the heat influx reduces energy efficiency. Because of the external installation of the motor in the case of magnetic drive and mechanically sealed pumps, this heat influx is not a problem. Submerged pumps have the advantage of the head pressure of the medium weighing down on the suction end, helping them operate. This is, however, achievable through clever placement of the dry-installed pump as well [97].

Finally, according to ZB pumps (2019), in terms of operating efficiency, the mechanically sealed pump is about 15/20% more efficient than canned motor pumps of the same parameters. Magnetic drive pumps are in turn 5 times less efficient than mechanically sealed pumps, with an efficiency of around 92 - 95% [98].

Safety

In terms of containment, mechanically sealed pumps have the worst performance. Their dynamic seals are prone to wear and therefore leakage. Magnetic drive pumps offer a hermetically sealed pump chamber due to the magnetic coupling between the motor and impeller and therefore offer a sealless, leak-free option. A canned motor pump offers the same hermetic seal, but these pumps offer an additional containment layer [70]. Because the rotor of the canned motor is immersed in the medium, with the stator outside of the medium, separated by a stator liner, a first containment barrier is formed. Outside of this, the motor casing, which forms the second containment layer, can be found. This means that in case of stator liner rupture, the fluid will stay contained within the motor housing.

When considering the difference between submersed and dry-installed pumps, there exists the problem of cavitation in dry-installed pumps. Cavitation can lead to the degradation of the impeller and therefore lead to imbalance and vibrations. This is a potential safety hazard, as metal particles can not only contaminate the medium but also damage other parts of the installation. Potentially leading to loss of containment. Cavitation, however, can be easily avoided by providing adequate inlet pressure by placing the dry-installed pump lower than the supply tank, for instance.

Reliability

Considering a single pump, submersed canned motor pumps are advertised to have a maintenancefree service life of 8-10 years [68]. Mechanical seals need to be replaced every two to three years as per Standard API 682 [99] and as could be seen in Figure 3.14, magnetic drive pumps have a service life that is somewhere in the middle of those two values, as per 3.14. This means that overall mechanically sealed pumps would cause the most downtime due to service. It is more difficult to access submersed pumps, but this is negligible in comparison to the difference in service life, and thus the frequency that service is needed, of the three considered pump types. It is worth noting that small maintenance to motors and pumps is more easily done on the magnetic drive and mechanically sealed pumps, due to the separation of the motor from the assembly. Finally, it is true that submersed pumps are more reliable than dry-installed pumps because they do not need to be primed, which eliminates the risk of running the pump dry and thus damaging it. Moreover, the head pressure at the suction side significantly reduces the risk of cavitation in submersed pumps, which reduces wear.

Bunker Time

All of the three considered pumps have commercially available models that can operate in excess of $1500 m^3/h$ [68][100], but much virtually any flow rate is possible. This flow rate value is already higher than the $1000 m^3/h$ that is currently used for bunkering LNG at the Gate Terminal [66], which would

mean that theoretically very short bunker times are possible. What sets the different pump designs apart, is their flexibility within the available flow rates. Every pump has its own duty point, moving too far from this point negatively affects efficiency. Canned motor pumps, for instance, would have to have their complete assembly replaced if different flow rates were required. In the case of the magnetic drive and mechanically sealed pumps, more is possible by changing the motor.

A way to solve the flexibility problem is to install more pumps. This is no problem for dry-installed pumps. However, submersible pumps use significant space in their entire assembly in a supply tank, requiring significant structures to support piping, manifolds, and valving [101]. Therefore, it is not always possible to install multiple pumps to accommodate many different flow rates. However, this is very dependent on the size of the installation and its specific use case.

Finally, the priming that is involved with dry-installed pumps can possibly increase bunker time. However, if this priming is done before ship mooring, it does not have to negatively impact bunker times. The required pump cooling sequence, as seen in Figure 3.4, will already perform pump priming.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.3.

Table 5.3: p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: Actuating

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Dry Mechanically Sealed Pump	4	1	1	1	4
Submersed Mechanically Sealed Pump	1	2	2	2	3
Dry Mag-drive Pump	6	3	3	3	4
Submersed Mag-drive Pump	3	5	4	4	3
Dry Canned Motor Pump	5	4	5	5	2
Submersed Canned Motor Pump	2	6	6	6	1

5.2.4. Connecting (Hose)

Cost

Given that the composition of the construction of floating and suspended bunker hoses is essentially identical, with the only difference being the inclusion of buoyancy features in the former, it follows that the CapEx of floating hoses is higher. Furthermore, because of the corrosive properties of seawater [102], the exposure of floating hoses to seawater and air leads to greater corrosive effects. The long-term implications of this exposure include increased instances of corrosion on the floating hose, which ultimately manifests in higher OpEx.

Energy Efficiency

The connecting hoses of the installation do not use power. The only distinction that can be made is that the medium surrounding the floating hose is water, in contrast to the air surrounding the suspended hose. The temperature of the seawater is often lower than the air above it, and the thermal conductivity of seawater is higher than that of air $(0.056 W/mK v.s 0.025 W/mK at 0 \deg C[103][104])$. This can potentially cause more heat influx into the system, thus increasing BOG, which has to be compensated for. This is possible through liquefaction which uses more energy, or it can lead to increased bunker times, as was discussed in Section 2.3.4, leading to longer run-time of the involved systems.

Safety

Because both bunker hoses are designed to conform to strict safety standards and their functional design is equal, safety concerns inherent to their design offer little distinction. Therefore, external influences specific to the use case will be considered. The use cases are that the floating hose will be surrounded by seawater and air, and the suspended hose is suspended in the air. Considering this, Floating hoses are generally longer than suspended hoses that are connected to a jetty and moored

vessel [105]. Therefore, floating hoses have exposed areas that could be susceptible to outside influences or entanglement, thus putting them at greater risk.

Reliability

Because of the generally longer length of the hose, in combination with this length being more exposed than a suspended hose that is directly connected from a jetty to a ship, floating hoses are more vulnerable to environmental hazards. For instance, large waves can impede the functionality of floating hoses. Therefore, these hoses are considered to be less reliable.

Bunker Time

The hose connection procedure of suspended hoses is less complex than the connection procedure of a floating hose [66][105]. The suspended hose connection is made by extending a loading arm that positions the hose close to the manifold of the ship, where it can be lowered down to the appropriate height. It is very likely that the movement of the hose to the ship and the upward movement of the hose takes more time than the described procedure for a suspended hose.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.4.

Table 5.4: p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: Connecting (hose)

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Suspended Hose	2	2	2	2	2
Floating Hose	1	1	1	1	1

5.2.5. Connecting (coupling)

Cost

Since the dry disconnect coupling is a simpler version of the breakaway coupling, which in turn is a simpler version of the PERC, CapEx also goes down with increasing simplicity. CapEx is assumed to be the dominant cost factor due to the similarity of the use case, and thus requirements for maintenance. However, there is a distinction when comparing break-away couplings and PERCs to dry disconnect couplings. This distinction is that there is no protocol in place for the dry disconnect coupling in case of excessive motion. This means that damage to the installation will follow such a scenario. In the case of the other two options, there is only a connector bolt replacement required.

Energy Efficiency

The dry disconnect coupling, as well as the breakaway coupling, do not use any energy. The PERC, however, does use energy to force the coupling to disconnect in case of an emergency.

Safety

The safety of the couplings increases with increased complexity. All three alternatives are designed to be leak free when the coupling is disconnected. Only the breakaway coupling and PERC are designed to release in case of excessive tensile stress on the hose. Finally, only the PERC is designed to disconnect in case of an ESD button being pressed, and can therefore be considered to be safer than the breakaway coupling.

Reliability

The fact that a dry disconnect coupling can potentially damage the installation in case of excessive tensile stress on the hose, means it can cause serious calamity to the terminal. Because the PERC is in connection to the ESD and manual override systems, it will always disconnect in case of an emergency. This can potentially cause downtime in case of a human error or false alarm. Resetting this coupling can cause extra unwanted downtime, a passive breakaway coupling does not have this problem.

Bunker Time

There is no discernible distinction in the complexity, possible flow or procedure when comparing these

three couplings.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.5.

Table 5.5: p_{ii} values for the means that fulfil the function: Connecting (coupling)

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Dry Disconnect Coupling	3	2	1	1	1
Break Away Coupling	2	2	2	3	1
PERC	1	1	3	2	1

5.2.6. Bunker Location

Cost

The cost of making any part of a system such as this being able to float is always going to be higher than constructing on dry land. Therefore, when more of the critical systems need to be made floating, the higher the cost is going to be. Therefore, it can be assumed that the OPEX and CAPEX costs are going to increase respectively over on-, near-, and offshore systems.

Energy Efficiency

The energy efficiency of a bunker location can be dependent on several factors. This could include whether or not one decides to transport gaseous ammonia to an offshore location where it can be reliquefied, or if the pipes are cooled and it is piped in its liquid form. Furthermore, tanker vessels could directly deliver their cargo to the offshore installation, but this would require large amounts of storage offshore to be viable. Nearshore and onshore bunker locations can store a lot of liquid ammonia more easily in their land-based storage tanks where their supply routes are much less complex and therefore less frequent, and thus more energy efficient. When making a distinction between the near and onshore systems, it can be informative to look at the lesser insulating value of water versus that of air when considering transfer pipes. Either this has to be compensated with extra insulation, or this has to be compensated by reliquefaction systems, which costs energy. Therefore, it can be concluded that the energy efficiency of bunker locations increases respectively over off-, near- and onshore systems.

Safety

The safety of the bunker location is a complicated factor. This is because increasing the distance between the bunker operation and the port inherently increases safety because the metrics for this, LSIR contours and focus areas, are distance-based. Therefore it follows that offshore systems are safer than nearshore systems, are safer than onshore systems when considering possible vulnerable people within said LSIR contour. The caveat here, however, is that the off- and nearshore systems do not allow for many toxic cloud mitigation systems. A water curtain will, when activated, convert ammonia to ammonia hydroxide, which will then contaminate the water and harm the flora and fauna around the installation. Even though this still occurs to a lesser degree in case of a release, the effect is much greater when a water curtain is applied. Additionally, the release over open water is associated with longer dispersion distances, due to the lesser amount of obstruction [75], which would require an offshore installation to be placed further away from land to respect that in the 10^{-6} LSIR contour there are no vulnerable objects, for example.

The possibility to implement mitigation strategies with less adverse effects to the surroundings, near the point of release, offers greater control over the risk. Offshore systems that have less control over a toxic cloud are more dependent on the weather situation and wind direction for example. Since the toxic cloud offers the greatest contribution to the risk [75], it is safe to assume that more control over this risk offers more safety.

The optimal distance for all of the toxic cloud mitigation strategies that offer this control is close to the point of release [77][80]. Combining this with a current nearshore system for bunkering LNG from a floating jetty where the distance between the shore and floating jetty is often more than 5m - 10m

[74], mitigation systems lose effectiveness. Additionally, the connection to the bunker receiving vessel can contribute between 26.6% and 45% of the leak frequency [75], thus there is a point of failure for the nearshore systems that are out of the optimal control range of the considered mitigation systems. Therefore, it is concluded that onshore systems offer the safest bunker location, followed by nearshore and finally offshore systems.

Reliability

It is possible for a port to offer more controlled conditions due to implemented protection from the wave conditions of the open sea. Waves are reduced due to shore banks, and an increase in obstacles provides natural protection from wind. This means that there is a higher probability for safe working conditions in port, than in offshore conditions. Nearshore systems are able to follow the movements of the bunker receiving vessel, whether this is riding waves or pivoting due to changing wind. Less relative motion between the jetty and the vessel creates more robustness to weather influences, preventing calamity and thus downtime. Onshore systems, however, offer a stable quay to prevent pivoting motion, but travel from and to this quay is often restricted in high wind conditions.

The Beaufort wind scale offers insight into the correlation between wind and waves. For the LNG Gate Terminal, travel from and to the jetties is no longer allowed with winds reaching 6 on the Beaufort scale [66], this correlates to a wave height of 3m - 4m at sea [106]. Typical nearshore systems are able to operate in waves with a significant wave height of 2.5m and maximum wave heights of 5m [105]. Thus, since travel is restricted for vessels before the safe working conditions are exceeded for nearshore systems, it is concluded that the reliability for bunker locations is best for nearshore systems, followed by onshore systems and finally for offshore systems.

Bunker Time

Bunker time for onshore systems is dependent on the time it takes a ship to navigate to the quay, this is assumed to be the dominating factor for bunkering onshore. When considering the manoeuvring of vessels, the nearshore systems have the advantage of being able to dock to a ship, regardless of orientation. This is not the case with on- and offshore systems. Systems such as the IQuay are pushed into position by use of tugs [74], which also takes time. However, this positioning can also be done by the jetty itself, by use of electronic motors. Furthermore, between two and eight mooring lines are needed to secure the vessel, depending on weather conditions. Nearshore systems remove the need for mooring teams and therefore mooring is possible in under a minute [74]. Transfer rates are not necessarily dependent on bunker location, since all locations could accommodate multiple pumps to reach arbitrary transfer rates. The above-mentioned arguments lead to the conclusion that bunker time is best for nearshore systems, followed by offshore systems and finally onshore systems.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.6.

Table 5.6: p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: Bunker Location. A score of 3 indicates the best score, and a score of 1 indicates the worst score

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Onshore	3	3	3	2	1
Nearshore	2	2	2	3	3
Offshore	1	1	1	1	2

5.2.7. Substance Slip Prevention

Cost

The cost associated with a low-tech spray nozzle over several places in the installation is considered to be lower than more complex gas detection units. Even when considering water pumps that might be necessary, the low-pressure pumps required to spray water at the required locations will not exceed the cost of gas detectors, which can be found commercially available exceeding \in 2,000.

Energy Efficiency

From an energy efficiency point of view, there exists a larger energy usage with the water spray systems than with a gas detection system, which only requires energy to power its electronic systems. The water pumps that are required to be run for the water spray system to operate will require more energy, even though they are only active when a bunker operation is being performed. Furthermore, the water will probably be recycled from a sustainability point of view and thus needs to be decontaminated. This process will also cost energy.

Safety

Gas detectors in combination with an ESD system will only pick up the leaking gas once it has reached the sensor of the detector. The following ESD signal will shut down the system. In the case of an open path gas detector system, which uses two cameras over the transfer pipes for immediate detection, potentially unnoticed gas buildup due to a leak can be prevented through quick detection.

The water spray system over the manifold and other leak-prone objects creates a passive mitigating effect, rather than only shutting down the system to prevent more gas from escaping. However, it is impractical to cover all systems with a permanent water blanket. This is due to increased slipping hazards, for instance. Therefore, the combination of these two systems offers a complimentary coverage of passive mitigation of leak-prone objects as well as detection of other less common leakages.

Even though a passive water spray system might be able to detect excessive amounts of ammonia in its wastewater, and thus be able to detect leaks, it does not offer the overall coverage of gas detectors.

Reliability

Gas detection systems will be able to detect ammonia leakages and shut off valves or the entire system, this will ensure a calamity for the system. Even when small leakages build up enough to trigger gas detection systems, a calamity will occur. On the other hand, a passive water spray system will be able to mitigate small leaks over leak-prone objects. When excessive amounts of ammonia are detected in the wastewater, a targeted inspection can be executed. The difference is that this can be done after the bunker operation, thus averting a calamity. A combination of the two systems is still equal to the performance of the water spray with respect to this criterion.

Bunker Time

There is no discernible difference in bunker time, considering the implementation of either or both of the systems.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.7.

Table 5.7: p_{ii} values for the means that fulfil the function: Substance Slip Prevention

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Gas Detectors with ESD	2	2	2	1	1
Water Spray System over Leak-prone Areas	3	1	1	2	1
Combination of the two systems	1	1	3	2	1

5.2.8. Toxic Cloud Mitigation

Cost

A mesh barrier is a passive mitigation strategy for toxic cloud mitigation. The barrier material can be

made from any cheap material and requires no maintenance or power, therefore making it a very costeffective mitigation strategy if its working principle fits the end user.

A water curtain is an active system. Even though the spray medium, water, is abundant, there exists non-negligible CapEx with regards to installing pumps, trigger systems and electronics. Furthermore, because this is an active system, testing will have to occur. This testing and the included maintenance will increase OpEx. Even though these costs exist, due to the low complexity of the system and commercial availability of the parts, literature refers to this mitigation strategy as "low cost" [78].

For a mitigation strategy that uses overpressurisation of volumes in which vulnerable persons could be present, there exist multiple cost-increasing features. For instance, this system is in need of constant pressure regulation. Pumps would have to be running constantly in order to maintain positive pressure with respect to the atmosphere. Furthermore, it needs to be ensured that windows and doors are sealed appropriately in order to minimize pressure loss. Since this is a building-wide system, which has to be active on all workdays, this is considered the most costly system. Furthermore, cost scales with the number of buildings that need to be protected.

The combination of a mesh barrier with the overpressurisation strategy would not differ much in overall cost with respect to only using the overpressurisation strategy, due to the low cost of the mesh barrier. The combination of the water curtain with the overpressurisation strategy would impose the most cost considering all other alternatives.

Energy Efficiency

Due to the passive nature of the mesh barrier, it is considered the most energy-efficient solution. Followed by the water curtain, which is only active when testing or when a toxic cloud is present. Finally, the constant maintenance of the positive pressure that allows overpressurisation to work, causes it to have a relatively low energy efficiency.

Combining the mesh barrier with the overpressurisation mitigation strategy equals the energy usage of only the overpressurisation mitigation strategy, due to the passive nature of the mesh barrier. However, when a mesh barrier is used and thus the toxic cloud is kept from freely dispersing, it is possible that fewer buildings need to be pressurised to reach the same reduction in exposure risk. Less active systems reduce the amount of energy needed. The combination of a water curtain with the overpressurisation strategy would create the least energy-efficient solution.

Safety

The working principle of mesh barriers is to keep the ammonia cloud from rising vertically. If there is elevated terrain surrounding the release site, or some other natural or artificial barrier, the mesh barrier keeps the ammonia cloud low to the ground such that those barriers can impede inland migration of the cloud. This strategy, however, is very susceptible to strong winds, for instance. If there is no further action to remove the toxic cloud, the influence of wind could potentially still allow the cloud to migrate inland.

A water curtain is an adequate mitigation strategy for ammonia toxic clouds. Being able to dilute these clouds, and mitigate their spread. The effectiveness in reducing the toxic cloud can be up to 90% up to 10m behind the water curtain [78]. This would have a large impact on reducing the size of the risk contours surrounding a bunker installation where this system would be present.

Overpressurisation of vulnerable objects surrounding a bunker installation can prevent the toxic cloud from affecting the people inside. However, animals and persons outside of these safe zones are still at risk. Since the toxic cloud can potentially drift several kilometres inland [81], there can potentially be a lot of buildings that need this system installed. With an increasing number of people, the chances of them not being indoors increases. This is still the case if there is some kind of alarm in place. Therefore significant risk remains if this strategy is used by itself.

Combining the overpressurisation strategy with a mesh barrier can potentially impede the inland mi-

gration of the toxic cloud. Because of the mesh barrier, fewer buildings within the originally affected area would have to be protected. However, this combination does not affect the drawbacks of either of the mitigation strategies, therefore combining them still leaves significant risk.

Finally, the combination of a water curtain with the overpressurisation strategy can enhance total risk reduction. As stated before, the effectiveness of a water curtain is not 100%. Though significant reduction is possible, there exists the possibility of a percentage of the toxic cloud reaching vulnerable objects. Overpressurising these objects, or creating pressurised safety zones in combination with an alarm, could amount to a minimized risk scenario.

Reliability

The mesh barrier, due to its passive nature, can be considered to be very reliable. There are no moving parts that can potentially halt the operation of the mitigation system. Since the water curtain only needs to be activated in case of a loss of containment, with proper testing, it has little risk of failure and can therefore be considered to be reliable. The overpressurisation strategy is considered to be less reliable than the other two separate systems. Because it is a system under continuous operation, any downtime affects the effectiveness of the mitigation strategy.

The combination of implementing a mesh barrier with over-pressurising buildings in close proximity can potentially improve the reliability of the system by reducing the number of buildings that need to be pressurised, thus reducing points of failure. The combination of a water curtain with the overpressurisation strategy can potentially further reduce the number of buildings that need to be pressurised.

Bunker Time

There is no discernible difference that the choice of toxic cloud mitigation strategy might have on the bunker time associated with the installation. Since these strategies do not interfere with regular bunker procedures and are only activated in case of an unintended release.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.8.

Table 5.8: p_{ii} values for the means that fulfil the function: Toxic Cloud Mitigation

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Mesh Barrier	5	5	1	5	1
Water Curtain	4	4	4	4	1
Overpressurisation	3	2	2	1	1
Mesh Barrier + Overpressurisation	2	3	3	2	1
Water Curtain + Overpressurisation	1	1	5	3	1

5.2.9. Additional Spill Containment

Cost

The cost of the additional spill containment goes up with the addition of more spill mitigation technologies. The passive bund dyke has little to no OpEx. The modified carbon nano-particles will have to be replaced after a spill, leading to more OpEx.

Energy Efficiency

There is little to no discernible difference in energy efficiency concerning the considered additional spill containment strategies because all three options are passive. Only the carbon nano-particles could need processing after use, but this is not considered in this analysis.

Safety

Additional containment layers will intuitively increase safety. However, only the single and double con-

tainment vessels will have non-negligible risk reduction through the application of these additional spill containment strategies. This is due to the fact that a full containment option already has secondary containment built into the design.

Reliability

A bund dyke will increase the reliability of the installation by allowing the contained liquid to be pumped away, allowing for quicker restarting of the installation. The addition of carbon nano-particles can increase the speed of this containment process, while also preventing more off-gassing. Thus decreasing the time before the installation can restart.

Bunker Time

There is no discernible difference that the choice of additional spill containment might have on the bunker time associated with the installation. Since these strategies do not interfere with regular bunker procedures and are only activated in case of an ammonia spill.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.9.

Table 5.9: pij values for the means that fulfil the function: Additional Spill Containment

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
None	3	1	1	1	1
Bund Dyke	2	1	2	2	1
Bund Dyke + Carbon Nano-particles	1	1	3	3	1

5.2.10. BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation

Cost

The CapEx that is associated with a BOG return system, consists of extra plumbing and a secondary connection hose. The OpEx would revolve around the maintenance of this system, but due to the low complexity and impact, it is assumed to be of low cost.

Relieving gas into an external tank, whether that tank is placed at the terminal side or the ship side of the installation, will increase CapEx more than using existing storage. Although it can be assumed that ship-side instalment will be the most costly, due to the limited and expensive space it will occupy there. The OpEx associated with maintenance and further installations necessary here will also be higher, due to the fact that more storage tanks and associated systems need to be maintained.

Finally, relieving excess pressure into the atmosphere through a vent equipped with a scrubber will be the least cost-efficient solution. As mentioned in Section 5.2.7, the cost of a scrubber citric acid scrubber is \in 3.43 per gram removed nitrogen. Furthermore, there is a cost associated with the placement of the scrubber system and the lost, or to-be-reclaimed ammonia.

Energy Efficiency

The BOG return hose and corresponding plumbing will form a connection from the receiving tank, back to the storage. The pressure-increasing effect of the BOG at the receiving tank side, and the pressure decrease at the supply tank due to lower levels of fuel will create passively actuated flow through the BOG return hose. This removes the need for active pressure equalisation, thus creating an energy-efficient system.

For some fuel applications, the liquid ammonia first has to be evaporated back to its gaseous state [31]. If a buffer tank that is used in the bunkering process to relieve pressure build-up due to BOG is installed on the ship side, then this fuel would be ready to use for as and therefore could provide an energy-efficient solution. However, since liquid ammonia takes up 850 times less space than gaseous ammonia, as seen in Section 2.2, this ship-side buffer tank will potentially have to be very large. On

the other hand, if the buffer tank is to be installed on the terminal side, the situation is different. There might exist a need to pump away or reliquefy the ammonia gas so it can be used for a subsequent bunker action, which will cost energy. Therefore, making this option less energy efficient.

A vent with a scrubber is a passive solution that can equalize pressure if the pressure in the receiving tank becomes too high. There might be additional energy requirements associated with reclaiming the ammonia from the scrubbing medium, thus making this a moderately energy-efficient solution.

Safety

The BOG return line does form a closed system with the fuel supply system and therefore can be concluded to be a safe option. However, the impermanent connection does allow for an extra point of human error.

The buffer tank also forms a closed system with the fuel supply system. However, if the buffer tank is installed on the ship side of the installation, there might not be enough volume to handle all the BOG, leading to overpressure. This makes this option less safe than the BOG return hose.

A vent with a scrubber will not be able to scrub a 100% of the ammonia from the vent exhaust. Especially when less of the scrubbing medium becomes available due to operation, there will be a decrease in performance [107]. The possibility of ammonia being vented to the atmosphere so regularly due to this option being employed as a pressure regulating measure impacts safety very negatively.

Reliability

Since the BOG return hose is a passive system, there are not a lot of points of failure. Regular inspection of the plumbing and connecting hose will prevent major downtime. Furthermore, since there is no complex or relatively expensive technology, spare parts can be kept on-site to keep downtime to a minimum.

The buffer tanks failing can cause severe downtime. This is due to the larger amounts of ammonia that are stored here, and the inability to easily replace these tanks. There exists technology, such as full containment vessels, that can continue operation in the case of primary tank failure and thus this is still a reliable option.

A vent with a scrubber is not a reliable way of equalizing the BOG pressure-increasing effect. The scrubbing medium will have to be replaced regularly, which will inhibit operation and thus cause down-time.

Bunker Time

The BOG return hose will positively impact bunker times. This has been demonstrated in practice with LNG bunker processes as mentioned in Section 2.3.4.

The buffer tank might have a similar positive effect on bunker times as the BOG return hose. Due to the pressure relieving effect, which allows higher flow rates into the receiving tank. However, the buffer tank is limited by its size, and therefore might only have a limited effect.

A vent with a scrubber can potentially have a positive effect on the bunker time as it will be able to relieve all excess pressure into the atmosphere. However, there might also be additional time associated with checking the integrity of the scrubbing medium.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.10.

Table 5.10: p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: BOG Pressure Equalisation

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
BOG Return Hose	3	3	3	3	3
Relieve Gas in Buffer Tank	2	1	2	2	1
Vent with Scrubber	1	2	1	1	2

5.2.11. Insulation

Cost

The cost comparison of vacuum insulation versus mechanical insulation is complex. Mechanical insulation has a lower OpEx than the more complex vacuum technology [86]. However, mechanical insulation will start to draw in moisture when cooled. This moisture will freeze and deteriorate the material, forcing regular maintenance of the insulation. There are many different types of vacuum insulation, such as with aerogel in the annular space or static/dynamic vacuums, which create different cost profiles. For example, the vacuum in dynamic vacuum insulation will have to be maintained, which will increase OpEx due to running vacuum pumps. Aerogel vacuum insulation still allows significant heat to reach the medium and static vacuum tubes are very expensive to produce, but they will offer a superior insulation value. Curtis (2007) implies that piping with a length of over 200*m* can start to become a viable economical candidate for vacuum insulation [86] in the case of handling LNG.

It can be determined that vacuum-insulated pipe has a higher CapEx than mechanical insulation [108]. The typical advertised use case for vacuum insulation is for handling LNG. The large temperature gradient of LNG with the atmosphere makes insulation very important, and this greater gradient will cause mechanical insulation to deteriorate fast. Furthermore, it will cause significant costs in compensating for the lesser insulation value due to BOG and reliquefaction. In the case of liquid ammonia, the temperature gradient is much smaller. This means less moisture will be pulled into the mechanical insulation, which will decrease degradation speed. Furthermore, following Equation (5.1) which denotes the heat influx into a pipe, the heat influx is lower because of the lower temperature gradient.

$$Q = k \cdot A_2 \cdot \frac{(T_1 - T_2)}{r_2 \cdot \ln(\frac{r_2}{r})}$$
(5.1)

Where, *Q* denotes the heat gain in *W*, k is the thermal conductivity in W/mK, A_2 is the outer surface of a pipe in m^2 , and r_1 and r_2 are the inner and outer radii of the pipe in *m*, respectively.

The thermal conductivity of high-performance mechanical insulators, such as polyisocyanurate, around pipes, has a value for k between 0.022 and 0.035 W/mK [109], whereas vacuum insulated pipe can reach k values of 0.008 W/mK [110]. Therefore, the insulating value of vacuum insulation is $8 \cdot 10^1 \%$ better than that of mechanical insulation. In spite of this superior insulation value, the lower temperature difference with the atmosphere in the case of liquid ammonia will increase the economically viable pipe length beyond the previous minimum of 200m. In the case of the LNG jetty in the Gate Terminal, distances from tank to jetty do not exceed 40m [66]. Therefore it is concluded that mechanical insulation is the more cost-effective choice.

Energy Efficiency

In terms of energy efficiency, the superior insulating properties of vacuum insulation make it the more energy-efficient choice. This way of insulating will keep the most amount of energy from entering the system.

Safety

There is no hermetic seal created by the mechanical insulation, and due to impurities and/or degradation, it could create a way for ammonia to escape in case of pipe failure. In the case of vacuum insulation, a double containment layer is present[111][86]. Therefore it can be seen as safer than mechanically insulated pipes.

Reliability

Due to the constant degradation of the mechanical insulation in regular operation, it will require regular checks and maintenance. Vacuum insulation is advertised as having 25+ years of maintenance-free operation, as well as an anticipated design life of over 40 years [83]. This makes vacuum insulation the superior choice in terms of reliability.

Bunker Time

There are similar pipe diameters available for both pipes with mechanical and vacuum insulation. Therefore, there is no apparent distinction in flow rates possible. Because the integrity of the mechanically insulated pipe might have to be checked in a pre-check procedure, this can affect bunker time.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.11.

Table 5.11: p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: Insulation

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Mechanical Insulation	2	1	1	1	1
Vacuum Insulation	1	2	2	2	2

5.2.12. Purging of Fuel Lines

Cost

In terms of cost, the difference between the two systems lies in the way the gas is handled at the end of the system. The CapEx of a fractional distillation unit can quickly exceed \notin 350,000 [112]. Acid scrubbers are commercially available at much lower prices, less than a thousand [113]. Furthermore, the OpEx associated with heating is considered to be higher than with pumping and spraying. Even though the citric acid costs \notin 3.96 per gram removed nitrogen [107], this is negligible considering the difference in CapEx.

Energy Efficiency

Between the two systems, the required energy to boil the gas mixture for separation is much higher than the systems that are used to pump the citric acid through the scrubber. Therefore, the citric acid scrubber is found to be the most energy-efficient solution.

Safety

The fractional distillation column is part of a fully closed system. The citric acid scrubber is only about 90% effective. There exists a bigger risk of exposure to ammonia in the case of the citric acid scrubber.

Reliability

The fact that the scrubber can run out of scrubbing medium, as well as its 90% efficiency, creates a risk for calamity. However, because both systems could potentially work more efficiently from a buffer tank, there is no real discernible difference in downtime prevention on the total system.

Bunker Times

The choice of fuel line purging system can increase bunker time, as it needs to be completed before the fuel lines can be disconnected. However, since the distinction here is focused on the handling of the gas mixture at the end of the system, there is no discernible difference in bunker time between the two options.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 5.12.

Table 5.12: <i>p</i> _i	, values for the me	ans that fulfil the fu	unction: Purging	of Fuel Lines
rt				

	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Inerting Sequence with Scrubber	2	2	1	1	1
Inerting Sequence with Gas Separator	1	1	2	1	1

5.3. Conclusions

This section will give an overview of the findings of this chapter, as well as the answer to the fourth sub-question.

The BWM requires an objective analysis as input, with subjective decision-making based on stakeholder input. The objective part of this analysis is done by evaluating the discovered solutions based on design criteria. These design criteria are: cost, energy efficiency, safety, reliability and bunker time. These criteria were based on important parameters in a bunker process that is part of a supply chain and challenges associated with alternative fuels. An overview of the results of the ordinal analysis based on the aforementioned design criteria is given in Table 5.13.

		Cost	Energy	Safety	Reliability	Bunker
Conducting	Dry Rigid Pipe	3	3	3	3	3
oonaaonng	Dry Flexible Pipe	2	2	2	2	2
	Floating Flexible Pipe	1	1	1	1	1
Actuating	Dry Mechanically Sealed Pump	4	1	1	1	4
	Submersed Mechanically Sealed Pump	1	2	2	2	3
	Dry Mag-drive Pump	6	3	3	3	4
	Submersed Mag-drive Pump	3	5	4	4	3
	Dry Canned Motor Pump	5	4	5	5	2
	Submersed	2	6	6	6	1
	Canned Motor Pump	2	0	0	0	·
Connecting (hose)	Suspended Hose	2	2	2	2	2
	Floating Hose	1	1	1	1	1
Connecting (coupling)	Dry Disconnect Coupling	3	2	1	1	1
	Beak Away Coupling	2	2	2	3	1
	PERC	1	1	3	2	
Bunker Location	Onshore	3	3	3	2	1
	Offshore	2 1	∠ 1	2 1	3 1	3
		6	'	4	4	
Storing	SC Fial bollom	03	2 1	1 2	1	1
	DC Elat Bottom	5	2	2 4	2 1	1
	DC Bullet	2	1	3	2	1
	FC Flat Bottom	4	4	6	3	1
	FC Bullet	1	3	5	3	1
Substance Slip Prevention	Gas Detectors with ESD	2	2	2	1	1
	Water Spray System over Leak-prone Objects	3	1	1	2	1
	Combination of the Two Systems	1	1	3	2	1
Toxic Cloud Mitigation	Mesh Barrier	5	5	1	5	1
	Water Curtain	4	4	4	4	1
	Overpressurisation	3	2	2	1	1
	Mesh Barrier +	2	3	3	2	1
	Overpressurisation					
	Overpressurisation	1	1	5	3	1
Additional Spill Containment	None	3	0	1	1	1
	Bund Dyke	2	0	2	2	1
	Bund Dyke + Carbon Nano-particles	1	0	3	3	1
Insulation	Mechanical Insulation Vacuum Insulation	2 1	1 2	1 2	1 2	1 2
BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	BOG Return Hose	3	3	3	3	3
	Relieve Gas	2	1	2	2	1
	in Buffer Tank	<u>د</u>	·	<u>د</u>	<u> </u>	
	vent with Scrubber	1	2	1	1	2
Purging of Fuel Lines	Inerting Sequence with Scrubber	2	2	1	0	1
	inerting Sequence with Gas Separator	1	1	2	1	1

Table 5.13: Overview of the results of the ordinal analysis.

6

Case Study Results

This chapter will perform the subjective part of the BWM analysis. Input from stakeholders is needed to finish the BWM analysis, these stakeholders will be introduced in section 6.1 and the results of the BWM analysis are presented in Section 6.2. A sensitivity analysis to gain insight into the robustness of the results is performed in Section 6.3 and finally the viability of the result is tested by checking if all design requirements are met in Section 6.4. This information will lead to the answer to the fifth sub-question:

What design do stakeholders from a suitable port for sea-going vessels such as The Port of Rotterdam prefer, and is this configuration viable?

6.1. Stakeholder Survey

To create a configuration that is suitable for The Port of Rotterdam, stakeholders from this port need to be surveyed. The survey that is used is based on J. Rezaei (2015) [91], and can be found in Appendix B. For this, three terminals within the Port of Rotterdam have been asked to take part in the survey. These terminals are:

- 1. The Gate Terminal
- 2. The ACE Terminal
- 3. OCI N.V.

The Gate Terminal is the LNG hub of Europe. A professional access gateway for LNG that is supplied from across the world. Because of its international connections, it is a representative candidate for evaluating the design criteria. LNG bunkering shares some similarities to ammonia bunkering and since this terminal is already familiar with building bunkering infrastructure in the Port of Rotterdam, it is an interesting candidate for creating a representative overview of the values of said port.

The ACE terminal is a terminal situated on the Maasvlakte in the Port of Rotterdam, which aims to store hydrogen in the form of ammonia. In their planned location, they aim to offer cracking facilities to convert the ammonia back to hydrogen to be used for their customers. This terminal will be receiving and storing ammonia and could therefore be indicative of the considered concerns associated with handling and storing ammonia. Thus, this terminal is interesting to survey for this research.

Finally, OCI N.V. is going to expand to The Port of Rotterdam by creating an ammonia import terminal. This terminal will be involved with facilitating ocean-going vessels with ammonia as well as being an ammonia hub for imported hydrogen in the form of ammonia. Furthermore, they aim to create scalable ammonia jetty infrastructure that is very similar to the goal of this study, making them an interesting candidate.

Based on the survey that has been filled out by the aforementioned stakeholders of the port of Rotterdam, calculations for finalizing the BWM can be carried out. Each of the stakeholders provided a Best-to-Others vector, and a Others-to-Worst vector, corresponding to Equations (4.5) and (4.6), respectively. These can be found in Appendix C. The weights and consistency ratio are calculated through the solver based on the linear model provided by Rezaei (2016) [92]. This solver is based on Equations (4.7), (4.8) and (4.9). The results can be found in Table 6.1.

Resp.	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time	CR	CR Acceptable (y/n)
Gate Terminal	0.182	0.0909	0.409	0.273	0.0455	0.232	у
Ace Terminal	0.228	0.152	0.400	0.0690	0.152	0.200	У
OCI Terminal	0.0520	0.141	0.587	0.141	0.0784	0.222	у

Table 6.1: Optimal weights based on survey results of each respondent

Finally, by filling out Equation (4.2) with the results from Section 5.2 and Table 6.1, the final scores of the alternatives can be calculated. These final scores will determine the final configuration of alternatives per stakeholder. These results will be compared and discussed.

6.2. Results

In this section, the resulting configurations from the BWM will be shown and discussed. This will result in a configuration that most accurately represents the values of three large terminal operator stakeholders situated in the Port of Rotterdam. The separate resulting configurations of each stakeholder can be found in Table 6.2. The full calculation results can be found in Appendix D.

Table 6.2: Bunker installation configurations resulting from the Best Worst Method based on the weights generated by three stakeholders in The Port of Rotterdam.

Functions	Gate Terminal	ACE Terminal	OCI	
Storing	FC	FC	FC	
Storing	Flat Bottom	Flat Bottom	Flat Bottom	
Conducting	Dry Rigid Pipe	Dry Rigid Pipe	Dry Rigid Pipe	
Actuating	Submersed	Dry	Submersed	
Actualing	Canned Motor Pump	Canned Motor Pump	Canned Motor Pump	
Connecting (hose)	Suspended Hose	Suspended Hose	Suspended Hose	
Connecting (coupling)	Beak Away Coupling	Beak Away Coupling	PERC	
Bunker Location	Onshore	Onshore	Onshore	
Substance	Gas Detectors with ESD +	Gas Detectors with ESD +	Gas Detectors with ESD +	
Slip	Water Spray System over	Water Spray System over	Water Spray System over	
Prevention	Leak-prone Objects	Leak-prone Objects	Leak-prone Objects	
Toxic Cloud	Water Curtain	Water Curtain	Water Curtain	
Mitigation				
Additional	Bund Dyke +	Bund Dyke +	Bund Dyke +	
Spill	Carbon Nano-particles	Carbon Nano-particles	Carbon Nano-particles	
Containment	•	•	•	
BOG vapor				
Pressure	BOG Return Hose	BOG Return Hose	BOG Return Hose	
Insulation	Vacuum Insulation	Vacuum Insulation	Vacuum Insulation	
Purging of	Inerting Sequence with	Inerting Sequence with	Inerting Sequence with	
Fuel Lines	Gas Separator	Gas Separator	Gas Separator	

It becomes clear from Table 6.2 that there are many similarities between the configurations of stakeholders. All three stakeholders selected safety as their most important criterion, and all three chose different least important criteria. Bunker time, reliability and cost, respectively. These factors, alongside the different weights and the results from the ordinal analysis, resulted in final configurations that differed only in a submerged or dry-installed version of the canned motor pump for the actuation function, and the breakaway coupling or the PERC for the connecting (coupling) function. Where, both the Gate and ACE terminals opted for a breakaway coupling, as opposed to the PERC for OCI. Additionally, both the Gate Terminal and OCI opted for a submersed canned motor pump, whereas the ACE terminal opted for a dry canned motor pump.

6.3. Sensitivity Analysis

Due to the complex relationships that result in the final scores of the alternatives, it is difficult to say if a small difference in the final score indicates that it actually was a close choice. In other words, if a close final score actually meant a small difference in the Best-to-Others and Others-to-Worst vectors from Vectors (4.5) and (4.6), respectively. Based on Muzarek et. al (2021), by looking at the influence of small variations in the aforementioned vectors, insight into the robustness of the final configuration can be found [114]. Here, attention is also paid if an order violation occurs, meaning a different alternative becomes the best alternative. For this research, the occurrence of an order violation following a small change in Vectors (4.5) and (4.6) is interpreted as the new best alternative lying close to the interests of the stakeholder.

The results of this analysis can be found in Appendix C. From these results, it becomes clear that there are only a small amount of order violations following the analysis. When a change in the Vectors (4.5) and (4.6) caused the CR to become unacceptable, the result is not taken into account. The remaining instances are listed below:

Gate Terminal

1. Decreasing the cost criterion value in Vector (4.5) (Best to Others) causes the configuration to change to include a dry-installed canned motor pump.

ACE Terminal

- 1. Increasing the cost criterion value in Vector (4.5) (Best to Others) causes the configuration to change to include a submersed canned motor pump.
- 2. Decreasing the safety criterion value in Vector (4.6) (Others to Worst) causes the configuration to change to include an inerting sequence with a scrubber.

OCI NV

• There were no changes in the configuration after changing the values in either vector.

The results from this analysis point to an overall robust choice of alternatives except for the functions: actuating, and purging of fuel lines. Here, a perturbation causes the actuating function to switch from dry installed to submerged canned motor pumps and vice versa, depending on which of two is the starting result. This indicates that for a general configuration, choosing either option will still represent the overall interests of the stakeholders closely. Furthermore, even though the inerting sequence with a gas separator is considered to represent the interests of the stakeholders best, the results from at least one stakeholder are sensitive to the choice for this function, due to the order violation occurring.

6.4. Testing

To ensure the feasibility of the resulting configuration, infeasible combinations must be removed if they are present. To test the viability of the resulting configuration, it must be checked if none of the requirements are violated. These two tests will be executed in this section.

6.4.1. Requirements

The requirements that were stated in Section 2.4 will be repeated here:

- 1. It is required to have exposure prevention and mitigation systems in place with the goal of mitigating the toxic hazard associated with ammonia, in case of an unintended release
- 2. It is required to have a location that is suitable such that, in case of an unintended release, there are acceptable risks of exposure to surrounding structures, people and other vulnerable objects
- 3. It is required that the design be able to bunker the largest vessels in service. The largest vessel currently in service, the MSC Irina, has a Dead Weight Tonnage (DWT) of around 240,739
- 4. It is required that the materials used in the design are able to withstand the corrosivity of ammonia
- 5. It is required that there be systems and protocols in place that have the absolute goal of preventing an explosive mixture from forming
- 6. It is required to have systems and protocols in place that have the absolute goal of preventing ammonia leakage into the atmosphere
- 7. It is required that the design be able to minimize the heat influx at all storage and transfer media in order to keep ammonia in its liquid form
- 8. It is required that BOG and its consequent pressure-increasing effect is handled in the design
- 9. It is required that the flow velocity in the piping never exceeds the sonic velocity in liquid ammonia at 1,729m/s

There are several requirements that are inherently adhered to, because of the selection of components. These requirements are 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8.

Requirements 2 and 3 are location-specific requirements that will require further investigation. To answer this question, a map of The Port of Rotterdam is shown in Figure 6.1



Figure 6.1: A map of the Port of Rotterdam, including different designated areas [115]

Both the Gate Terminal and the ACE Terminal, are located on the Maasvlakte. This location encompasses the leftmost edge of the coloured Port of Rotterdam area. The Maasvlakte II, which is still partially under construction, will offer more surface area for the development of extra port facilities, such as future ammonia terminals. This location offers a large distance from neighbouring cities and dwellings and direct access to the North Sea. It is desirable to have as much distance as possible between vulnerable objects, in order to satisfy LSIR contours. Furthermore, the direct access to the North Sea means that larger ships can bunker directly at the proposed bunker installation, thus not restricting the use of the installation to just bunker barges.

The depth of the fairways into the Maasvlakte is between 23m NAP to 24m NAP [116], this can also be seen in Figure 6.2. This means that classes of ships that have a Dead Weight Tonnage (DWT) of 300,000 can safely pass into the port since their average draught is around 20m [117]. Since the DWT of the MSC Irina is around 240,739 [118], it should be able to reach the proposed installation. If this is undesirable due to other influences, it can still be serviced by bunker barges. Thus satisfying requirement 3.



Figure 6.2: Water depth surrounding the sea-adjacent area of The Port of Rotterdam. (Source: Wikipedia)

The closest cities to the Maasvlakte II, are Hoek van Holland and Oostvoorne. These two cities are 4.32km and 6.25km, respectively, measured from the area that will become the Maasvlakte II. The Port of Amsterdam (2021) in their study, defined a 10^{-6} LSIR contour around a bunker operation concerning refrigerated ammonia to be 427 meters [29]. In this contour, there can be no vulnerable objects such as dwellings and residential areas. Furthermore, the focus area as defined by this same study, provides an area with a radius of 2624m in which people are insufficiently protected indoors against the consequences of accidents involving hazardous substances, without additional measures. The focus area is not restrictive on development, but indicative for relevant authorities to state what measures are sufficient to protect persons. Since both of these distances are smaller than the closest populated area, the Maasvlakte II is deemed as being sufficient for requirement 2.

Requirement 9, the requirement not to exceed the sonic velocity of ammonia in the piping, depends on a balance between pipe diameter and pump flow rate. From this research, it became clear that the flow rate of pumps is trivial. This is due to the fact that a set of multiple pumps, or a single large pump can produce virtually any flow rate. Certainly exceeding current $1000m^3/h$ LNG flow rates in the Gate Terminal that are used to fill bunker barges. Therefore this requirement remains a design specification of the system to be kept in mind when moving to a more detailed design.

Thus, it can be concluded that the design as it is generated for stakeholders from The Port of Rotterdam is able to adhere to all stated requirements.

6.4.2. Infeasible Combinations

There are several solutions that are infeasible to combine. These combinations need to be identified. These combinations will be used to evaluate the final configuration on feasibility, and if needed, adapted to become feasible. To do this, the component overview in Figure 3.18 will be analysed.

The selection of a flat-bottom tank, for instance, does not combine with an offshore design. Due to the size and weight of the storage technology, it is highly impractical to install this on any offshore installation. Therefore, in an offshore design, bullet tanks will be used instead of flat-bottom tanks.

Secondly, the selection of an onshore design will restrict the usage of floating pipes. It could still be possible for the connecting pipes from the terminal side to the ship side to be floating pipes, but it is not possible for the conducting pipes of a land-based installation to be floating.

Thirdly, the selection of an inerting sequence with a gas separator is considered infeasible for an offshore bunker installation due to its size. These combinations do not occur in any of the stakeholder configurations.

6.5. Discussion

From the case study, it can be seen that there is a clear preferred combination of components. This can be seen in Table 6.2 Due to the overall consensus that safety is going to be very important if not the most important criterion when working with ammonia. This generally equal prioritisation between stakeholders creates less diversity in the final configurations, which presents itself as a robust result. It is possible that other ports that handle sea-going vessels have different secondary priorities which will most likely result in differences in the four categories that showed a more sensitive result: actuating, coupling, and purging of fuel lines. The only actual difference in the final result is seen as the difference between a submerged or dry-installed canned motor pump, and a break-away coupling or a PERC.

With regards to the pump, the results switch between the dry-installed and submersed versions of the canned motor pump as a result of small perturbations in the survey input for two of the stakeholders, indicating that both options represent the stakeholder interest very well. Since the final configuration of two out of three stakeholders chooses the submersed version, and the fact that a small perturbation in the input vector of the third stakeholder also results in the submersed version, it is concluded that this version represents stakeholder interests best.

With regards to the choice for a break-away coupling or a PERC for the final general configuration, the choice still falls to a break-away coupling. Since two out of three stakeholders included the break-away coupling in their final configuration. After this option, the PERC represents the interest of the stakeholders best.

The final configuration can be found in Table 6.3. A graphical representation of what such a configuration might look like in a terminal can be seen in Figure 6.3.

Table 6.3: Final configuration for the most viable bunker installation for ammonia for ports that handle sea-going vessels

Functions	Final Configuration		
Storing	FC		
Storing	Flat Bottom		
Conducting	Dry Rigid Pipe		
Actuating	Submersed		
Actualing	Canned Motor Pump		
Connecting	Suspended Hese		
(hose)	Suspended Hose		
Connecting	Beak Away Coupling		
(coupling)	Beak Away Coupling		
Bunker	Onshore		
Location	Onshore		
Substance Slin	Gas Detectors with ESD +		
Prevention	Water Spray System over		
	Leak-prone Objects		
Toxic Cloud	Water Curtain		
Mitigation			
Additional Spill	Bund Dyke +		
Containment	Carbon Nano-particles		
BOG Vapor			
Pressure	BOG Return Hose		
Equalisation			
Insulation	Vacuum Insulation		
Purging of	Inerting Sequence with		
Fuel Lines	Gas Separator		



Figure 6.3: Real life terminal [119], with locations of components from Table 6.3 indicated

6.5.1. Desired Flow Rate Estimation

Since the bunker installation will be part of a supply chain, it can be informative to estimate the maximum required flow rate of the system. Since SimOps is probably not possible when bunkering ammonia, the current waiting times in The Port of Rotterdam can provide an estimation of the available extra time for such an exclusive bunker operation, whilst not disturbing the supply chain. Combining this data with the tank size of the MSC Irina, a minimal flow rate can be estimated. The Port of Rotterdam published data about the waiting times for container vessels [120]. In Figure 6.4 data is presented about the number of ships that are waiting at a specific time for the five considered ports. In Figures 6.5 and 6.6 data is presented about the total days that all waiting ships combined have been waiting at a specific time about the longest waiting vessel at a given time, respectively.



Figure 6.4: Port Performance Data for five ports. Number of ships waiting at a specific time [120]



Figure 6.5: Port Performance Data for five ports. Total number of days waiting for all waiting ships combined at a specific time [120]



Figure 6.6: Port Performance Data for five ports. Longest waiting vessel at a specific time [120]

By combining data from Figures 6.4 and 6.5 an estimation can be made about how much a single ship is waiting at any given data point, i.e give insight into the average queue time for the considered ports. This queue time can then be used as an indication of the time a vessel would have to bunker fuel as an exclusive operation since this time would already be spent waiting. This data can optionally be corrected by subtracting the longest waiting ship to correct the average due to an outlier in the data. This should give a realistic estimation of waiting times over several Western European ports. The uncorrected and corrected data can be found in Figure 6.7 on the left and Figure 6.7 on the right, respectively.



Figure 6.7: Days a container vessel spends waiting on average in the considered ports at a given time for all data (left) and corrected by removing the longest waiting ship (right)

If the average of the data per port from Figure 6.7 is taken, an average waiting time can be estimated

for these ports. By taking the average of all four considered ports, a representative average of West-European ports can be found. This is done in Table 6.4.

Table 6.4: Number of days waiting per port averaged over all days and averaged over all ports. Both the uncorrected data and the data corrected by removing the longest waiting vessel

	Average waiting time	Corrected waiting time
Antwerpen	1.98	0.92
Bremerhaven	0.72	0.07
Hamburg	1.60	1.01
Rotterdam	1.50	1.16
Combined Average	1.45	0.79

The combined average from Table 6.4 gives an indication of the average available unallocated time a ship has in port due to queue times. This time is therefore available to be utilized for other purposes, such as performing an exclusive operation like bunkering ammonia. Therefore. this value sets a requirement for the maximum bunker time for the design. The flow rate of the system is required to be sufficient enough for the ship to bunker within a bunker time of 1.45 days, maximum. However, in the ideal case, the bunker time will not surpass 0.79 days.

Because of the unavailability of data about the exact tank size of the MSC Irina, an estimation is made with data from the CMA CGM Benjamin Franklin. This ship, which has 74% of the 24, 346 TEU capacity of the MSC Irina, carries 3.5 million gallons, or approximately 13, 249 m^3 of fuel oil [121]. For this calculation, it is assumed that ships will not have space available to accommodate the extra volume required for an equal amount of energy when using ammonia. Thus, only correcting for the lesser carrying capacity of the CMA CGM Benjamin Franklin with respect to the MSC Irina, a tank size of approximately 16,700 m^3 is found.

Thus, the submersed canned motor pumps of the proposed configuration would need a flow rate of $480 \ m^3/h$ to adhere to the uncorrected average waiting time, or $881 \ m^3/h$ to adhere to the corrected average waiting time. These flow rates are also suitable for The Port of Rotterdam, due to both waiting times being longer for this port. As could be seen in Section 3.2.3, these flow rates are within the capacity of these pumps. Furthermore, the Gate Terminal currently bunkers LNG at $1000 \ m^3/h$, further indicating that these flow rates are well within current possibilities.

6.5.2. Port Applicability

Even though the results are representative of terminals in the Port of Rotterdam, the expertise from the stakeholders does extrapolate to ports that handle sea-going vessels in general. There are several arguments that would support this conclusion. First, the fact that a stakeholder such as the Gate Terminal would come to a very similar result as two stakeholders that are specialised in ammonia, can indicate that a broader group of experts in bunkering will come to a similar result. Due to the noticeable difference in input vectors, and the subsequent similarity in results, in combination with the overall prioritisation of safety, it can be concluded that stakeholders in other ports will most likely not have vastly different configurations. This is further supported by the robustness of the results.

A separate argument for broader system viability, at least for ports situated in Western Europe, is given by the reasonable flow rates required to service the largest ships without disturbing the supply chain. The current average waiting times can be used to allow for exclusive ammonia bunkering at very manageable flow rates. This would mean that switching to ammonia is not likely to disturb current supply chain dependencies, which enables easier implementation of this new fuel.

Finally, there are specific requirements that can only be checked in a practical placement scenario, such as is done in the case study in Section 6. It is difficult to say if a configuration is generally viable for ports that handle sea-going vessels, without checking all ports individually and without performing
a quantitative risk assessment. However, because of the effectiveness of mitigation strategies and the safety assurances of the technologies that are available, the LSIR contour will shrink substantially. Therefore, the final configuration, and its associated risk, are expected to be viable for most ports that handle sea-going vessels.

6.6. Conclusions

This section will provide an overview of the findings of this chapter, as well as the answer to the fourth sub-question as stated at the beginning of this chapter.

Stakeholder input from three terminals located in The Port of Rotterdam was collected. The considered terminals were:

- 1. The Gate Terminal
- 2. The ACE Terminal
- 3. OCI N.V.

The input from these stakeholders generated three configurations of solutions which can be found in Figure 6.2. A sensitivity analysis was performed to gain insight into the robustness of the result. The result was found to be robust. Still, a small number of sensitive areas were identified around: bunker location, actuating, and purging of fuel lines.

Testing of the configurations was done to see if they adhere to the requirements and to see if there were no infeasible combinations. Both of these conditions were met, therefore it is concluded that the configurations are viable.

Finally, the results were discussed. This lead to the final configuration that can be found in Figure 6.3. The difference in configurations between stakeholders around a dry-installed or submersed canned motor pump was resolved in favour of the submersed version. Due to the sensitivity analysis resulting in the dry-installed canned motor pump choice of the ACE Terminal changing to the submersed version. Thus arguing that this option also represents their interests well. Furthermore, to come to unify configurations, it is opted to include the breakaway coupling in the final configuration. This is done because the general stakeholder interests are respected best with this configuration.

A maximum flow rate estimation was made to see what flow rates are required to serve the largest vessels that might use the bunker installation, while not disturbing the supply chain that the system is a part of. In order to utilize extra unallocated waiting time due to port delays, a maximum flow rate of $881 m^3/h$ is required. This is well within the possibilities of the desired actuating technology, and even below the current industry standard.

The broader applicability of the system is suggested due to several factors. The different areas of expertise of the stakeholders yield similar results. Other stakeholders will most likely prioritise safety as well, which means final configurations will not be vastly different. Finally, due to the effectiveness of mitigation strategies, LSIR contours will shrink substantially. Therefore, the final configuration, and its associated risk, are expected to be viable for most ports that handle sea-going vessels. Thus, an ammonia bunker installation that is viable for ports that handle sea-going vessels is configured.

Conclusion and Recommendations

In this chapter, first, the conclusion to the research is made by answering the research question in Section 7.1. Secondly, recommendations for future research are given in Section 7.2

7.1. Conclusion

This research is done to create a design for an ammonia bunker installation that is viable for ports that handle sea-going vessels. Because of the need for less polluting fuels for the shipping industry in order to adhere to the 2050 climate goals set by the IMO, ammonia is being put forward as a promising candidate for a zero-emission fuel. Ammonia is projected to make up 50% of the fuel mixture by 2050 as a possible path to adhere to these goals. However, there exist challenges that currently hinder the adoption of ammonia as a shipping fuel, bunkering ammonia is one of these challenges. It is determined that research into an ammonia bunker installation for ports that handle sea-going vessels can provide a good basis for gauging port readiness for the adoption of ammonia as a fuel, as well as provide a basis for further research into other existing challenges around the adoption of ammonia as a fuel. To design such an ammonia bunker installation, system functions and requirements are proposed, and solutions that fulfil these functions while adhering to the requirements are found. Subsequently. these solutions undergo objective analysis, followed by a subjective decision for three final configurations based on input from stakeholders from The Port of Rotterdam. After this configuration is tested and viability is proven, a single final, viable, configuration is proposed. With this, the sub-questions, and finally the research question can be answered.

1. What functions and requirements are associated with a bunker installation that is suitable for ammonia?

A bunker installation that is suitable for ammonia has the following operational functions: storing, conducting, actuating, and coupling. Furthermore, there are functions that are specific to the intended usage of ammonia, namely: Substance slip prevention, toxic cloud mitigation, spill containment, BOG vapour pressure equalisation, insulation of the system, and purging of fuel lines. Upon these functions, nine design requirements are imposed that were based on the intended use of ammonia and its characteristics. These requirements can be found in Section 2.4.

2 Which system functions and corresponding components can be used for an ammonia bunker installation that complies with the defined requirements?

By analysing the state of the art surrounding a mature technology, such as bunkering LNG, several standard practice solutions were found. Furthermore, by consulting literature, as well as experts, remaining suitable components to fulfil system functions were found. The system components that are found that comply with the defined requirements can be found in Figure 3.18.

3 Which model can be used for decision-making with respect to discovered bunker station components?

Several methods that are suitable to evaluate the bunker station components are found, such as morphological analysis and several MCDM methods. It is opted to use a MCDM method. This is done because a MCDM method circumvents researcher bias. The BWM is specifically chosen because it requires a small number of comparisons because it produces reliable results. Furthermore, its low computational time and lack of additional required software also make it desirable above the other MCDM methods.

4 What design criteria can be used to evaluate bunker station components and how do the selected system components perform on the defined design criteria?

The design criteria used to evaluate the bunker installation components are: cost, energy efficiency, safety, reliability, and bunker time. These criteria are chosen based on systems that are part of a supply chain, and common challenges around implementation of future fuels, as per The Port of Rotterdam. Finally, the resulting performance of the alternatives can be found in Table 5.13.

5 What design do stakeholders from a suitable port for sea-going vessels such as The Port of Rotterdam prefer, and is this configuration viable?

The results of the BWM analysis provided three individual configurations which are tested to be viable. This testing is done by checking for infeasible configurations, and by testing if requirements are respected. Finally, a general configuration is proposed. A sensitivity analysis showed confidence in the result and was further used to provide an argument to unify stakeholder configurations. The resulting final configuration can be found in Figure 6.3.

What design for an ammonia bunker installation is most viable for ports that handle sea-going vessels?

The answer to the research question is found by combining the answers to all sub-questions. A generally robust resulting configuration is found, with only two of twelve functions displaying sensitive results due to an order violation occurring. There are some differences between the stakeholders in the functions for actuating and coupling, but there is general consensus over most of the system components. The onshore situated final configuration can be found in Table 6.3.

Even though the results are representative of terminals in the Port of Rotterdam, the expertise from the stakeholders does extrapolate to ports that handle sea-going vessels in general. There are several arguments that would support this conclusion. First, the fact that stakeholders with different expertise come to a very similar result. This can indicate that a broader group of experts in bunkering will come to a similar result. Other experts can be expected to prioritise safety, but have different secondary priorities. This research pointed out that this does not produce vastly different configurations.

A separate argument for broader system viability for ports situated in Western Europe is given by the reasonable flow rates required to service the largest ships without disturbing the supply chain. It was pointed out that at sub $1000 \ m^3/h$ flow rates, bunkering of ammonia for the largest vessels can be done with current technologies within existing waiting times at port.

Finally, because of the effectiveness of mitigation strategies and the safety assurances of the technologies that are available, the LSIR contour is expected to be well manageable. Therefore, the final configuration, and its associated risk, are expected to be viable for most ports that handle sea-going vessels.

7.2. Recommendations

In this section, recommendations for future research will be discussed.

The first recommendation is to improve the ordinal analysis to a quantitative analysis. The ordinal analysis lacks nuance between the rankings. For example, if option A is better than option B with respect to a certain criterion, there is no information about how much option A is better than option B.

This remains a difficult problem due to the complexity and variability of the criterion score. For example, the CapEx of several components, such as pumps, will differ in model and maker. Furthermore, OpEx for components can depend on the current electricity price or on the cost to replace citric acid for scrubbers, for instance. However, performing a more detailed analysis of criteria to be able to include some form of nuance between the rankings will increase the quality of the outcome of the BWM analysis.

The second recommendation is to increase the amount of stakeholders in The Port of Rotterdam that are surveyed, this can increase the quality and robustness of the final result. Furthermore, the survey can be expanded to survey multiple ports. Even though the Port of Rotterdam is considered a representative port that handles sea-going vessels for this research, the inclusion of multiple ports could create more insight into the possibility of a generally viable design or indicate that the difference in interests between ports is too big to come to a general design. It can also be interesting to

As stated in the conclusion, it is believed that the configuration is a widely applicable one for ports that handle sea-going vessels. However, it is also stated that this will depend on the risk contours and the proximity to vulnerable objects in a specific port that handles sea-going vessels. Therefore, a quantitative risk assessment of the final configuration could offer more insight into this. If the specific LSIR contour of the configuration is known, definite conclusions on its viability for an arbitrary port that handles sea-going vessels can be drawn. Furthermore, a Hazard and Operability Study (HAZOP) and Hazard Identification (HAZID) can provide insight into abnormalities in the work environment and pinpoint their root causes, and provide management with information on any threats and hazards on the job site, respectively.

It is possible for new technologies to be able to be included in the model that is used for the BWM analysis. The p_{ij} matrix can be extended with new technology for a certain function. After analysis with respect to the criteria it can be included and considered as a possible outcome for the final configuration.

This research focused on a system design, not a detailed design. This is reflected in the inability to definitively answer requirement 9, as could be seen when testing the configuration in Section 6.4. Furthermore, several additional details such as: supply tank size, number of pumps, number of jetties and jetty geometry, can only be determined in such a detailed design. The final recommendation, therefore, is to create a detailed design to determine these characteristics, incorporating the proposed system components. Determining these characteristics could be based on a desired throughput requirement. This throughput could be based off of a projected number of future ammonia-powered ships at a certain port, for instance.



Paper

Design of an Ammonia Bunker Installation for Sea-going Vessels - A Best Worst Method Approach

P.C. Hofste^{*a*}, B.N. van Veldhuizen^{*b*}, M. Duinkerken^{*a*} and D.Schott^{*a*}

^a Section of Transport Engineering and Logistics, Delft University of Technology, Mekelweg 2, 2628CD Delft, The Netherlands. ^b Section Ship Design, Production and Operations, Delft University of Technology, Mekelweg 5, 2628 CD Delft, Netherlands

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Bunkering Ammonia Best Worst Method Sustainability Shipping

ABSTRACT

The use of petroleum-based fuels in the shipping sector creates harmful emissions that need to be reduced to reach climate goals. Ammonia is being considered as a possible fuel to reduce emissions, but there exist several challenges that prevent its implementation. Research into these several of these challenges is being done, but there is little research into the bunkering process of ammonia. Therefore, the purpose of this research is to identify an installation to bunker ammonia that is suitable for ports that handle sea-going vessels. In order to do this, requirements, functions and alternatives are proposed for this system. Subsequently, these alternatives are evaluated through an ordinal analysis and a decision is made on a configuration through the Best Worst Method (BWM). To do this, Stakeholders from the port of Rotterdam are surveyed and used as input for the BWM. A viable configuration is found that adheres to all requirements. Finally, it is concluded that the configuration is applicable to multiple ports due to the general prioritization of safety, robustness of the result and similar results between stakeholders with different secondary priorities. Furthermore, the effectiveness of mitigation strategies implies sufficiently small risk contours, to allow ports that are in close proximity to vulnerable objects to be able to build an ammonia bunker installation as well.

1. Introduction

Shipping contributes about 11% to the total CO_2 emissions of the transport sector, which totals around 2 - 3% of global CO_2 emissions [38]. This contribution can mostly be attributed to the use of polluting fuels currently in use by this sector. Petroleum-based fuels, currently make up 95% of the fuel mixture [20] These fuels produce massive amounts of sulphur oxides (SO_x) , nitrogen oxides (NO_x) , as well as carbon dioxide (CO_2) and particulate matter. According to the climate goals for 2050, these emissions are dangerous and need to be reduced drastically [26].

To accomplish this reduction in emissions, several future fuels are under consideration by the marine industry. It becomes clear that a quick-win is possible through the implementation of LNG, having the potential to cut on board SO_x , NO_x and particulate matter emissions by 90%, 80% and 100%, respectively, as well as reducing CO2 emissions by around 20% [7]. However, due to LNG still being a fossil fuel, it is not viable in the long run. Furthermore, the fourth Greenhouse Gas (GHG) study of the International Maritime Organisation (IMO) pointed out that the methane slip in combustion engines is larger than expected. Since methane is a strong GHG, the decrease in anthropogenic emissions is minimal [25]. Instead, hydrogen and ammonia are carbonfree hydrogen carriers that can potentially almost eliminate onboard emissions [50, 1, 3, 47, 53]. Furthermore, they can be produced through electrolysis, powered by renewables [36, 14]. Between these two future fuels, hydrogen is deemed infeasible for deep-sea shipping due to storage size and cost [8, 31]. Mærsk Mc-Kinney Møller Center for Zero Carbon Shipping (2022) expects ammonia to make up 50% of the fuel mixture for the shipping industry by 2050 [36],

thereby contributing to the realization of the 2050 climate goals.

Ammonia is not readily implementable as a fuel as of now. There exist significant challenges that prevent its implementation. These challenges are centred around four topics [36]:

- 1. Fuel storage, logistics and bunkering
- 2. Onboard fuel conversion
- 3. Onboard safety and fuel management
- 4. Regulations

The four challenges listed before need to be addressed for ammonia to become a viable fuel for the shipping industry. Research into several of these topics is being done. For instance, Percic et al. (2022) performed a Life-Cycle Analysis (LCA) and Life-Cycle Cost (LCCA) Analysis for ships with several conversion technologies and fuels. The implementation of blue ammonia in a Solid Oxide Fuel Cell (SOFC) leads to significant reductions in greenhouse gasses (65% - 72%) at an acceptable cost, which is 37% - 43%higher than that of a diesel power system. [40]. Cheliotis et al. (2021), reviewed the safe use of ammonia in fuel cells in the marine industry. They conclude that it is imperative to develop large-scale production infrastructures for green or blue ammonia. Furthermore, there is a clear need for the identification of the hazards and consequences of ammonia release [10]. Yadav et al. (2022) used Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) to look at ammonia dispersion onboard ship engine rooms to evaluate the safety of using ammonia as a marine fuel [54]. Aside from a few parties such as Duong et al. (2023) [15] who performed a safety review



Figure 1: Bunker Supply Chain, with the scope of this research in the dashed box

regarding ammonia bunkering, there is little research being done into ammonia bunkering.

The purpose of this research is to identify an installation to bunker ammonia that is viable for ports that handle seagoing vessels. The scope of this research encompasses part of the ammonia bunker supply chain for ammonia-fueled vessels. More precisely: the connection between a storage vessel which supplies an ammonia-powered ship with its fuel. This refers to the area in the dashed box in Figure 1.

In order to fulfil the purpose of this research, the following structure is proposed. First, a system description is given in Section 2. Then, an decision-making model is proposed in Section 3. The results of the research are proposed in Section 4, and will subsequently be discussed in Section 5. Finally, the conclusions of the research are proposed in Section 6.

2. System Description

This section explains what requirements and functions a bunkering system needs to fulfil, and of which possible components a bunkering station consists. In order to describe the system, requirements are proposed. These requirements can then be translated into functions of the bunkering system. Every function can be satisfied by different system components, which are called alternatives. To define the requirements, a basic bunker installation is analysed in Section 2.1. Subsequently, the operational requirements are translated into system functions and corresponding alternatives are proposed in Section 2.2. The same is done for the safety requirements in Section 2.3.

2.1. Requirements

A distinction between requirements is made: operational requirements and safety requirements. Operational requirements make the system technically operational, whereas safety requirements are imposed by the intended use of ammonia and its associated characteristics.

2.1.1. Operational Requirements

Figure 2 shows a schematic version of a basic bunkering system. Bunkering can be done in multiple ways, Ship to Ship (STS), Port to Ship (PTS) and Truck to Ship (TTS). These methods can be generally described as a storage vessel connected to another storage vessel via an impermanent con-



Figure 2: Basic Bunker System. The location of each operational function is labeled with its corresponding number

nection. This is graphically represented in Figure 2 The ship side of the system is not part of the scope of this research. Furthermore, the only bunker method excluded from this representation is Portable Tank Transfer (PTT). This method is considered to be inviable for the volumes of fuel needed for deep sea shipping and is therefore not further considered in this research [24]. From this figure, operational requirements are derived:

- 1. The system is required to be able to store a medium at the terminal side
- 2. The system is required to have piping in place to form a connection from the terminal to the ship side through which the medium can flow
- 3. The system is required to have a pump to actuate the medium in a controlled manner from the terminal side storage to the ship side storage
- 4. The system is required to have a detachable coupling between the terminal and ship side of the installation.

2.1.2. Safety Requirements

Ammonia is toxic and thus life-threatening in concentrations above 2700 ppm when exposed for 10 minutes or more [9], can form explosive mixtures with air between 15 - 28%[9], and is corrosive [9]. Furthermore, The energy density of ammonia is about 50% of LNG, which in turn has about 65%of the energy density of traditional Heavy Fuel Oil (HFO) [14, 2]. Therefore, it needs to be liquefied. This is done by lowering the temperature to $-33^{\circ}C$ instead of liquefaction through pressure because of better safety and higher energy density [4, 16]. Furthermore, this difference in temperature means liquid ammonia will start to boil, and thus evaporate, under the influence of heat that enters the system. This Boil Off Gas (BOG) increases pressure in the system because gaseous ammonia expands to 850 times its liquid volume [13]. This effect needs to be handled in the installation. Because of the aforementioned intended deep-sea application of ammonia, large vessels need to be able to use the bunker installation. Thus, the largest vessel currently in use, the MSC Irina with a Dead Weight Tonnage (DWT) of around 240,739 [34] needs to be able to use the installation. These characteristics associated with ammonia and

Design of an Ammonia Bunker Installation



Figure 3: Ammonia Safety Requirements

the resulting derivation of requirements are graphically represented in Figure 3. The ammonia safety requirements are defined as follows:

- 1. It is required to have exposure prevention and mitigation systems in place with the goal of mitigating the toxic hazard associated with ammonia, in case of an unintended release.
- 2. It is required to have a location that is suitable such that, in case of an unintended release, there are acceptable risks of exposure to surrounding structures, people and other vulnerable objects.
- 3. It is required that the bunker system is able to bunker the largest vessels in service. The largest vessel currently in service, the MSC Irina, has a Dead Weight Tonnage (DWT) of around 240, 739.
- 4. It is required that the materials used in the bunker system are able to withstand the corrosivity of ammonia.
- 5. It is required that there be systems and protocols in place that have the absolute goal of preventing an explosive mixture from forming.
- 6. It is required to have systems and protocols in place that have the absolute goal of preventing ammonia leakage into the atmosphere.
- 7. It is required that the bunker system is able to minimize the heat influx at all storage and transfer media in order to keep ammonia in its liquid form.
- 8. It is required that BOG and its consequent pressureincreasing effect is handled in the bunker system.
- 9. It is required that the flow velocity in the piping never exceeds the sonic velocity in liquid ammonia at 1,729m/s.

2.2. Operational Functions

The operational requirements from Section 2.1.1 are translated into four operational functions, their corresponding locations can be found in Figure 2. These operational functions are:

- 1. Storing
- 2. Conducting
- 3. Actuating
- 4. Connecting

The solutions that fulfil these functions, while complying with the requirements are described in the following sections.

2.2.1. Storage

There are three categories relevant for ammonia storage tanks: single containment, double containment and full containment [52]. The difference between these storage tanks is the ability to handle failures of the primary tank. For this research, pressure-ready bullet tanks and atmospheric flat-bottom tanks are considered. Bullet tanks do not have the same definition by codes, and the containment philosophies cannot be directly copied from atmospheric storage [49]. Therefore, basic containment safety requirements are copied to the bullet tanks for comparison purposes. Single containment offers no further containment than the primary tank, double containment offers liquid spillage containment without considering released ammonia gas, and full containment is able to store liquid and gas in case of a primary tank failure. Thus being able to remain operational [52]].

2.2.2. Conducting

The medium needs to be conducted within the system through pipes. Possible solutions for pipes are flexible or rigid piping. Furthermore, floating flexible piping can be used. Rigid piping is preferred for on-land applications due to the restricted movement of the pipes, but a flexible floating pipe could make a floating terminal much more practical.

2.2.3. Actuating

There are several pumps commercially available that can handle the characteristics of ammonia, as well as offer high enough flow rates. High enough is considered to be 1000 m^3/u , which is the LNG bunker flow rate at the Gate Terminal [18]. Three pump types that are suitable for ammonia are: mag-drive pumps, canned motor pumps,

and double mechanically sealed pumps, due to their hermetically sealed nature. These pumps can be dry-installed or submersed in the medium [30]. Canned motor pumps offer double containment, as opposed to mag-drive pumps which only have a single containment layer [22]. Double mechanically sealed pumps are initially less expensive than the mag drive and canned counterparts [43], but from canned motor designs to mag-drive, to mechanically sealed, the service life goes down respectively [17].

2.2.4. Connecting

Establishing a connection between the terminal side to the ship side of the system is a critical safety system because the impermanent connection is prone to human error and wear. This function consists of two parts, the connecting hose, and the coupling. Two options for the connecting hose are possible, a floating hose or a suspended hose. Concerning the coupling, three options are considered: the dry disconnect coupling, the break-away coupling and the Powered Emergency Release Coupling (PERC) [33]. These couplings all feature a system that prevents the ammonia from leaking when the coupling is released. The latter two feature systems that automatically disconnect in case of excess tensile stress, and the PERC is able to disconnect when an Emergency Shut-Down (ESD) button is pressed.

2.3. Safety Functions

The safety requirements from Section 2.1.2 are translated into the following seven safety functions:

- 1. Bunker location
- 2. Substance slip prevention
- 3. Toxic cloud mitigation
- 4. Spill containment
- 5. BOG vapour pressure equalisation
- 6. Insulation
- 7. Purging of fuel lines

The solutions that fulfil these functions, while complying with the requirements are described in the following sections. An overview of the discovered solutions can be found in Figure 5 in the appendix.

2.3.1. Bunker location

The bunker locations that are handled in this research are dictated by the intended end user: Ships. Specifically, where ships can sail in order to receive the bunker fuel. Namely, at the quay, near the quay but not fully docked, or not near a quay. Hereafter referred to as onshore-, nearshore-, and offshore bunkering. Onshore bunkering offers solid ground to build on providing more available space and stability. Nearshore bunkering prevents relative motion between the bunker vessel and the jetty and offers little restriction on the orientation of the bunker vessel. Furthermore, a nearshore system is not bounded by the quay depth. Offshore bunkering is independent of port-side facilities and away from port traffic. This comes at the cost of vulnerability to weather and increased supply complexity.

2.3.2. Substance slip prevention

Substance slip can be prevented by the use of gas detectors coupled to an ESD, or a passive water spray system over the bunker manifold and other leak-prone objects. The gas detectors can prevent large amounts of substance slip by shutting down the installation or closing specific valves when ammonia is detected. A water spray system can leverage the solubility of ammonia in water to prevent vapours in the air around leak-prone objects. Furthermore, leaks could be detected by monitoring wastewater from this system.

2.3.3. Toxic cloud mitigation

Mitigating toxic clouds in case of an unintended release is very important to ensure safety. Three strategies are proposed: overpressurisation, a mesh barrier and a water curtain. Ksenia et al. (2021) showed that through the internal overpressurisation of the insides of a ship, sufficient protection against potential ammonia hazards could be offered [29], and this could be leveraged to protect buildings near an ammonia bunker installation. The working principle of a mesh barrier is through the reduction of vortices downstream, thus increasing the concentration of ammonia on the ground surface [5], thus preventing long-distance migration of a toxic cloud. The operating principle of a water curtain is to leverage the reactivity of ammonia with water. This leads to the cloud being absorbed by the water and falling to the ground. This system is reported to have a possible reduction percentage as high as 90% at 10m behind the release location [12].

2.3.4. Spill containment

Spill containment is incorporated in double- and full containment levels inside storage tanks. Though, it is possible to have additional spill containment. This comes in the form of a bund dyke that is able to contain the storage tank volume. The addition of modified carbon nano-particles to an ammonia pool in, the dyke area around compromised storage, can reduce the threat zone by 50% [37].

2.3.5. BOG vapour pressure equalisation

BOG pressure can be handled by the use of three systems: the BOG return hose, a vent with a scrubber to relieve excess pressure, or pressure can be relieved by rerouting it to a buffer tank. A BOG return hose is able to form a closed system, where excess pressure is relieved without the need for pumps back to the storage. The vent with a scrubber can relieve pressure without the need to add storage tanks or extra connections. Since ammonia needs to be gaseous to be used as a fuel [19], the buffer tank can serve as an expansion tank, as well as a pressure relief system.

2.3.6. Insulation

Two considered options to insulate the system are mechanical and vacuum insulation. Vacuum seals can generally create a better insulating layer for a smaller diameter of piping, even up to 20 times as much as fibre or foam solutions [51], but are generally much more expensive than mechanical insulation. However, mechanical insulation is prone to degradation [11].

2.3.7. Purging of fuel lines

To prevent explosive mixtures, as well as preventing ammonia from spilling from fuel lines, a purging sequence is required for ammonia bunker installations [21]. A solution is needed that handles the vented gases because they cannot be vented into the atmosphere. This can be done with a scrubber on the vent, or by redirecting the gas mixture to a buffer tank that is connected to a gas separator. These scrubbers are only around 90.12% effective [28], and require refilling of the medium. Gas separation units can be costly to install and use.

3. Methodology

In the previous section, research into bunker installations that handle liquefied gases is done. With this information, system requirements, system functions, and solutions adhering to those requirements are proposed. In this section, these solutions are evaluated based on design criteria, which are proposed in Section 3.2, by means of an ordinal analysis, in Section 3.3. This analysis is combined with stakeholder input from the Port of Rotterdam, discussed in Section 3.4, to perform a Best Worst Method (BWM) analysis. In this analysis, stakeholders are asked to evaluate the relative importance of the design criteria. Subsequently, the results undergo a sensitivity analysis, are checked for infeasible combinations, and testing of the requirements is done. When this is done, the results are unified in a final configuration.

3.1. Model Description

Several Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) methods exist that use subjective weighing of design criteria by experts, such as the analytical hierarchical process (AHP), and the analytical network process (ANP) [48]. This use of subjective weighing is preferred because it circumvents researcher bias. Because it is desired to perform decision-making through stakeholder input, a straightforward and consistent survey is required. The simplicity of the survey for the decision maker is desirable to ensure more reliable results. With BWM it is possible to ensure survey results of sufficient quality with a low number of comparisons. Moreover, the consistency of the stakeholder input can be quickly evaluated. Additionally, the low computational time required to perform the BWM and the lack of additionally required software led to the BWM being chosen for the purposes of this research.

3.1.1. The Best Worst Method

The BWM, proposed by J. Rezaei (2015) [44], can solve discrete MCDM problems, which can be generally formulated as follows:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 & c_2 & \cdots & c_n \\ a_1 & p_{11} & p_{12} & \cdots & p_{1n} \\ p_{21} & p_{22} & \cdots & p_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ p_{m1} & p_{m2} & \cdots & p_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1)

where $\{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_m\}$ is a set of feasible alternatives and $\{c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n\}$ is a set of decision-making criteria. The values for p_{ij} correspond to the relative value for the criterion *j* with respect to the alternative *i*. These are the values which are later determined by means of an ordinal analysis. With these values, the best alternative *i* with the highest value V_i for a specific function can be found. This is done with Equation (2)

$$V_i = \sum_{j=1}^n w_j p_{ij} \tag{2}$$

Where:

$$w_j \ge 0, \sum w_j = 1 \tag{3}$$

In Equations (2) and (3), the values for $w = \{w_1, w_2, \dots, w_n\}$ correspond to the weights associated with the importance of each criterion.

Instead of determining all relative values of all criteria, the BWM starts by determining the best (most important) criterion and the worst (least important) criterion. Subsequently, the preference of the best criterion over all the other criteria, and the preference of the other criteria over the worst criterion is determined. These preferences are allocated a number between 1 and 9. Resulting in the Best-to-Others and Others-to-Worst vectors, respectively:

$$B_B = (b_{B1}, b_{B2}, \cdots, b_{Bn}) \tag{4}$$

$$B_{W} = (b_{1W}, b_{2W}, \cdots, b_{Wn})^{T}$$
(5)

where $b_{BB} = 1$, and $b_{WW} = 1$.

Finally, to calculate the optimal weights w_j^* and ξ^* , with '*' denoting the optimal value, the following problem can be solved:

min ξ

s.t.

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{w_B}{w_j} - b_{Bj} \right| &\leq \xi, \ \forall j \\ \left| \frac{w_j}{w_W} - b_{jW} \right| &\leq \xi, \ \forall j \\ \sum_j w_j &= 1 \\ w &\geq 0, \ \forall j \end{aligned}$$
(6)

Finally, to ensure the quality of the assessment of the weights w_j , a high consistency is desired. To determine the consistency of a BWM analysis, a Consistency Ratio (CR) is proposed, as follows:

$$Consistency \ Ratio = \frac{\xi^*}{Consistency \ Index}$$
(7)

where *Consistency Ratio* \in [0, 1], values close to 0 are more consistent, while values close to 1 are less consistent. To calculate the consistency index the the consistency ratio needs to be determined, this is found through the following equation:

$$\xi^2 - (1 + 2b_{BW})\xi + (b_{BW}^2 - b_{BW}) = 0$$
(8)

Solving Equation (8) for different values for b_{BW} , the maximum value for ξ can be found. This value is used as the consistency index. With the solutions for (2) known for each function, and the solution of (7) as a measure of the quality of the pairwise comparison, a decision for the best alternative can be made.

3.2. Design Criteria

Design criteria are based on important parameters that are involved in a bunker process that is part of a supply chain and implementation of a new fuel [27, 41]. This leads to an emphasis on reducing cost, having a reliable installation and minimizing bunker time. Additionally, energy efficiency is important from a sustainability point of view. Finally, safety must be guaranteed. Thus, the design criteria are:

- Cost
- Energy Efficiency
- Safety
- Reliability
- Bunker Time

3.3. Ordinal Analysis

In order to find the values for p_{ij} in Equation (1), an ordinal analysis of the alternatives is performed. For each function, the alternatives are evaluated for each of the design criteria, and a ranking with respect to these design criteria is allocated. Below, as an example, the analysis for the function connecting (coupling) is shown. The same analysis is done for all functions and alternatives. The full analysis derivation can be found in Hofste (2023) [39]. The full results of the analysis can be found in the appendix in Table 4.

Connecting (coupling)

Cost

Since the dry disconnect coupling is a simpler version of the breakaway coupling, which in turn is a simpler version of the PERC, Capital Expenditure (CapEx) also goes down with increasing simplicity. CapEx, as opposed to Operational Expenditure (OpEx), is assumed to be the dominant cost factor due to the similarity of the use case, and thus requirements for maintenance. However, there is a distinction when comparing breakaway couplings and PERCs to dry disconnect couplings. This distinction is that there is no protocol in place for the dry disconnect coupling in case of excessive motion. This means that damage to the installation will follow such a scenario. In the case of the other two options, there is only a connector bolt replacement required.

Energy Efficiency

The dry disconnect coupling, as well as the breakaway coupling, do not use any energy. The PERC, however, does use energy to force the coupling to disconnect in the case of an emergency.

Safety

The safety of the couplings increases with increased complexity. All three alternatives are designed to be leak free when the coupling is disconnected. Only the breakaway coupling and PERC are designed to release in case of excessive tensile stress on the hose. Finally, only the PERC is designed to disconnect in case of an ESD button being pressed, and can therefore be considered to be safer than the breakaway coupling.

Reliability

The fact that a dry disconnect coupling can potentially damage the installation in case of excessive tensile stress on the hose means it can cause serious calamity to the terminal. Because the PERC is in connection to the ESD and manual override systems, it will always disconnect in case of an emergency. This can potentially cause downtime in case of a human error or false alarm. Resetting this coupling can cause extra unwanted downtime, a passive breakaway coupling does not have this problem.

Bunker Time

There is no discernible distinction in the complexity, possible flow or procedure when comparing these three couplings.

Overview

The above-mentioned findings have been summarized in Table 1.

3.4. Stakeholder Survey

Input from three stakeholders in the Port of Rotterdam is used to create the final input to execute the BWM. Input from these stakeholders is used to generate weights which can be used in Equation (2), to generate alternative scores. The

Table 1

 p_{ij} values for the means that fulfil the function: Connecting (coupling). EE denotes Energy Efficiency, BT denotes Bunker Time

	Cost	EE	Safety	Reliability	вт
Dry Disconnect	3	2	1	1	1
breakaway	2	2	2	3	1
PERC	1	1	3	2	1

Table 2

Optimal weights based on the survey results of each respondent. EE denotes Energy Effieciency, BT denotes Bunker Time, CR denotes Consistency Ratio

Resp.	Cost	EE	Safety	Reliability	вт	CR	Accept (y/n)
Gate Terminal	0.182	0.0909	0.409	0.273	0.0455	0.232	у
ACE Terminal	0.228	0.152	0.400	0.0690	0.152	0.200	У
OCI NV	0.0520	0.141	0.587	0.141	0.0784	0.222	у

considered stakeholders are: The Gate Terminal, the ACE Terminal and OCI N.V. These stakeholders are chosen due to their expertise in bunkering or their expertise considering the handling of ammonia. The survey that is used is based on J. Rezaei (2015) [44]. The final derivation of the weights is done through the linear model provided by J. Rezaei (2016) [45] and its results can be found in Table 2.

4. Results

From the analysis, it became clear that there are many similarities between the configurations of stakeholders. All three stakeholders selected safety as their most important criterion, and all three chose different least important criteria. Bunker time, reliability and cost, respectively. These factors, alongside the different weights and the results from the ordinal analysis, resulted in final configurations that differed only in a submerged or dry-installed version of the canned motor pump for the actuation function, and the breakaway coupling or the PERC for the connecting (coupling) function. Where, both the Gate and ACE terminals opted for a breakaway coupling, as opposed to the PERC for OCI. Additionally, both the Gate Terminal and OCI opted for a submersed canned motor pump, whereas the ACE terminal opted for a dry canned motor pump.

Due to the complex relationships that result in the final scores of the alternatives, it is difficult to say if a small difference in the final score indicates that it is a close choice. In other words, if a close final score meant a small difference in the Best-to-Others and Others-to-Worst vectors from Vectors (4) and (5), respectively. Based on Muzarek et. al (2021), by looking at the influence of small variations in the aforementioned vectors, insight into the robustness of the final configuration can be found [35]. Here, attention is also paid if an order violation occurs, meaning a different alternative becomes the best alternative. For this research, the occurrence of an order violation following a

Table 3

The final configuration for the most viable bunker installation for ammonia.

Functions	Final Configuration				
Storing	FC				
Storing	flat-bottom				
Conducting	Dry Rigid Pipe				
A	Submersed				
Actuating	Canned Motor Pump				
Connecting	Suspended Hose				
(hose)	Suspended Hose				
Connecting	Beak Away Coupling				
(coupling)	Deak Away Coupling				
Bunker	Onshore				
Location	Olishore				
Substance Slin	Gas Detectors with ESD +				
Drevention	Water Spray System over				
revention	Leak-prone Objects				
Toxic Cloud	Water Curtain				
Mitigation	Water Curtain				
Additional Spill	Bund Dyke +				
Containment	Carbon Nano-particles				
BOG Vapor					
Pressure	BOG Return Hose				
Equalisation					
Insulation	Vacuum Insulation				
Purging of	Inerting Sequence with				
Fuel Lines	Gas Separator				

small change in Vectors (4) and (5) is interpreted as the new best alternative lying close to the interests of the stakeholder.

The results of the sensitivity analysis led to the possibility to unify the results into the final configuration as seen in Table 3. Due to the closeness in stakeholder interest for the submersed canned motor pump and the majority of stakeholders preferring the breakaway coupling, these two components were included.

5. Discussion

To ensure the feasibility of the resulting configuration, infeasible combinations must be removed if they are present. To test the viability of the resulting configuration, it must be checked if none of the requirements are violated. These two tests are executed in this section. Finally, the results are further interpreted.

5.1. Infeasible Combinations

There are several solutions that are infeasible to combine. These combinations need to be identified. These combinations are used to evaluate the final configuration on feasibility, and if needed, adapted to become feasible. To do this, the component overview in Figure 5 is analysed.

The selection of a flat-bottom tank, for instance, does not combine with an offshore design. Due to the size and weight of the storage technology, it is highly impractical to install this on any offshore installation. Therefore, in an offshore design, bullet tanks are used instead of flat-bottom tanks. Secondly, the selection of an onshore design will restrict the usage of floating pipes. It could still be possible for the connecting pipes from the terminal side to the ship side to be floating pipes, but it is not possible for the conducting pipes of a land-based installation to be floating. Thirdly, the selection of an inerting sequence with a gas separator is considered infeasible for an offshore bunker installation due to its size. These combinations do not occur in any of the stakeholder configurations.

5.2. Requirement Testing

There are several requirements that are inherently adhered to because the selected components fulfil these requirements. These requirements are 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8. Requirements 2 and 3 are location-specific requirements that will require further investigation.

Both the Gate Terminal and the ACE Terminal, are located on the Maasvlakte. The Maasvlakte II, which is still partially under construction, will offer more surface area for the development of extra port facilities, such as future ammonia terminals. This location offers a large distance from neighbouring cities and dwellings and direct access to the North Sea. It is desirable to have as much distance as possible between vulnerable objects, in order to satisfy Location Specific Individual Risk (LSIR) contours. Furthermore, the direct access to the North Sea means that larger ships can bunker directly at the proposed bunker installation, thus not restricting the use of the installation to just bunker barges.

The closest cities to the Maasvlakte II, are Hoek van Holland and Oostvoorne. Both can be seen in Figure 4. These two cities are 4.32km and 6.25km, respectively, measured from the area that will become the Maasvlakte II. The Port of Amsterdam (2021) in their study, defined a 10⁻⁶ LSIR contour around a bunker operation concerning refrigerated ammonia to be 427 meters [23]. In this contour, there can be no vulnerable objects such as dwellings and residential areas. Furthermore, the focus area as defined by this same study, provides an area with a radius of 2624m in which people are insufficiently protected indoors against the consequences of accidents involving hazardous substances, without additional measures. The focus area is not restrictive on development, but indicative for relevant authorities to state what measures are sufficient to protect persons. Since both of these distances are smaller than the closest populated area, the Maasvlakte II is deemed as being sufficient for requirement 2.

The depth of the fairways to the Maasvlakte II from the Noordzee, as can be seen in Figure 4, is between 23m NAP to 24m NAP [42]. This means that classes of ships that have a Dead Weight Tonnage (DWT) of 300,000 can safely pass into the port since their average draught is around 20m [6]. Since the DWT of the MSC Irina is around 240,739

[32], it should be able to reach the proposed installation. If this is undesirable due to other influences, it can still be serviced by bunker barges. Thus satisfying requirement 3.

Requirement 9, the requirement not to exceed the sonic velocity of ammonia in the piping, depends on a balance between pipe diameter and pump flow rate. From this research, it became clear that the flow rate of pumps is trivial. This is due to the fact that a set of multiple pumps, or a single large pump can produce virtually any flow rate. Certainly exceeding current $1000m^3/h$ LNG flow rates in the Gate Terminal that are used to fill bunker barges. Therefore this requirement remains a design specification of the system to be kept in mind when moving to a more detailed design.

Even though the results represent a configuration that is based on stakeholders from The Port of Rotterdam, broader applicability is suggested due to several conclusions. First, the fact that a stakeholder such as the Gate Terminal would come to a very similar result as two stakeholders that are specialised in ammonia, can indicate that a broader group of experts in bunkering will come to a similar result. Due to the noticeable difference in input vectors, and the subsequent similarity in results, in combination with the overall prioritisation of safety, it can be concluded that stakeholders in other ports will most likely not have vastly different configurations. This is further supported by the robustness of the results. It is difficult to say if a configuration is generally viable for ports that handle sea-going vessels, without checking all ports individually and without performing a quantitative risk assessment. However, because of the effectiveness of mitigation strategies and the safety assurances of the technologies that are available, the LSIR contour will shrink substantially. Therefore, the final configuration, and its associated risk, are expected to be viable for most ports that handle sea-going vessels.

6. Conclusion

Ammonia as a shipping fuel is not readily implementable as of now, and several challenges remain. Little research has been published on the bunkering of ammonia. Challenges around handling the toxic and explosive characteristics of ammonia are identified. Furthermore, the lower energy density of ammonia when compared to other hydrocarbon fuels imposes challenges around liquefaction and flow rate. Therefore, the purpose of this research is to identify an installation to bunker ammonia that is suitable for ports that handle sea-going vessels.

To accomplish this, requirements, functions, and alternatives for such a system are proposed. Next, a BWM analysis is performed to decide on a final configuration. The BWM uses an ordinal analysis of the alternatives with respect to design criteria, as well as stakeholder input from the Port of Rotterdam. This leads to a resulting configura-

Design of an Ammonia Bunker Installation



Figure 4: A map of the Port of Rotterdam, including different designated areas. The striped areas on the left side denote the unfinished Maasvlakte II [46]

tion that is similar between stakeholders. The remaining differences are unified into a final configuration which is deemed viable. Viability is ensured through testing of the requirements.

A viable configuration for an ammonia bunker installation for ports that handle seagoing vessels is found, see Table 3. This configuration is based on stakeholders from The Port of Rotterdam. However, broader applicability is suggested due to several factors. The different areas of expertise of the stakeholders yield similar results. Other stakeholders will most likely prioritise safety as well, which means final configurations will not be vastly different. Finally, due to the effectiveness of mitigation strategies, LSIR contours will shrink substantially. Therefore, the final configuration, and its associated risk, are expected to be viable for most ports that handle sea-going vessels. Thus, an ammonia bunker installation that is viable for ports that handle sea-going vessels is configured.

Appendix

The following section shows the complete overview of all discovered solutions to the proposed functions in Figure 5, as well as the complete results of the ordinal analysis in Table 4.

References

- Afif, A., Radenahmad, N., Cheok, Q., Shams, S., Kim, J.H., Azad, A.K., 2016. Ammonia-fed fuel cells: a comprehensive review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 60, 822–835. URL: https: //linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1364032116001611, doi:10. 1016/j.rser.2016.01.120.
- [2] Aronietis, R., Sys, C., van Hassel, E., Vanelslander, T., 2016. Forecasting port-level demand for LNG as a ship fuel: the case of the port of Antwerp. Journal of Shipping and Trade 1,
 2. URL: http://jshippingandtrade.springeropen.com/articles/10. 1186/s41072-016-0007-1, doi:10.1186/s41072-016-0007-1.
- [3] Atilhan, S., Park, S., El-Halwagi, M.M., Atilhan, M., Moore, M., Nielsen, R.B., 2021. Green hydrogen as an alternative fuel for the shipping industry. Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering 31, 100668. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S221133982030071X, doi:10.1016/j.coche.2020.100668.
- [4] Bartels, J.R., 2008. A feasibility study of implementing an Ammonia Economy. Master of Science. Iowa State University, Digital Repository. Ames. URL: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/11132/, doi:10.31274/etd-180810-1374. pages: 2807317.
- [5] Barzegar Gerdroodbary, M., Mokhtari, M., Bishehsari, S., Fallah, K., 2016. Mitigation of Ammonia Dispersion with Mesh Barrier under Various Atmospheric Stability Conditions. Asian Journal of Atmospheric Environment 10, 125–136. URL: http://koreascience. or.kr/journal/view.jsp?kj=E1DGC9&py=2016&vnc=v10n3&sp=125, doi:10. 5572/ajae.2016.10.3.125.
- [6] Bulk Carrier Guide, 2023. Various bulk carrier sizes and employment guide. URL: https://bulkcarrierguide.com/size-range.html.
- [7] Burel, F., Taccani, R., Zuliani, N., 2013. Improving sustainability of maritime transport through utilization of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) for propulsion. Energy 57, 412–420. URL: https: //linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360544213003861, doi:10. 1016/j.energy.2013.05.002.

Design of an Ammonia Bunker Installation

FUNCTIONS			ME	ANS		
Storing	Single Containment (Flat bottom Design)	Single Containment (Bullet Design)	Double Containment (Flat bottom Design)	Double Containment (Bullet Design)	Full Containment (Flat bottom Design)	Full Containment (Bullet Design)
Conducting	Dry Rigid Pipe	Dry Flexible Pipe	Floating Flexible Pipe			
Actuating	Dry Mechanically Sealed Pump	Submersed Mechanically Sealed Pump	Dry Mag-drive Pump	Submersed Mag-drive Pump	Dry Canned Motor Pump	Submersed Canned Motor Pump
Connecting (hose)	Suspended Hose	Floating Hose				
Connecting (coupling)	Dry Disconnect Coupling	Break Away Coupling	Powered Emergency Release Coupling			
Bunker Location	Onshore	Nearshore	Offshore			
Substance Slip Prevention	Gas Detectors with ESD	Water Spray System over Leak-prone Areas	Gas Detectors with ESD + Water Spray System over Leak-prone Areas			
Toxic Cloud Mitigation	Mesh Barrier	Water Curtain	Overpressurisation	Mesh Barrier + Overpressurisation	Water Curtain + Overpressurisation	
Additional Spill Containment	None	Bund Dyke	Bund Dyke + Modified Carbon Nanoparticles			
BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	BOG Return Hose	Relieve Gas in Buffer Tank	Vent with Scrubber			
Insulation	Mechanically Insulated	Vacuum Insulated				
Purging of Fuel Lines	Inerting Sequence with Scrubber	Inerting Sequence with Gas Separator				

Figure 5: Overview that displays the derived functions under "functions", and discovered solutions under "means" for a bunker installation for refrigerated liquid ammonia.

Design of an Ammonia Bunker Installation

Table 4

Overview of the results of the ordinal analysis.

		Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
Conducting	Dry Rigid Pipe	3	3	3	3	3
-	Dry Flexible Pipe	2	2	2	2	2
	Floating Flexible Pipe	1	1	1	1	1
Actuating	Dry Mechanically Sealed Pump	4	1	1	1	4
	Submersed Mechanically Sealed Pump	1	2	2	2	3
	Dry Mag-drive Pump	6	3	3	3	4
	Submersed Mag-drive Pump	3	5	4	4	3
	Dry Canned Motor Pump	5	4	5	5	2
	Submersed	2	6	6	6	1
	Canned Motor Pump	2	0	0	0	1
Connecting (hose)	Suspended Hose	2	2	2	2	2
. ,	Floating Hose	1	1	1	1	1
Connecting	Dry Disconnect	2	h	1	1	1
(coupling)	Coupling	3	2	1	1	1
	Beak Away Coupling	2	2	2	3	1
	PERC	1	1	3	2	1
Bunker Location	Onshore	3	3	3	2	1
	Nearshore	2	2	2	3	3
	Ottshore	1	1	1	1	2
Storing	SC Flat bottom	6	2	1	1	1
	SC Bullet	3	1	2	2	1
	DC Flat Bottom	5	2	4	1	1
	DC Bullet	2	1	3	2	1
Substance Slip	FC Flat Bottom	4	4	6 F	3	1
	FC Bullet	1	3	5	3	1
Substance Slip Prevention	Gas Detectors with ESD	2	2	2	1	1
	Water Spray System over Leak-prone Objects	3	1	1	2	1
	Combination of the Two Systems	1	1	3	2	1
Toxic Cloud Mitigation	Mesh Barrier	5	5	1	5	1
	Water Curtain	4	4	4	4	1
	Overpressurisation	3	2	2	1	1
	Mesh Barrier +	2	3	3	2	1
	Overpressurisation					
	Overpressurisation	1	1	5	3	1
Additional Spill Containment	None	3	0	1	1	1
	Bund Dyke	2	0	2	2	1
	Bund Dyke + Carbon Nano-particles	1	0	3	3	1
Insulation	Mechanical Insulation	2	1	1	1	1
	Vacuum Insulation	1	2	2	2	2
BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	BOG Retrun Hose	3	3	3	3	3
1	Relieve Gas in Buffer Tank	2	1	2	2	1
	Vent with Scrubber	1	2	1	1	2
Purging of Fuel Lines	Inerting Sequence with Scrubber	2	2	1	0	1
	Inerting Sequence with Gas Separator	1	1	2	1	1

- [8] Campfire, 2023. NH3. URL: https://wir-campfire.de/en/nh3-parttwo/.
- [9] Centers for Disease Control, 2021. Ammonia Solution, Ammonia, Anhydrous: Lung Damaging Agent | NIOSH | CDC. URL: https: //www.cdc.gov/niosh/ershdb/emergencyresponsecard_29750013.html.
- [10] Cheliotis, M., Boulougouris, E., Trivyza, N.L., Theotokatos, G., Livanos, G., Mantalos, G., Stubos, A., Stamatakis, E., Venetsanos, A., 2021. Review on the Safe Use of Ammonia Fuel Cells in the Maritime Industry. Energies 14, 3023. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/14/11/3023, doi:10.3390/en14113023. number: 11 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [11] Curtis, J.J., 2007. Vacuum-Insulated Pipe vs. Conventional Foam-Insulated Pipe, OnePetro. URL: https://onepetro.org/OTCONF/ proceedings-abstract/070TC/All-070TC/36207, doi:10.4043/18701-MS.
- [12] Dandrieux, A., Dusserre, G., Ollivier, J., Fournet, H., 2001. Effectiveness of water curtains to protect firemen in case of an accidental release of ammonia: comparison of the effectiveness for two different release rates of ammonia. Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries 14, 349–355. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0950423001000213, doi:10.1016/S0950-4230(01) 00021-3.
- [13] Department Of Agriculture, Physical & Chemical Properties of Anhydrous Ammonia | Minnesota Department of Agriculture. URL: https://www.mda.state.mn.us/physical-chemicalproperties-anhydrous-ammonia. last Modified: Wed, 12/08/2021 -09:43.
- [14] DNV-GL, 2019. Comparison of Alternative Marine Fuels. SEA\LNG Ltd. Environment Advisory. Norway. URL: https://safety4sea.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/SEA-LNG-DNV-GL-Comparison-of-Alternative-Marine-Fuels-2019_09.pdf.
- [15] Duong, P.A., Ryu, B.R., Song, M.K., Nguyen, H.V., Nam, D., Kang, H., 2023. Safety Assessment of the Ammonia Bunkering Process in the Maritime Sector: A Review. Energies 16, 4019. URL: https:// www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/16/10/4019, doi:10.3390/en16104019. number: 10 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [16] Ekinci, M.S., Akman, A., 2022. The effect of storage temperature on threat zone caused by an ammonia release from a storage tank. Hittite Journal of Science and Engineering URL: https://dergipark.org.tr/ en/doi/10.17350/HJSE19030000263, doi:10.17350/HJSE19030000263.
- [17] Feldle, D.G., 2022. Vertical submersible pumps in the chemical and petrochemical industry. TECHNICAL REPORT .
- [18] Gate Terminal, 2022. LNG Carrier Master's Marine Services Manual. Technical Report. URL: https://www.gateterminal.com/wpcontent/uploads/2020/12/GT-COM-WEBSITE-MASTER-MARINE-SERVICE-MANUAL-version-December-2020.pdf.
- [19] George Thomas, George Parks, 2006. Potential Roles of Ammonia in a Hydrogen Economy .
- [20] Global Maritime Forum, Maersk Mc-Kinney Moller Center, Maritime Decarbonisation, 2023. The shipping industry's fuel choices on the path to net zero. URL: https: //www.globalmaritimeforum.org/content/2023/04/the-shippingindustrys-fuel-choices-on-the-path-to-net-zero_final.pdf.
- [21] Haram, H.K., 2021. Ammonia as a Marine Fuel Safety Handbook .
- [22] Hayes Pump, inc, 2023. Canned Motor vs. Magnetic Drive Pumps: Key Differences - Hayes Pump. URL: https://blog.hayespump.com/ blog/canned-motor-vs-magnetic-drive.
- [23] Henri van der Weide, 2021. External safety study bunkering of alternative marine fuel for seagoing vessels URL: https://www.portofamsterdam.com/sites/default/files/2021-11/DNV%20POA%20%20Final%20Report_External%20safety%20study% 20-%20bunkering%20of%20alternative%20marine%20fuels%20for% 20seagoing%20vessels_Rev0_2021-04-19.pdf.
- [24] Hofste, P.C., 2022. Bunkering of Future fuels , 27.
- [25] IMO, 2020. Fourth Greenhouse Gas Study 2020. URL: https://www.imo.org/en/ourwork/Environment/Pages/Fourth-IMO-Greenhouse-Gas-Study-2020.aspx.
- [26] IMO, 2022. IMO's work to cut GHG emissions from ships. URL: https://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/HotTopics/Pages/Cutting-GHG-

emissions.aspx.

- [27] ISCEA EMEA, 2018. CONSIDERATIONS FOR SUPPLY CHAIN NETWORK DESIGN. URL: https://www.iscea-emea.com/post/ considerations-for-supply-chain-network-design.
- [28] Jamaludin, Z., Rollings-Scattergood, S., Lutes, K., Vaneeckhaute, C., 2018. Evaluation of sustainable scrubbing agents for ammonia recovery from anaerobic digestate. Bioresource Technology 270, 596–602. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0960852418312446, doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2018.09.007.
- [29] Ksenia, Zakariyya, 2021. Ammonia Bunkering Of Passenger Vessel Concept Quantitative Risk Assessment. Technical Report 2021-0205, Rev. 0. DNV. URL: https://grontskipsfartsprogram.no/wp-content/ uploads/2021/07/Ammonia-bunkering-of-passenger-vessel-Conceptquantitative-risk-assessment.pdf.
- [30] Lederle Hermetic, 2022. Product-information TCN TCAM E-Line.
- [31] Mandra, J.O., 2022. DNV: Hydrogen likely to have limited uptake in deep-sea shipping. URL: https://www.offshore-energy.biz/dnvhydrogen-likely-to-have-limited-uptake-in-deep-sea-shipping/.
- [32] Marine Insight, 2023. Ship CMA CGM JACQUES SAADE (Container Ship) Registered in France - Vessel details, Current position and Voyage information - IMO 9839179, MMSI 228386700, Call Sign FLZE | AIS Marine Traffic. URL: https://www.marinetraffic.com/en/ais/details/ships/shipid: 6151063/mmsi:228386700/imo:9839179/vessel:CMACGMJAC0UESSAADE.
- [33] Marine Service Noord, 2023. Cryogenic bunker connection. URL: https://marine-service-noord.com/en/products/alternative-fuelsand-technologies/lng/cryogenic-bunker-connection/.
- [34] Marine Traffic, 2023. Ship MSC IRINA (Container Ship) Registered in Liberia - Vessel details, Current position and Voyage information - IMO 9929429, MMSI 636022601, Call Sign 5LJP3 | AIS Marine Traffic. URL: https://www.marinetraffic.com/en/ais/details/ships/ shipid:7507138/mmsi:636022601/imo:9929429/vessel:MSCIRINA.
- [35] Mazurek, J., Perzina, R., Ramík, J., Bartl, D., 2021. A Numerical Comparison of the Sensitivity of the Geometric Mean Method, Eigenvalue Method, and Best–Worst Method. Mathematics 9, 554. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7390/9/5/554, doi:10.3390/math9050554.
- [36] Mærsk Mc-Kinney Møller Center for Zero Carbon Shipping, 2022. We show the world it is possible.
- [37] Namboothiri, N.V., Soman, A., 2018. Consequence assessment of anhydrous ammonia release using CFD-probit analysis. Process Safety Progress 37, 525–534. URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/abs/10.1002/prs.11970, doi:10.1002/prs.11970. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/prs.11970.
- [38] Olmer, N., Comer, B., Roy, B., Mao, X., Rutherford, D., Greenhouse gas emissions from global shipping, 2013–2015, 38.
- [39] P. Hofste, 2023. Design of an Ammonia Bunker Installation for Seagoing Vessels - A Best Worst Method approach.
- [40] Perčić, M., Vladimir, N., Jovanović, I., Koričan, M., 2022. Application of fuel cells with zero-carbon fuels in short-sea shipping. Applied Energy 309, 118463. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0306261921016883, doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.118463.
- [41] Port of Rotterdam, 2023a. Bunkering in Rotterdam. URL: https:// www.portofrotterdam.com/en/sea-shipping/bunkering-in-rotterdam.
- [42] Port of Rotterdam, 2023b. Maritime Chart Server. URL: https:// gis.portofrotterdam.com/apps/mcs_nap/.
- [43] Pumps, M., 2020. Mechanical Seal vs Sealless Centrifugal Pumps | Magnetic Drive. URL: https://magnatexpumps.com/blog/mechanicalseal-vs-sealless-centrifugal-pumps/.
- [44] Rezaei, J., 2015. Best-worst multi-criteria decision-making method. Omega 53, 49–57. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0305048314001480, doi:10.1016/j.omega.2014.11.009.
- [45] Rezaei, J., 2016. Best-worst multi-criteria decision-making method: Some properties and a linear model. Omega 64, 126– 130. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0305048315002479, doi:10.1016/j.omega.2015.12.001.
- [46] RotterdamTransPORT, 2023. Maps Port of Rotterdam Active in Rotterdam Port. URL: https://rotterdamtransport.com/maps-port-ofrotterdam/.

- [47] Ship&Offshore, 2021. Ammonia fuel cells for deep-sea shipping. FUTURE FUELS & ENERGY SOLUTIONS URL: https://www.shipandoffshore.net/fileadmin/pdf_Fachartikel/ Green/shipFCspo6.pdf.
- [48] Singh, M., Pant, M., 2022. A review of selected weighing methods in MCDM with a case study. International Journal of Systems Assurance Engineering and Management doi:10.1007/s13198-020-01033-3.
- [49] Stefan Rath, Marian Krol, 2013. Comparative Risk Assessment for Different LNG-Storage Tank Concepts. Number 31 in Chemical engineering transactions, AIDIC, Milano. Meeting Name: International Symposium on Loss Prevention and Safety Promotion in the Process Industries.
- [50] Sveistrup, D.M., Krantz, R., Mouftier, L., Christiansen, E.S., 2021. Ammonia as a shipping fuel , 6.
- [51] va-Q-tec, 2023. Vacuum insulation panels as a sustainable super insulating material. URL: https://va-q-tec.com/en/news-en/vacuuminsulation-panels-as-a-sustainable-super-insulating-material/.
- [52] Venkat Pattabathula, Raghava Nayak, Don Timbres, 2023. Ammonia Storage Tanks – AmmoniaKnowHow. URL: https://ammoniaknowhow. com/ammonia-storage-tanks/.
- [53] Wendt, J.O., Sternling, C., 1974. Effect of Ammonia in Gaseous Fuels On Nitrogen Oxide Emissions. Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association 24, 1055–1058. URL: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00022470.1974.10470013, doi:10.1080/00022470.1974.10470013.
- [54] Yadav, A., Jeong, B., 2022. Safety evaluation of using ammonia as marine fuel by analysing gas dispersion in a ship engine room using CFD. Journal of International Maritime Safety, Environmental Affairs, and Shipping 6, 99–116. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/25725084.2022.2083295, doi:10.1080/25725084.2022.2083295. publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/25725084.2022.2083295.



Survey

Dear sir/madam,

First of all, thank you for taking the time to fill out this survey, it is crucial to my research. I will firstly introduce the topic, followed by instructions on filling out the survey.

Topic:

I am doing research into designing a bunker installation for ammonia, specifically for seaports. I am interested in validating my decision model for The Port of Rotterdam. The model, the Best Worst Method, is a Multi Criteria Decision Model which requires input on the design criteria from agents associated with the party the design is relevant for.

In this case, I want to know what ranking certain stakeholders (you) associated with The Port of Rotterdam would allocate to my selected design criteria. This will, in turn, generate a design configuration of components that would make up an ammonia bunker installation. These criteria, and their composition, can be found on the next page.

Following the instructions on page three, I would like to ask you to rank these criteria on importance. Starting with selecting the best (most important) criterion, followed by the worst (the least important) criterion. Subsequently, a pairwise ranking of the importance of the best criteria to others and others to the worst criteria needs to be filled out. Finally, I would like to leave some room for suggesting criteria that I might have missed, with a short motivation (optional).

The survey will not take more than five minutes. Once again many thanks for your time.

Best regards,

Pim Hofste

Student at Delft University of Technology Master Mechanical Engineering, track: Multi-Machine Engineering

The design criteria are:

Cost

The cost of the installation is a considered design criteria. This does cost does not only describe the initial cost of acquisition, but also takes into account the maintenance cost and the operational cost of the installation.

- Capital Expenditure (CapEx)
- Operational Expenditure (OpEx)

Energy Efficiency

The energy efficiency of the system concerns how efficient a design option can potentially be in terms of its energy usage. Certain design options will necessitate a higher energy usage than others, certain environments or means will be less efficient with the energy that is put into the system. Therefore it is important to be as effective as possible, while also minimizing energy usage from a sustainability point of view.

- Running cooling systems
- Running pumps
- Other energy usage

Safety

The safety design criteria concerns all safety parameters that a design offers. This involves systems that might be of influence on the risk areas, such as possible mitigation systems/strategies. Furthermore, where possible, the inherent safety of a design option and the possible threat it might pose to the environment will be taken into account.

- Risk area
- Inherent design safety
- Environmental Safety

Reliability

The reliability design criteria concerns the degree of resistance to calamities the design has. Offshore bunker installations, for example, are more susceptible to weather influences than onshore installations. Furthermore, some options can be more resistant to downtime, due to less complex repairs for instance. This will also be taken into account.

- Downtime prevention
- Vulnerability to environmental hazards

Bunker Time

The final design criteria concerns the estimated bunker time of an installation. This design criteria is the cumulative indicator for the amount of time a ship would require to manoeuvre to the installation and into place, the complexity of the pre- and post-checks to enable safe operation, and the possible flow rate that would dictate the time of the actual filling of the ship-side storage tank.

- Pre-check and Post-check
- Manoeuvring
- Flow rate

Survey:

Out of the design criteria:

- Cost
- Energy Efficiency
- Safety
- Reliability
- Bunker Time

Considering the goal (designing a bunker installation for ammonia for seaports), select the **MOST IMPORTANT** criterion from the five criteria (first line), and insert it in the most left-hand side (green) cell of the second row.

Now use a number between 1 and 9 to show the preference of your **MOST IMPORTANT** criterion over the other criteria. A value of 9 will indicate extreme importance of the most important criterion over another criterion, a value of 1 indicates equal importance. For instance, a criterion compared with itself will have a value of 1. Insert these values in the corresponding grey cells.

The MOST	Cost	Energy	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time
IMPORTANT		Efficiency			
criterion					

Considering the goal (designing a bunker installation for ammonia for seaports), select the **LEAST IMPORTANT** criterion from the five criteria (first column), and insert it in the top (green) cell of the second column.

Now use a number between 1 and 9 to show the preference of the criteria (first column) over the **LEAST IMPORTANT** criterion. A value of 9 will indicate extreme importance of a criterion over the least important criterion, a value of 1 indicates equal importance. For instance, a criterion compared with itself will have a value of 1. Insert these values in the corresponding grey cells.

The LEAST IMPORTANT criterion	
Cost	
Energy Efficiency	
Safety	
Reliability	
Bunker Time	

Other criteria that are of importance to you:

\bigcirc

Results Survey & Sensitivity Analysis

90



GATE TERMINAL

thers to worst		Cost	Energy Efficiency 7	Safety 2	Reliability 6	Bunker Time	H
	Lower all Criteria	Consistent (V/N)	Change?	Increase all Criteria	Consistent (V/N)	Change?	
	Cost	Υ		Cost	Y	0	
	Energy Efficiency	۲		Energy Efficiency	۲		
	Safety	٢		Safety	٢		
	Reliability	۲		Reliability	۲		
	Bunker Time			Bunker Time			
CE TERIMNAL							Г
thers to worst		Cost	Energy Efficiency 3	Safety 2	Reliability 5	Bunker Time	m
	Lower all Criteria			Increase all Criteria			

lers to worst		Cost	Energy Efficiency 3	Safety 2	Reliability 5	Bunker Time 3
	Lower all Criteria		(Increase all Criteria		ر ب ب
	Cost		Crianger	Cost		Clianger
	Energy Efficiency	٨		Energy Efficiency	٨	
	Safety	×	Now Scrubber	Safety	٢	
	Reliability			Reliability		
	Bunker Time	٢		Bunker Time	Z	Now Scrubber

OCI NV

	Cost	Energy Efficiency 1	Safety 5	Reliability 9	Bunker Time 5
ö	onsistent (Y/N)	Change?	Increase all Criteria	Consistent (Y/N)	Change?
			Cost		
≻			Energy Efficiency	٨	
≻			Safety	٨	
≻			Reliability	٢	
≻			Bunker Time	٨	

Figure C.2: Results of the sensitivity analysis for the Best To Others vectors of the stakeholders. The red line indicates the least important criterion of the stakeholder

Results BW Analysis

Alternative Definition	Gate Terminal					
	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time	Results
	Score V[i][1]	Score V[i][2]	Score V[i][3]	Score V[i][4]	Score V[i][5]	V[i]
Bunker Location	0 18182	0.09091	0 40909	0 18182	0.01515	0 87879
Burner Location	0.10102	0.05051	0.40505	0.10102	0.01515	0.77273
	0.12121	0.00001	0.27275	0.27273	0.02020	0.77273
	0.00001	0.03030	0.13030	0.05051	0.03030	0.34848
Storing	0.18182	0.04545	0.06818	0.09091	0.00000	0.38636
	0.09091	0.02273	0.13636	0.18182	0.00000	0.43182
	0.15152	0.04545	0.27273	0.09091	0.00000	0.56061
	0.06061	0.02273	0.20455	0.18182	0.00000	0.46970
	0.12121	0.09091	0.40909	0.27273	0.00000	0.89394
	0.03030	0.06818	0.34091	0.27273	0.00000	0.71212
Actuating	0 12121	0.01515	0.06818	0 04545	0 04545	0 29545
, locade ing	0.03030	0.03030	0 13636	0.09091	0.03409	0 32197
	0 18182	0.04545	0 20455	0 13636	0.04545	0.61364
	0.09091	0.07576	0 27273	0 18182	0.03409	0.65530
	0.05051	0.06061	0.2/2/3	0.10102	0.03405	0.00000
	0.15152	0.00001	0.34091	0.22727	0.02273	0.80303
	0.00001	0.09091	0.40909	0.27273	0.01130	0.84470
Connecting (hose)	0.18182	0.09091	0.40909	0.27273	0.04545	1.00000
	0.09091	0.04545	0.20455	0.13636	0.02273	0.50000
Connecting (coupling)	0 18182	0.09091	0 13636	0 00091	0 00000	0 50000
connecting (coupling)	0.10102	0.00001	0.13030	0.05051	0.00000	0.30000
	0.12121	0.09091	0.27273	0.27273	0.00000	0.75756
	0.00001	0.04545	0.40909	0.10102	0.00000	0.09097
Conducting	0.18182	0.09091	0.40909	0.27273	0.04545	1.00000
	0.12121	0.06061	0.27273	0.18182	0.03030	0.66667
	0.06061	0.03030	0.13636	0.09091	0.01515	0.33333
Substance Slip Prevention	0.12121	0.09091	0.27273	0.13636	0.04545	0.66667
·	0.18182	0.04545	0.13636	0.27273	0.04545	0.68182
	0.06061	0.04545	0.40909	0.27273	0.04545	0.83333
Toxic Cloud Mitigation	0 10102	0.00001	0 00102	0 27272	0 00000	0 62727
Toxic cloud witigation	0.10102	0.03031	0.08182	0.27273	0.00000	0.02727
	0.14545	0.07273	0.32727	0.21818	0.00000	0.70304
	0.10909	0.05050	0.10304	0.03433	0.00000	0.30304
	0.07273	0.05455	0.24545	0.10909	0.00000	0.48182
	0.03636	0.01818	0.40909	0.10304	0.00000	0.62727
Additional Spill Containment	0.18182	0.00000	0.13636	0.09091	0.00000	0.40909
·····	0.12121	0.00000	0.27273	0.18182	0.00000	0.57576
	0.06061	0.00000	0.40909	0.27273	0.00000	0.74242
	0.00001	0.00000	0110505	0127270	0.00000	0.7 12 12
BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	or 0.18182	0.09091	0.40909	0.27273	0.04545	1.00000
	0.12121	0.03030	0.27273	0.18182	0.01515	0.62121
	0.06061	0.06061	0.13636	0.09091	0.03030	0.37879
Insulation	0.18182	0.04545	0.20455	0.13636	0.02273	0.59091
	0.09091	0.09091	0.40909	0.27273	0.04545	0,90909
	0.00001	0.00001	00505	0.27275	2.0.10.10	1.50505
Purging of Fuel Lines	0.18182	0.09091	0.20455	0.00000	0.00000	0.47727
	0.09091	0.04545	0.40909	0.00000	0.00000	0.54545

Figure D.1: Results of the BW analysis for the Gate Terminal

Alternative Definition	ACE Termina	Í.				
	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time	Results
	Score V[i][1]	Score V[i][2]	Score V[i][3]	Score V[i][4]	Score V[i][5]	V[i]
Bunker Location	0.22759	0.15172	0.40000	0.04598	0.05057	0.87586
	0.15172	0.10115	0.26667	0.06897	0.15172	0.74023
	0.07586	0.05057	0.13333	0.02299	0.10115	0.38391
Storing	0.22759	0.07586	0.06667	0.02299	0.00000	0.39310
	0.11379	0.03793	0.13333	0.04598	0.00000	0.33103
	0.18966	0.07586	0.26667	0.02299	0.00000	0.55517
	0.07586	0.03793	0.20000	0.04598	0.00000	0.35977
	0.15172	0.15172	0.40000	0.06897	0.00000	0.77241
	0.03793	0.11379	0.33333	0.06897	0.00000	0.55402
Actuating	0.15172	0.02529	0.06667	0.01149	0.15172	0.40690
	0.03793	0.05057	0.13333	0.02299	0.11379	0.35862
	0.22759	0.07586	0.20000	0.03448	0.15172	0.68966
	0.11379	0.12644	0.26667	0.04598	0.11379	0.66667
	0.18966	0.10115	0.33333	0.05747	0.07586	0.75747
	0.07586	0.15172	0.40000	0.06897	0.03793	0.73448
Connecting (hose)	0.22759	0.15172	0.40000	0.06897	0.15172	1.00000
	0.11379	0.07586	0.20000	0.03448	0.07586	0.50000
Connecting (coupling)	0.22759	0.15172	0.13333	0.02299	0.00000	0.53563
	0.15172	0.15172	0.26667	0.06897	0.00000	0.63908
	0.07586	0.07586	0.40000	0.04598	0.00000	0.59770
Conducting	0.22759	0.15172	0.40000	0.06897	0.15172	1.00000
	0.15172	0.10115	0.26667	0.04598	0.10115	0.66667
	0.07586	0.05057	0.13333	0.02299	0.05057	0.33333
Substance Slip Prevention	0.15172	0.15172	0.26667	0.03448	0.15172	0.75632
	0.22759	0.07586	0.13333	0.06897	0.15172	0.65747
	0.07586	0.07586	0.40000	0.06897	0.15172	0.77241
Toxic Cloud Mitigation	0.22759	0.15172	0.08000	0.06897	0.00000	0.52828
	0.18207	0.12138	0.32000	0.05517	0.00000	0.67862
	0.13655	0.06069	0.16000	0.01379	0.00000	0.37103
	0.09103	0.09103	0.24000	0.02759	0.00000	0.44966
	0.04552	0.03034	0.40000	0.04138	0.00000	0.51724
Additional Spill Containment	0.22759	0.00000	0.13333	0.02299	0.00000	0.38391
	0.15172	0.00000	0.26667	0.04598	0.00000	0.46437
	0.07586	0.00000	0.40000	0.06897	0.00000	0.54483
BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	0.22759	0.15172	0.40000	0.06897	0.15172	1.00000
	0.15172	0.05057	0.26667	0.04598	0.05057	0.56552
	0.07586	0.10115	0.13333	0.02299	0.10115	0.43448
Insulation	0.22759	0.07586	0.20000	0.03448	0.07586	0.61379
	0.11379	0.15172	0.40000	0.06897	0.15172	0.88621
Purging of Fuel Lines	0.22759	0.15172	0.20000	0.00000	0.00000	0.57931
	0.11379	0.07586	0.40000	0.00000	0.00000	0.58966

Figure D.2: Results of the BW analysis for the ACE Terminal

Alternative Definition	OCI NV					
	Cost	Energy Efficiency	Safety	Reliability	Bunker Time	Results
	Score V[i][1]	Score V[i][2]	Score V[i][3]	Score V[i][4]	Score V[i][5]	V[i]
Bunker Location	0.05202	0.14121	0.58712	0.09414	0.02615	0.90063
	0.03468	0.09414	0.39141	0.14121	0.07845	0.73988
	0.01734	0.04707	0.19571	0.04707	0.05230	0.35948
Storing	0.05202	0.07060	0.09785	0.04707	0.00000	0.26755
	0.02601	0.03530	0.19571	0.09414	0.00000	0.35116
	0.04335	0.07060	0.39141	0.04707	0.00000	0.55244
	0.01734	0.03530	0.29356	0.09414	0.00000	0.44034
	0.03468	0.14121	0.58712	0.14121	0.00000	0.90421
	0.00867	0.10590	0.48927	0.14121	0.00000	0.74505
Actuating	0.03468	0.02353	0.09785	0.02353	0.07845	0.25805
	0.00867	0.04707	0.19571	0.04707	0.05884	0.35735
	0.05202	0.07060	0.29356	0.07060	0.07845	0.56524
	0.02601	0.11767	0.39141	0.09414	0.05884	0.68807
	0.04335	0.09414	0.48927	0.11767	0.03922	0.78365
	0.01734	0.14121	0.58712	0.14121	0.01961	0.90648
Connecting (hose)	0.05202	0.14121	0.58712	0.14121	0.07845	1.00000
	0.02601	0.07060	0.29356	0.07060	0.03922	0.50000
Connecting (coupling)	0.05202	0.14121	0.19571	0.04707	0.00000	0.43600
	0.03468	0.14121	0.39141	0.14121	0.00000	0.70851
	0.01734	0.07060	0.58712	0.09414	0.00000	0.76920
Conducting	0.05202	0.14121	0.58712	0.14121	0.07845	1.00000
	0.03468	0.09414	0.39141	0.09414	0.05230	0.66667
	0.01734	0.04707	0.19571	0.04707	0.02615	0.33333
Substance Slip Prevention	0.03468	0.14121	0.39141	0.07060	0.07845	0.71635
	0.05202	0.07060	0.19571	0.14121	0.07845	0.53799
	0.01734	0.07060	0.58712	0.14121	0.07845	0.89472
Toxic Cloud Mitigation	0.05202	0.14121	0.11742	0.14121	0.00000	0.45186
	0.04162	0.11296	0.46969	0.11296	0.00000	0.73724
	0.03121	0.05648	0.23485	0.02824	0.00000	0.35078
	0.02081	0.08472	0.35227	0.05648	0.00000	0.51429
	0.01040	0.02824	0.58712	0.08472	0.00000	0.71049
Additional Spill Containment	0.05202	0.00000	0.19571	0.04707	0.00000	0.29480
	0.03468	0.00000	0.39141	0.09414	0.00000	0.52023
	0.01734	0.00000	0.58712	0.14121	0.00000	0.74566
BOG Vapor Pressure Equalisation	0.05202	0.14121	0.58712	0.14121	0.07845	1.00000
	0.03468	0.04707	0.39141	0.09414	0.02615	0.59345
	0.01734	0.09414	0.19571	0.04707	0.05230	0.40655
Insulation	0.05202	0.07060	0.29356	0.07060	0.03922	0.52601
	0.02601	0.14121	0.58712	0.14121	0.07845	0.97399
Purging of Fuel Lines	0.05202	0.14121	0.29356	0.00000	0.00000	0.48679
	0.02601	0.07060	0.58712	0.00000	0.00000	0.68373

Figure D.3: Results of the BW analysis for OCI NV

Bibliography

- [1] Naya Olmer et al. "Greenhouse gas emissions from global shipping, 2013–2015". en. In: (), p. 38.
- [2] Global Maritime Forum, Maersk Mc-Kinney Moller Center, and Maritime Decarbonisation. The shipping industry's fuel choices on the path to net zero. 2023. URL: https://www.globalmaritimeforum. org/content/2023/04/the-shipping-industrys-fuel-choices-on-the-pathto-net-zero final.pdf (visited on 06/02/2023).
- [3] IMO. IMO's work to cut GHG emissions from ships. 2022. URL: https://www.imo.org/ en/MediaCentre/HotTopics/Pages/Cutting-GHG-emissions.aspx (visited on 10/05/2022).
- [4] Multiple Presentors. IMO Symposium on alternative low- and zero-carbon fuels for shipping. Oct. 2022. URL: https://www.imo.org/en/About/Events/Pages/IMO-Symposiumon-alternative-low--and-zero-carbon-fuels-for-shipping-2022.aspx (visited on 12/08/2022).
- [5] DNV-GL. Comparison of Alternative Marine Fuels. SEA\LNG Ltd. Norway: Environment Advisory, July 2019. URL: https://safety4sea.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/ SEA-LNG-DNV-GL-Comparison-of-Alternative-Marine-Fuels-2019_09.pdf (visited on 12/08/2022).
- [6] Fabio Burel, Rodolfo Taccani, and Nicola Zuliani. "Improving sustainability of maritime transport through utilization of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) for propulsion". en. In: *Energy* 57 (Aug. 2013), pp. 412–420. ISSN: 03605442. DOI: 10.1016/j.energy.2013.05.002. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360544213003861 (visited on 06/09/2022).
- [7] IMO. Fourth Greenhouse Gas Study 2020. 2020. URL: https://www.imo.org/en/ ourwork/Environment/Pages/Fourth-IMO-Greenhouse-Gas-Study-2020.aspx (visited on 06/29/2023).
- [8] Dorthe Marie Sveistrup et al. "Ammonia as a shipping fuel". en. In: (Feb. 2021), p. 6.
- [9] Ahmed Afif et al. "Ammonia-fed fuel cells: a comprehensive review". en. In: Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 60 (July 2016), pp. 822–835. ISSN: 13640321. DOI: 10.1016/ j.rser.2016.01.120. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S1364032116001611 (visited on 06/09/2022).
- [10] Selma Atilhan et al. "Green hydrogen as an alternative fuel for the shipping industry". en. In: Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering 31 (Mar. 2021), p. 100668. ISSN: 2211-3398. DOI: 10. 1016/j.coche.2020.100668. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221133982030071x (visited on 05/11/2022).
- [11] Ship&Offshore. "Ammonia fuel cells for deep-sea shipping". In: FUTURE FUELS & ENERGY SOLUTIONS (2021). URL: https://www.shipandoffshore.net/fileadmin/pdf_ Fachartikel/Green/shipFCspo6.pdf (visited on 12/08/2022).
- [12] J. O.L. Wendt and C.V. Sternling. "Effect of Ammonia in Gaseous Fuels On Nitrogen Oxide Emissions". en. In: *Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association* 24.11 (Nov. 1974), pp. 1055– 1058. ISSN: 0002-2470. DOI: 10.1080/00022470.1974.10470013. URL: http:// www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00022470.1974.10470013 (visited on 06/23/2022).
- [13] Jasmina Ovcina Mandra. DNV: Hydrogen likely to have limited uptake in deep-sea shipping. en-US. Sept. 2022. URL: https://www.offshore-energy.biz/dnv-hydrogen-likelyto-have-limited-uptake-in-deep-sea-shipping/ (visited on 06/02/2023).

- [14] Mærsk Mc-Kinney Møller Center for Zero Carbon Shipping. *We show the world it is possible*. en. Apr. 2022.
- [15] Maja Perčić et al. "Application of fuel cells with zero-carbon fuels in short-sea shipping". en. In: Applied Energy 309 (Mar. 2022), p. 118463. ISSN: 0306-2619. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy. 2021.118463. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ s0306261921016883 (visited on 06/27/2023).
- [16] Michail Cheliotis et al. "Review on the Safe Use of Ammonia Fuel Cells in the Maritime Industry". en. In: *Energies* 14.11 (Jan. 2021). Number: 11 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, p. 3023. ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en14113023. URL: https://www. mdpi.com/1996-1073/14/11/3023 (visited on 06/27/2023).
- [17] Abhinav Yadav and Byongug Jeong. "Safety evaluation of using ammonia as marine fuel by analysing gas dispersion in a ship engine room using CFD". In: *Journal of International Maritime Safety, Environmental Affairs, and Shipping* 6.2-3 (July 2022). Publisher: Taylor & Francis_eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/25725084.2022.2083295, pp. 99–116. ISSN: null. DOI: 10. 1080/25725084.2022.2083295. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/25725084.2022. 2083295 (visited on 06/27/2023).
- [18] Phan Anh Duong et al. "Safety Assessment of the Ammonia Bunkering Process in the Maritime Sector: A Review". en. In: *Energies* 16.10 (Jan. 2023). Number: 10 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, p. 4019. ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en16104019. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/16/10/4019 (visited on 06/27/2023).
- [19] Programme international sur la sécurité des substances chimiques, ed. Ammonia health and safety guide. eng. Health and safety guide 37. Geneva: World health organization, 1990. ISBN: 978-92-4-151037-0.
- [20] Engineering Toolbox. The Engineering ToolBox. 2023. URL: https://www.engineeringtoolbox. com/ (visited on 02/16/2023).
- [21] P C Hofste. "Bunkering of Future fuels". en. In: (May 2022), p. 27.
- [22] H V Schotman. "Ammonia bunkering and storage for the maritime industry during a global ammonia transition". en. In: (May 2023).
- [23] Port of Vancouver. *Bunkering*. en-US. July 2015. URL: https://www.portvancouver.com/about-us/faq/bunkering/ (visited on 11/01/2022).
- [24] BMT. Ammonia (anhydrous) Cargo Handbook the world's largest cargo transport guidelines website. URL: https://cargohandbook.com/Ammonia_(anhydrous) #Description (visited on 10/31/2022).
- [25] Centers for Disease Control. Ammonia Solution, Ammonia, Anhydrous: Lung Damaging Agent | NIOSH | CDC. en-us. July 2021. URL: https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/ershdb/ emergencyresponsecard_29750013.html (visited on 10/31/2022).
- [26] Raimonds Aronietis et al. "Forecasting port-level demand for LNG as a ship fuel: the case of the port of Antwerp". en. In: Journal of Shipping and Trade 1.1 (Dec. 2016), p. 2. ISSN: 2364-4575. DOI: 10.1186/s41072-016-0007-1. URL: http://jshippingandtrade. springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s41072-016-0007-1 (visited on 10/26/2022).
- [27] Department Of Agriculture. Physical & Chemical Properties of Anhydrous Ammonia | Minnesota Department of Agriculture. en. Last Modified: Wed, 12/08/2021 - 09:43. URL: https://www. mda.state.mn.us/physical-chemical-properties-anhydrous-ammonia (visited on 11/17/2022).
- [28] Natural Library of Medicine. Ammonia. en. 2008. URL: https://webwiser.nlm.nih.gov/ substance?substanceId=315&identifier=Ammonia&identifierType=name&menuItemId= 184&catId=242 (visited on 10/31/2022).
- [29] Henri van der Weide. "External safety study bunkering of alternative marine fuel for seagoing vessels". In: (Apr. 2021). URL: https://www.portofamsterdam.com/sites/default/ files/2021-11/DNV%20POA%20%20Final%20Report_External%20safety%20study% 20-%20bunkering%20of%20alternative%20marine%20fuels%20for%20seagoing% 20vessels_Rev0_2021-04-19.pdf (visited on 05/16/2022).

- [30] Rijsinstituur voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu. Handleiding Risicoberekeningen Bevi. Jan. 2021. URL: https://www.rivm.nl/sites/default/files/2021-01/Handleiding% 20Risicoberekeningen%20Bevi%20v4.3_120121.pdf (visited on 06/27/2022).
- [31] European Maritime Safety Agency. Potential of Ammonia as Fuel in Shipping. Tech. rep. Oct. 2022. URL: https://emsa.europa.eu/newsroom/latest-news/item/4833potential-of-ammonia-as-fuel-in-shipping.html.
- [32] Faïg Abbasov. "Decarbonising European Shipping". en. In: (), p. 80.
- [33] Raunek. A Guide To Types of Ships. en-US. Aug. 2021. URL: https://www.marineinsight. com/guidelines/a-guide-to-types-of-ships/ (visited on 11/15/2022).
- [34] Container News. World's largest cargo ships in 2023. en-US. Section: News. Jan. 2023. URL: https://container-news.com/worlds-largest-cargo-ships-in-2023/ (visited on 05/26/2023).
- [35] Marine Traffic. Ship MSC IRINA (Container Ship) Registered in Liberia Vessel details, Current position and Voyage information IMO 9929429, MMSI 636022601, Call Sign 5LJP3 | AIS Marine Traffic. en. 2023. URL: https://www.marinetraffic.com/en/ais/details/ships/shipid:7507138/mmsi:636022601/imo:9929429/vessel:MSC%20IRINA (visited on 05/26/2023).
- [36] Liu Ming. "Ammonia bunkering simulation of hypothetical release scenarios in Singapore". en. In: (Aug. 2021), p. 12.
- [37] Marcel Neef. Discussion about LNG facilities in the Port of Rotterdam. Oct. 2022.
- [38] Preuter, P. Ammonia Stress Corrosion Cracking. en. Inspectioneering Journal. 2022, pp. 45– 52. URL: https://inspectioneering.com/tag/ammonia+stress+corrosion+ cracking (visited on 01/09/2023).
- [39] Committee of Stainless Steel Producers et al. Stainless Steels in Ammonia Production. en. Tech. rep. American Iron and Steel Institute, Nov. 1978. URL: https://nickelinstitute. org/media/1817/stainlesssteelsinammoniaproduction_9013_.pdf (visited on 01/09/2023).
- [40] SSAB. ASTM A517 Grade F. en-us. 2022. URL: https://www.ssab.com/en-us/brandsand-products/commercial-steel/pressure-vessel/astm-a517/grade-f (visited on 01/09/2023).
- [41] D. C. DEEGAN and B. E. WILDE. "Stress Corrosion Cracking Behavior of ASTM A517 Grade F Steel in Liquid Ammonia Environments". In: *Corrosion* 29.8 (Jan. 2013), pp. 310–315. ISSN: 0010-9312. DOI: 10.5006/0010-9312-29.8.310. URL: https://doi.org/10.5006/ 0010-9312-29.8.310 (visited on 01/09/2023).
- [42] Department Of Healt, NY. The Facts About Ammonia. Mar. 2011. URL: https://www. health.ny.gov/environmental/emergency/chemical_terrorism/ammonia_ general.htm (visited on 11/16/2022).
- [43] PubChem. Ammonia. en. 2022. URL: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/ 222 (visited on 11/16/2022).
- [44] Rong Lan and Shanwen Tao. "Ammonia as a Suitable Fuel for Fuel Cells". In: Frontiers in Energy Research 2 (2014). ISSN: 2296-598X. URL: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/ 10.3389/fenrg.2014.00035 (visited on 10/31/2022).
- [45] Theresia Richter and Rainer Niewa. "Chemistry of Ammonothermal Synthesis". en. In: Inorganics 2.1 (Feb. 2014), pp. 29–78. ISSN: 2304-6740. DOI: 10.3390/inorganics2010029. URL: http://www.mdpi.com/2304-6740/2/1/29 (visited on 11/01/2022).
- [46] Mustafa Serhat Ekinci and Abdurrahman Akman. "The effect of storage temperature on threat zone caused by an ammonia release from a storage tank". en. In: *Hittite Journal of Science* and Engineering (May 2022). ISSN: 2148-4171. DOI: 10.17350/HJSE19030000263. URL: https://dergipark.org.tr/en/doi/10.17350/HJSE19030000263 (visited on 10/31/2022).

- [47] Jeffrey Ralph Bartels. "A feasibility study of implementing an Ammonia Economy". en. Pages: 2807317. Master of Science. Ames: Iowa State University, Digital Repository, 2008. DOI: 10. 31274/etd-180810-1374. URL: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/11132/ (visited on 02/14/2023).
- [48] Yogesh M. Kurle, Sujing Wang, and Qiang Xu. "Dynamic simulation of LNG loading, BOG generation, and BOG recovery at LNG exporting terminals". en. In: Computers & Chemical Engineering 97 (Feb. 2017), pp. 47–58. ISSN: 00981354. DOI: 10.1016/j.compchemeng.2016.11. 006. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0098135416303404 (visited on 11/17/2022).
- [49] Yude Shao, Yoonhyeok Lee, and Hokeun Kang. "Dynamic Optimization of Boil-Off Gas Generation for Different Time Limits in Liquid Natural Gas Bunkering". In: *Energies* 12 (Mar. 2019), p. 1130. DOI: 10.3390/en12061130.
- [50] Marine Insight. What is Boiling Liquid Expanding Vapour Explosion (BLEVE) on Gas Carrier Ships? Aug. 2021. URL: https://www.marineinsight.com/tech/what-is-boilingliquid-expanding-vapour-explosion-bleve-on-gas-carrier-ships/ (visited on 11/17/2022).
- [51] Process Cooling. Why You Should Avoid Critical Flow In Ammonia Refrigeration Systems | Process Cooling. en. Aug. 2000. URL: https://www.process-cooling.com/articles/ 83832-why-you-should-avoid-critical-flow-in-ammonia-refrigerationsystems (visited on 01/10/2023).
- [52] Editorial Board Entrée. Critical Flow. English. Publication Title: Thermopedia. Begel House Inc., Mar. 2011. ISBN: 978-1-56700-456-4. DOI: 10.1615/AtoZ.c.critical_flow. URL: https://www.thermopedia.com/content/267/ (visited on 01/10/2023).
- [53] rsHydro. Soundspeed data for pipe materials and liquids, chemicals and water. 2023. URL: https://www.rshydro.co.uk/sound-speeds/ (visited on 01/10/2023).
- [54] DNV-GL. Step by Step LNG bunkering by DNV. en-US. Section: Videos. Sept. 2013. URL: https://safety4sea.com/step-by-step-lng-bunkering-by-dnv-2/ (visited on 01/13/2023).
- [55] Sayyoon Park et al. "A study on factors affecting the safety zone in ship-to-ship LNG bunkering". en. In: Ships and Offshore Structures 13.sup1 (Apr. 2018), pp. 312–321. ISSN: 1744-5302, 1754-212X. DOI: 10.1080/17445302.2018.1461055. URL: https://www. tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17445302.2018.1461055 (visited on 11/30/2022).
- [56] Mario Miana et al. "Calculation of Boil-Off Rate of Liquefied Natural Gas in Mark III tanks of ship carriers by numerical analysis". In: Applied Thermal Engineering 93 (Oct. 2015). DOI: 10. 1016/j.applthermaleng.2015.09.112.
- [57] Aruna Coimbatore Meenakshi Sundaram and Iftekhar Abubakar Karimi. "Evaluating the Existing Protocol for LNG Bunkering Operations". en. In: Computer Aided Chemical Engineering. Ed. by Sauro Pierucci et al. Vol. 48. 30 European Symposium on Computer Aided Process Engineering. Elsevier, Jan. 2020, pp. 559–564. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-823377-1.50094-X. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B978012823377150094X (visited on 01/12/2023).
- [58] ABS. LNG Bunkering Technical and Operational Advisory. English. 2021.
- [59] Stefan Rath and Marian Krol. Comparative Risk Assessment for Different LNG-Storage Tank Concepts. en. Chemical engineering transactions 31. Meeting Name: International Symposium on Loss Prevention and Safety Promotion in the Process Industries. Milano: AIDIC, 2013. ISBN: 978-88-95608-22-8.
- [60] Mechenical Engineer. LPG storage-spheres/bullets Petroleum refining engineering Eng-Tips. en. Jan. 2007. URL: https://www.eng-tips.com/viewthread.cfm?qid=176257 (visited on 01/26/2023).
- [61] Venkat Pattabathula, Raghava Nayak, and Don Timbres. Ammonia Storage Tanks Ammonia aKnowHow. 2023. URL: https://ammoniaknowhow.com/ammonia-storage-tanks/ (visited on 01/12/2023).
- [62] American Petroleum Institute. "API 620: Design and Construction of Large Welded Low Pressure Storage Tanks". en. In: 10th (Feb. 2002).
- [63] Young-myung Yang. "DEVELOPMENT OF THE WORLD'S LARGEST ABOVE-GROUND FULL CONTAINMENT LNG STORAGE TANK". en. In: ().
- [64] MCDERMOTT. QAFCO Ammonia Storage Tanks MDR. 2023. URL: https://www.mcdermott. com/What-We-Do/Project-Profiles/QAFCO-Ammonia-Storage-Tanks (visited on 01/19/2023).
- [65] Björn Munko. "The cutting edge of design". In: TGE Marine, Germany (Jan. 2020). URL: https: //www.tge-marine.com/wp-content/uploads/January2020.pdf (visited on 02/06/2023).
- [66] Gate Terminal. LNG Carrier Master's Marine Services Manual. Tech. rep. 2022. URL: https: //www.gateterminal.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/GT-COM-WEBSITE-MASTER-MARINE-SERVICE-MANUAL-version-December-2020.pdf (visited on 10/17/2022).
- [67] Dr G Feldle. "Vertical submersible pumps in the chemical and petrochemical industry". en. In: *TECHNICAL REPORT* (2022).
- [68] Lederle Hermetic. Product-information TCN TCAM E-Line. en. 2022.
- [69] Optimex. Canned Motor Pump Technology Principle, Sealless industrial pump manufacturing. en-US. 2023. URL: https://www.optimex-pumps.com/sealless-canned-motorpump-technology/canned-motor-principle/ (visited on 01/19/2023).
- [70] Hayes Pump, inc. Canned Motor vs. Magnetic Drive Pumps: Key Differences Hayes Pump. en. 2023. URL: https://blog.hayespump.com/blog/canned-motor-vs-magneticdrive (visited on 01/19/2023).
- [71] Magnatex Pumps. Mechanical Seal vs Sealless Centrifugal Pumps | Magnetic Drive. en-US. Dec. 2020. URL: https://magnatexpumps.com/blog/mechanical-seal-vs-seallesscentrifugal-pumps/ (visited on 01/19/2023).
- [72] Pumps & Systems. Magnetic Drive Pumps Versus Canned Motor Pumps. en. Aug. 2013. URL: https://www.pumpsandsystems.com/magnetic-drive-pumps-versus-cannedmotor-pumps (visited on 02/15/2023).
- [73] Marine Service Noord. Cryogenic bunker connection. 2023. URL: https://marine-servicenoord.com/en/products/alternative-fuels-and-technologies/lng/cryogenicbunker-connection/ (visited on 01/26/2023).
- [74] ECONNECT Energy. Jettyless Transfer The link that is no longer missing. en. 2023. URL: https://www.econnectenergy.com/solutions/jettyless-transfer (visited on 02/03/2023).
- [75] Ksenia, Zakariyya. Ammonia Bunkering Of Passenger Vessel Concept Quantitative Risk Assessment. Tech. rep. 2021-0205, Rev. 0. DNV, Apr. 2021. URL: https://grontskipsfartsprogram. no/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Ammonia-bunkering-of-passenger-vessel-Concept-quantitative-risk-assessment.pdf (visited on 01/20/2023).
- [76] Dong Seok Min et al. "Numerical modelling for effect of water curtain in mitigating toxic gas release". en. In: *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries* 63 (Jan. 2020), p. 103972. ISSN: 09504230. DOI: 10.1016/j.jlp.2019.103972. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950423019305807 (visited on 11/30/2022).
- [77] Chao Cheng, Wei Tan, and Liyan Liu. "Numerical simulation of water curtain application for ammonia release dispersion". en. In: *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries* 30 (July 2014), pp. 105–112. ISSN: 09504230. DOI: 10.1016/j.jlp.2014.05.003. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950423014000746 (visited on 11/30/2022).

- [78] Aurélia Dandrieux et al. "Effectiveness of water curtains to protect firemen in case of an accidental release of ammonia: comparison of the effectiveness for two different release rates of ammonia". en. In: Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries 14.5 (Sept. 2001), pp. 349–355. ISSN: 0950-4230. DOI: 10.1016/S0950-4230(01)00021-3. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0950423001000213 (visited on 04/11/2023).
- [79] New Jersey Department of Health. *Hazardous Substance Fact Sheet*. July 2011. URL: https: //www.nj.gov/health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/0103.pdf (visited on 02/06/2023).
- [80] M. Barzegar Gerdroodbary et al. "Mitigation of Ammonia Dispersion with Mesh Barrier under Various Atmospheric Stability Conditions". en. In: Asian Journal of Atmospheric Environment 10.3 (Sept. 2016), pp. 125–136. ISSN: 1976-6912, 2287-1160. DOI: 10.5572/ajae.2016. 10.3.125. URL: http://koreascience.or.kr/journal/view.jsp?kj=E1DGC9&py= 2016&vnc=v10n3&sp=125 (visited on 11/30/2022).
- [81] Nandu V. Namboothiri and Ar Soman. "Consequence assessment of anhydrous ammonia release using CFD-probit analysis". en. In: *Process Safety Progress* 37.4 (2018). _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wile pp. 525–534. ISSN: 1547-5913. DOI: 10.1002/prs.11970. URL: https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/prs.11970 (visited on 11/30/2022).
- [82] George Thomas and George Parks. "Potential Roles of Ammonia in a Hydrogen Economy". en. In: (2006).
- [83] va-Q-tec. Vacuum insulation panels as a sustainable super insulating material. 2023. URL: https://va-q-tec.com/en/news-en/vacuum-insulation-panels-as-asustainable-super-insulating-material/ (visited on 02/01/2023).
- [84] Demaco Holland. Vacuum Insulated Transfer Lines (VIP) Demaco Holland B.V. en-GB. URL: https://demaco-cryogenics.com/products/vacuum-insulated-transferlines/ (visited on 02/01/2023).
- [85] Concept Group. Is advanced vacuum insulation right for my application? | Insulon®. en-US. Section: Vacuum Insulation. Jan. 2021. URL: https://conceptgroupllc.com/isadvanced-vacuum-insulation-right-for-my-application/(visited on 02/01/2023).
- [86] Jason J. Curtis. "Vacuum-Insulated Pipe vs. Conventional Foam-Insulated Pipe". en. In: OnePetro, Apr. 2007. DOI: 10.4043/18701-MS. URL: https://onepetro.org/OTCONF/proceedingsabstract/070TC/All-070TC/36207 (visited on 02/01/2023).
- [87] Hans Kristian Haram. "Ammonia as a Marine Fuel Safety Handbook". en. In: (Mar. 2021).
- [88] Zamry Jamaludin et al. "Evaluation of sustainable scrubbing agents for ammonia recovery from anaerobic digestate". en. In: *Bioresource Technology* 270 (Dec. 2018), pp. 596–602. ISSN: 0960-8524. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2018.09.007. URL: https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0960852418312446 (visited on 03/14/2023).
- [89] EE4C02. Means & Morphological analysis Project session 6. Delft, Apr. 2022.
- [90] Meenu Singh and Millie Pant. "A review of selected weighing methods in MCDM with a case study". In: *International Journal of Systems Assurance Engineering and Management* (June 2022). DOI: 10.1007/s13198-020-01033-3.
- [91] Jafar Rezaei. "Best-worst multi-criteria decision-making method". en. In: Omega 53 (June 2015), pp. 49-57. ISSN: 0305-0483. DOI: 10.1016/j.omega.2014.11.009. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305048314001480 (visited on 03/02/2023).
- [92] Jafar Rezaei. "Best-worst multi-criteria decision-making method: Some properties and a linear model". en. In: Omega 64 (Oct. 2016), pp. 126–130. ISSN: 0305-0483. DOI: 10.1016/j. omega.2015.12.001. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0305048315002479 (visited on 04/14/2023).
- [93] ISCEA EMEA. CONSIDERATIONS FOR SUPPLY CHAIN NETWORK DESIGN. en. July 2018. URL: https://www.iscea-emea.com/post/considerations-for-supply-chainnetwork-design (visited on 06/07/2023).

- [94] Port of Rotterdam. Bunkering in Rotterdam. en. 2023. URL: https://www.portofrotterdam. com/en/sea-shipping/bunkering-in-rotterdam (visited on 06/01/2023).
- [95] C. A. Whitehurst. QUARTERLY PROGRESS REPORT NO. 4 Flow Losses in Flexible Hose. June 1996. URL: https://ntrs.nasa.gov/api/citations/19660024205/downloads/ 19660024205.pdf (visited on 04/05/2023).
- [96] AxFlow. Mag Drive & Canned Pump Advantages. 2023. URL: https://www.axflow.com/ en-gb/applications/technical-support/pump-technologies/pump-types/ mag-drive-pumps/mag-drive-canned-pump-advantages (visited on 02/14/2023).
- [97] Falcon Product Consultants. Everything That You Want to Know About Submersible Pumps - Falcon Project Consultants. en-US. Section: Uncategorized. Dec. 2020. URL: https:// falconprojectconsultants.com/everything-that-you-want-to-know-aboutsubmersible-pumps/ (visited on 04/04/2023).
- [98] ZB Pumps. Sealless Magnetic Drive Pumps vs Mechanical Seal Pumps. May 2019. URL: https: //www.ruhrpumpen.com/en/media-center/sealless-magnetic-drive-vsmechanical-sealed-pumps.html (visited on 04/04/2023).
- [99] Pumps & Systems. How Long Will a Mechanical Seal Last? en. Dec. 2011. URL: https:// www.pumpsandsystems.com/how-long-will-mechanical-seal-last (visited on 04/04/2023).
- [100] Klaus Union. High Flow Sealless Magnetic Drive Pump | SLM-NVO Klaus Union. 2023. URL: https://www.klausunion.com/mag-drive-pumps/pumps/slm-nvo.php (visited on 04/05/2023).
- [101] Leslie P Antalffy and Salih Aydogan. "TECHNICAL-ECONOMIC EVALUATION OF PUMPING SYSTEMS FOR LNG STORAGE TANKS WITH SIDE AND TOP ENTRY PIPING NOZZLES EVALUATION TECHNICO-ECONOMIQUE DES SYSTEMES DE POMPAGE SUR DES RESER-VOIRS DE GNL AVEC CONNECTION LATERALE OU PAR TOIT". en. In: ().
- [102] Corrosion Doctors. Types of Water. 2023. URL: https://corrosion-doctors.org/ Corrosion-by-Water/Types-of-water.htm (visited on 04/05/2023).
- [103] Clemens J. M. Lasance. The thermal conductivity of air. en-US. Feb. 2001. URL: https:// www.electronics-cooling.com/2001/02/the-thermal-conductivity-of-air/ (visited on 04/05/2023).
- [104] Thermtest. Thermal Conductivity of Salty Water Mixtures (Water + NaCl). en-CA. 2023. URL: https://thermtest.com/application/thermal-conductivity-of-saltywater-mixtures (visited on 04/05/2023).
- [105] Stena Power & LNG Solutions. Jettyless Floating Terminal. en. 2020. URL: https://stenapowerlng. com/services/jettyless-floating-terminal/ (visited on 03/21/2023).
- [106] NOAA's National Weather Service. *Beaufort Wind Scale*. EN-US. May 2022. URL: https: //www.wpc.ncep.noaa.gov/html/beaufort.shtml (visited on 03/21/2023).
- [107] María Soto-Herranz et al. "Evaluation of Different Capture Solutions for Ammonia Recovery in Suspended Gas Permeable Membrane Systems". en. In: *Membranes* 12.6 (June 2022). Number: 6 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, p. 572. ISSN: 2077-0375. DOI: 10.3390/membranes12060572. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2077-0375/12/6/572 (visited on 04/06/2023).
- [108] Process Cooling. Compare Real vs. Initial Cost of Cryogenic Piping | Process Cooling. en. 2001. URL: https://www.process-cooling.com/articles/84882-compare-real-vsinitial-cost-of-cryogenic-piping (visited on 04/06/2023).
- [109] Thermal Engineering. What is Thermal Conductivity of Polyisocyanurate Foam Definition. enus. May 2019. URL: https://www.thermal-engineering.org/what-is-thermalconductivity-of-polyisocyanurate-foam-definition/ (visited on 04/06/2023).
- [110] Xing Yu et al. "A Review of Research Status and Prospect of Vacuum Insulated Tubing Insulation System". en. In: E3S Web of Conferences 155 (2020). Ed. by Y. Guo, p. 01007. ISSN: 2267-1242. DOI: 10.1051/e3sconf/202015501007. URL: https://www.e3s-conferences. org/10.1051/e3sconf/202015501007 (visited on 04/06/2023).

- [111] Jord. LNG vacuum insulated piping. en-US. 2023. URL: https://www.jord.com.au/ expertise/lng-vacuum-insulated-piping/ (visited on 04/06/2023).
- [112] Trade India. Fractional Distillation Unit at Best Price in New Delhi, Delhi | Spec Engineers & Consultant Pvt. Ltd. 2023. URL: https://www.tradeindia.com/products/fractionaldistillation-unit-c2346804.html (visited on 05/09/2023).
- [113] indiamart. Acid Scrubber. en. URL: https://www.indiamart.com/proddetail/acidscrubber-21901198655.html (visited on 05/09/2023).
- [114] Jiří Mazurek et al. "A Numerical Comparison of the Sensitivity of the Geometric Mean Method, Eigenvalue Method, and Best-Worst Method". en. In: *Mathematics* 9.5 (Mar. 2021), p. 554. ISSN: 2227-7390. DOI: 10.3390/math9050554. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7390/9/5/554 (visited on 05/17/2023).
- [115] RotterdamTransPORT. *Maps Port of Rotterdam Active in Rotterdam Port*. en-US. 2023. URL: https://rotterdamtransport.com/maps-port-of-rotterdam/ (visited on 05/10/2023).
- [116] Port of Rotterdam. *Maritime Chart Server*. 2023. URL: https://gis.portofrotterdam. com/apps/mcs nap/ (visited on 05/10/2023).
- [117] Bulk Carrier Guide. Various bulk carrier sizes and employment guide. 2023. URL: https: //bulkcarrierguide.com/size-range.html (visited on 05/10/2023).
- [118] Marine Insight. Ship CMA CGM JACQUES SAADE (Container Ship) Registered in France -Vessel details, Current position and Voyage information - IMO 9839179, MMSI 228386700, Call Sign FLZE | AIS Marine Traffic. nl. 2023. URL: https://www.marinetraffic.com/en/ ais/details/ships/shipid:6151063/mmsi:228386700/imo:9839179/vessel: CMA%20CGM%20JACQUES%20SAADE (visited on 05/10/2023).
- [119] Terminal Recruiters. Vacature Bunker Surveyor, Barendrecht. nl. 2023. URL: http://terminalrecruiter nl/vacatures/bunker-surveyor/7343/ (visited on 07/06/2023).
- [120] Port of Rotterdam. Port performance of several ports. en. Oct. 2022. URL: https://www.portofrotterdam.com/en/logistics/port-performance (visited on 11/17/2022).
- [121] FreightWaves Staff. How many gallons of fuel does a container ship carry? en-US. Jan. 2020. URL: https://www.freightwaves.com/news/how-many-gallons-of-fuel-doesa-container-ship-carry (visited on 06/23/2023).